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Executive Summary 
Section 35 of Chapter 305 of the Acts of 2008, An Act to Promote Cost Containment, Transparency, and Efficiency in the Delivery 
of Quality Health Care, requires that the Division of Health Care Finance and Policy (DHCFP), in conjunction with the 
Division of Insurance (DOI), conduct a study of the reserves, endowments, and surpluses of health insurers and 
hospitals. Per statute, the goal of the study is to provide information to assist both DHCFP and DOI with the 
examination of “options and alternatives available to the Commonwealth to provide regulation, oversight and 
disposition of the reserves, endowments and surpluses of health insurers and hospitals.” 

Specifically, Section 35 required the study to consist of the following elements: 

(1) an analysis of the laws, regulations and other measures currently in effect in the commonwealth 
which regulate the amount, nature and disposition of surpluses held by or for the benefit of health 
insurers in excess of amounts reasonably anticipated to be required to pay claims, taking into account 
the level of such reserves and surpluses necessary to safeguard the solvency of health insurers against 
unanticipated events and other circumstances which may cause extraordinary medical losses;  

(2) an analysis of federal and state law, regulations and other measures currently in effect which regulate 
the amount, nature and disposition of surpluses and endowments held by or for the benefit of hospitals 
in excess of amounts reasonably anticipated to be required to perform and support services provided by 
the hospital and to guard against unanticipated events and other circumstances;  

(3) a review of recent fiscal practices and financial reporting by health insurers relative to reserves and 
surpluses and of hospital fiscal practices and financial reporting required by general or special law;  

(4) a comparison of the commonwealth’s current statutes and regulations with those of other states 
which the commission deems to be reasonably comparable to those of the commonwealth;  

(5) a review and assessment of model acts and regulations and any other information which the 
commission finds to be relevant to its inquiry; and  

(6) a review of the method by which health insurers and hospitals fund community benefit programs 
including, but not limited to, the manner by which funding is regulated by other states as to the 
appropriate amount, monitoring and direction of such funding. 

DHCFP selected the firm Hinckley, Allen & Tringale, working with its subcontractors DeWeese Consulting, Inc. (DCI) 
and Gorman Actuarial, LLC (GA), to perform analyses and prepare draft reports to assist the agency in responding to 
the requirements of Section 35. This initial report specifically examines the reserves, endowments, and surpluses of 
health insurers. The analysis and review of hospital reserves and surpluses will be issued in a separate report. 

Definition of Health Insurer Surplus  
Health insurers are entities which pool the risk of many individuals to provide coverage for medical expenses. A health 
insurer may be non-profit, for-profit, or a government-sponsored program. By estimating the risk of its pool and 
expected medical expenses, health insurers are able to develop monthly premium amounts to pay for health care as 
specified in insurance agreements.  

The term “surplus” for purposes of examining the  surplus and reserves of health insurers will be used to mean 
resources beyond those needed by the insurer to meet known and estimated liabilities (including estimates of medical 
expenses incurred but not yet reported or paid) as determined on a statutory accounting basis. Other common terms for 
surplus are “capital and surplus” and “net worth.”  
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Although the terms “surplus” and “reserves” are sometimes used interchangeably, a distinction is drawn for the purposes of 
this analysis.1 “Reserves” represent liabilities, and are funds set aside to cover expenses for which an insurer has accepted 
liability and which are currently due or will become due in the future. The largest reserve for health insurers is unpaid 
medical claims — expenses that have already been incurred by members but have not yet been reported and/or paid.  

Insurers generate surplus mainly through operating profits (charging premiums that exceed medical and administrative 
expenses) and from investment returns (some of which comes from investment income on surplus generated in prior 
years). For-profit health insurers can also increase surplus through the sale of stock or investments by others (e.g., parent 
companies) that do not create a corresponding liability. Insurers can also generate surplus through the issuance of 
surplus notes.2   

Why do insurers need surplus? 
Assessing insurer surplus levels requires understanding of the nature of a health plan’s role and structure. Insurance 
regulators have long recognized that there is no single “magic” level of surplus that is appropriate for each health insurer, 
and that any assessment of the adequacy of surplus must take into consideration the business structure, member 
demographic, and composition of each insurer. On the one hand, adequate levels of surplus are essential for consumer 
protection and to meet obligations to health care providers. Surplus allows an insurer to withstand unanticipated 
financial losses, such as those caused by health care cost or utilization trends that exceed projections, unanticipated 
changes in the financial markets or economy, changes in regulatory requirements, or new demands from purchasers. 
Health insurers also need surplus to make important investments such as new information systems. Moreover, growth by 
itself, in membership, premium and expenses, generally increases the amount of surplus needed by an insurer to maintain 
the same relative surplus position. The focus of insurance regulation, in Massachusetts and other states, has historically 
been on ensuring that health insurers have sufficient surplus. It is also important to note that unlike other insurance 
lines, there is no guaranty fund to reduce the market impact of any insolvency; this increases the need for prudent levels 
of surplus. 

On the other hand, the accumulation of surplus by insurers could also come at the expense of the affordability of health 
insurance. This is particularly true in Massachusetts, where almost all of the major health insurers are non-profit entities, 
which means that their surplus is accumulated primarily through underwriting gains generated by premiums paid by their 
customers or from investment gains, rather than from the issuance of stock or other equities. Thus, while it is important 
for health insurers to have adequate surplus, health plan members, customers, and the public may assume higher 
premium costs when surplus levels become too large.  

Study Methodology  
For the study of health insurers, the consultants completed three major activities:  

• a review of Massachusetts laws and regulations governing surplus of health plans,  

                                                      

1 The excess of assets over liabilities is typically called surplus among for-profit insurers, while it is most commonly called reserves by not-for-profit insurers.  The 
distinction is that surplus among for-profit insurers belongs to the company, while reserves in not-for-profit companies are held for the benefit of the subscribers.  
For the purposes of this report, the term “surplus” is used inclusively to describe the excess of assets over liabilities for any insurer.  The term “reserves” is also used 
by all insurers to describe amounts set aside for future anticipated expenses and held as liabilities in their financial statements. 
2 A surplus note is a debt instrument issued by an insurer in a format approved by an insurance regulator such that the notes are subordinated to policyholder claims, 
other debt instruments, and all payments of interest and principal are subject to approval by the regulator.  
Surplus notes with an admitted value of $97.3 million as of year end 2008 constitute a significant component of Harvard’s capital and surplus. The surplus notes were 
issued in connection with a plan of rehabilitation issued in 2000 when Harvard was released from temporary receivership and placed under administrative supervision. 
On April 19, 1999 HNE issued a surplus note in the amount of $4 million to Baystate Systems, Inc. in order to meet net worth requirements specified by the 
Commissioner of Insurance. 
HMO Blue and Blue Cross are subject to an agreement with the Division of Insurance (“DOI”) under which each can be required by DOI to provide a surplus note 
to the other in the event that either company’s risk based capital (RBC) level is more than 75 points higher than that of the other company. 
In November 2003 Neighborhood issued a $10,000,000 surplus note to Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts. Interest is payable twice each year and payments of 
principal will commence in 2014. The note is subordinate to all other Neighborhood liabilities. 
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• a review of laws and regulations and regulatory practices related to surplus in a group of states identified as having 
comparable health plan environments. These states, which were selected in consultation with DHCFP and DOI, 
were California, Colorado, Illinois, Maryland, Michigan, New York, Pennsylvania, and Rhode Island; and,  

• an analysis of the surplus and other financial characteristics of the eight major health insurance plans active in 
Massachusetts: Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Inc. (BCBS); Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts 
HMO Blue, Inc. (HMO Blue or BCBS HMO Blue); Fallon Community Health Plan, Inc. (Fallon); Harvard Pilgrim 
Health Care, Inc. (Harvard); Health New England, Inc. (HNE); Neighborhood Health Plan, Inc. (Neighborhood); Tufts 
Associated Health Maintenance Organization, Inc. (Tufts); and UnitedHealthcare of New England, Inc. (UHNE). 

These health insurers were selected in consultation with DHCFP and DOI staff as being the most representative of the 
health plans in Massachusetts. These health plans together represent more than 90% of the private insured healthcare 
market in Massachusetts, and the vast majority of the Medicare Advantage and Medigap market. However, this study 
does not provide, and was not intended to provide, a complete picture of the surplus situation in the entire 
Massachusetts insured health market. The major gaps are: 

• It does not include Boston Medical Center HealthNet Plan or Network Health, two managed care organizations 
that provide coverage exclusively to Medicaid and Commonwealth Care members.  

• It does not include national companies that provide individual and group health benefits to Massachusetts 
residents.3 

• It does not include national companies that provide college-based health insurance to students in Massachusetts. 

The analysis of the selected individual companies was, with certain exceptions, based on publicly available documents. 
Since health insurers are not required to submit detailed information about their self-insured business in their public 
reports, it was not possible to directly address self-insured business, including business that is administered by any of 
these carriers, and its impact on the insured market and on insurer surplus. The recommendations section of the report 
outlines several proposals for addressing this shortcoming in public reporting. 

This study analyzes carrier surplus and surplus growth over the ten-year period from 1999 to 2008. The use of 1999 as a 
base year was arbitrary; it is not meant to imply that the financial condition of health plans at that time were positive or 
negative. Therefore, the data provided in the report indicate changes over the course of those ten years from 1999 to 
2008 but do not represent a longer-term trend. It should also be noted that changes to the HMO statute were enacted in 
2003 that established minimum net worth and RBC requirements which were not in state law prior to that date. 

Measuring Insurer Surplus  
Surplus is the excess of the insurer’s assets over liabilities. The amount of an insurer’s surplus is a single number, reported 
on the insurer’s balance sheet. Three factors have a major impact on the methodology by which asset and liability amounts 
are determined, and consequently on the amount of surplus and variability of surplus reported by health insurers:  

• Statutory accounting: For insurance regulatory and reporting purposes, and for the purposes of this analysis, 
insurer surplus is calculated using statutory accounting principles (SAP), which are a set of rules developed and 
maintained by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC). The focus of SAP is evaluating 
insurer solvency, and it therefore does not permit the insurer to count assets that would likely have lower or little 
value if the insurer went out of business or could not liquidate to pay claims. (These assets are referred to as “non-
admitted assets”.) The major categories of non-admitted assets for health insurers are generally certain type of 
prepaid expenses, furniture and equipment, software development costs, most deferred income tax assets, and 
certain equity investments.  

                                                      

3 These companies have a low number of members in Massachusetts.  
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Insurers, like other companies, also prepare statements on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP), which assume a going concern and value assets accordingly. Therefore, SAP surplus is generally lower 
than GAAP surplus because certain assets that are included in GAAP assets are not admitted for SAP assets. In 
aggregate, the eight health plans included here had more than $1 billion in non-admitted assets (see Table 2). GAAP 
statements were not reviewed for the purposes of this study.   

• Estimation of unpaid claims/claims reserves: The largest liability on the balance sheet of most health insurers is 
the reserve for unpaid claims, which is an estimate of the amount the insurer owes for medical services provided 
while its members were insured that have not been submitted or that have been submitted but not yet processed. In 
order to estimate the amount of unpaid claims, an insurer may use a combination of historical data, an inventory of 
claims in process, and other techniques. The determined amount is an estimate, and will inevitably turn out to be 
too large or too small compared to actual experience. Generally, insurers include a margin in their unpaid claims 
estimates to provide adequacy under moderately adverse circumstances. If an insurer has over-reserved, this has the 
effect of reducing the insurer’s surplus; under-reserving results in an over-estimate of insurer surplus. Thus the 
claims reserving practices of insurers impact their reported surplus.  

• Composition of invested assets: The types of investments held by insurers can have a major effect on the 
volatility of their surplus. Investments in equities are subject to significantly more fluctuation in value than cash and 
cash equivalents and, generally, than high grade bonds. Recent financial events have made this issue more apparent 
and salient than ever before. The accounting rules about how to value certain assets for regulatory reporting 
purposes can amplify the effects of financial market changes on insurer surplus (e.g., common stocks and other 
equity type of investments are carried at market value, leading to higher or lower levels of reported surplus). In 
addition, as is discussed below, the types of invested assets held by an insurer also affects the calculation of the most 
commonly used measure of surplus adequacy, the “risk based capital ratio.” On the one hand, riskier investments 
can generate higher investment returns, and thereby reduces the premiums that an insurer needs to generate to 
reach the same surplus level. On the other hand, the riskier the types of invested assets held by an insurer, the more 
surplus it is assumed to need to protect against the inherent volatility of the assets. 

Common Standards Used to Assess the Adequacy of Insurer Surplus 
This analysis assessed the adequacy of insurer surplus using a variety of commonly used measures, including: 

1. Amount of surplus (measured on a statutory basis): Massachusetts insurers are subject to minimum 
surplus requirements. Except for BCBS, the health insurers in this study are licensed as HMOs and 
must meet surplus requirements for HMOs.4 BCBS is not regulated as an HMO and is subject to a 
minimum net worth requirement stated in the enabling legislation that permitted the merger of Blue 
Cross and Blue Shield in 1988, Chapter 160 of the Public Acts of 1988.5 In addition, BCBS and 
HMO Blue are subject to a “keep well” agreement that allows DOI to require either company to 

                                                      

4 HMOs must maintain an adjusted net worth equal to the greatest of the following four items: (1)$1,000,000; (2) 2% of the first $150,000,000 of annual premium 
revenues plus 1% of the excess of $150,000,000; (3) the sum of 3 months uncovered health care expenditures as reported on the most recent financial statement 
(where uncovered health care expenditures represent amounts that would be the responsibility of policyholders in the event of the insolvency of an HMO); or (4) the 
sum of 8% of annual health care expenditures excluding those on a capitated basis or a managed hospital payment basis and 4% of annual hospital expenditures on a 
managed hospital payment basis. These requirements were effective January 1, 2004 and are being phased in so that the full level is not required until 2010. As of the 
end of 2008, the minimum surplus requirement is 70% of the ultimate requirement. 
5 Chapter 160 of the Public Acts of 1988 is the enabling legislation for the Blue Cross and Blue Shield merger. Section 3 of Chapter 160 provides that, "(T)he merged 
corporation shall maintain a surplus which is not less than five per cent of all expenses and insured claims incurred in each year. The merged corporation may not 
reduce its surplus below such amount without approval of the commissioner." As required by this section, BCBS reported a minimum net worth requirement of 
$109.5 million in its 2008 statutory statement. 
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enhance its surplus through the issuance of a surplus note to the other.6 At least one other health 
insurer (Fallon) is required to maintain a higher level of reserves by a lender.7 

2. Surplus as a Percent of Revenue (SAPOR): calculated by dividing insurer surplus at year end by 
annual revenues for that year. The higher the percent, the better the surplus position of the insurer. 

3. Surplus per member month: calculated by dividing year end surplus by the number of annual 
member months. Member months are used as a way to adjust for turnover and changes in health 
plan membership over the course of a year. One member insured for the entire year counts as 12 
member months; a member insured for only three months counts as three member months.  

4. Number of months of medical expenses that could be paid by the surplus held: calculated by 
dividing year end surplus by average monthly medical expenses during the year (including claims 
incurred but not reported or paid) 

5. Risk Based Capital (RBC) ratio: a measure of solvency, developed by the National Association of 
Insurance Commissioners for regulatory purposes. RBC for an insurer is developed through a 
complex formula that takes into account the types of risk faced by the insurer, and establishes 
minimum levels of surplus based on these risks. (See Appendix 3 for a detailed description of 
RBC.) For example, the RBC formula takes into account the mix of products sold by the insurer 
(e.g., PPO products are riskier than HMO products), provider payment arrangements (e.g., less 
surplus is needed for capitated arrangements than fee-for-service payment), and the types of 
investments held (e.g., investments in bonds issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government are 
considered risk-free while common stocks are riskier and require surplus protection).  

In the judgment of most experts, including insurance regulators, RBC is one of the better tools to evaluate the adequacy 
of insurer surplus, because it takes account of the various risks associated with each insurer’s operations, while other 
measures are not calibrated to the risk of each individual company. For this reason, most states emphasize the RBC ratio 
in their financial surveillance and oversight of insurers.  

Using the RBC formula, an insurer calculates its risk based capital amount, which is divided by two to produce its 
“Authorized Control Level” (ACL). An insurer divides its actual surplus by its ACL to get its “RBC ratio.” The RBC 
ratio is used to assess the adequacy of surplus by comparing it to thresholds set in state insurance regulations.  

Use of the RBC formula (although not the formula itself) is codified in Massachusetts law, and insurers must file detailed 
data and calculations of their RBC level surplus annually with the Division of Insurance. The RBC calculation formula is 
specified by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, although the details of the calculation for individual 
insurers, including the exact data used for certain components, is not available from public filings and is therefore 
confidential. Insurers are subject to certain regulatory action if the RBC amount drops below a specified level.8 

BCBS and HMO Blue are also subject to certain RBC standards of the national Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, as 
licensees of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield trademarks.9 The Association’s RBC ratio requirements are higher than the 
monitoring levels in Massachusetts regulation, which are based on the NAIC model law. 

                                                      

6 BCBS 2008 statutory statement, Note 10E in Notes to Financial Statements. A similar statement appears in the HMO Blue 2008 statutory statement.  
7 Fallon reported in the Notes to Financial Statements in its 2008 statutory statement that it borrowed $15,000,000 in March 2008 from the Massachusetts Health and 
Educational Facilities Authority, backed by a letter of credit from TD Banknorth, to assist in financing the acquisition and installation of a healthcare payer system. 
The Letter of Credit required Fallon to maintain a minimum RBC ratio of 400%. When Fallon’s RBC ratio fell below 400%, this requirement was modified in 
February 2009 to a requirement that the company maintain a minimum RBC ratio of 300%. 
8 The major regulatory RBC thresholds are: “The Company Action Level RBC”( 200% RBC ratio); “The Regulatory Action Level RBC” (150% RBC ratio); and the 
“Mandatory Control Level RBC” (70% RBC ratio). 
9 If the RBC ratio falls below 375% it triggers an “early warning” from the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association (the Association”). An “early warning” results in active 
monitoring by the Association of financial results. The 300% RBC level triggers the “concern” level, which may result in more active monitoring by the Association. 
If the RBC ratio falls below 200% the company may lose the right to use the Blue Cross Blue Shield trademarks. 
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The RBC ratio information was gathered from public filings. The magnitude of key components of RBC was estimated 
using the RBC formula and other information contained in the public financial statements. Regulators explicitly state that 
RBC is to be used for monitoring solvency only, and it should not be used for other purposes, including ranking the 
relative strength of health insurance organizations.10 This study uses RBC to assess the adequacy of the surplus of 
individual insurers and not to rank insurers relative to one another. 

Major Findings and Observations 
At year end 2008, the eight health insurers in the study had a total of $2.6 billion in statutory surplus. 11 (See 
Table 1.) Surplus levels of individual insurers vary widely. Half of total statutory surplus is held by BCBS and HMO 
Blue.  

Table 1. Amount of Statutory Surplus ($ millions) 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS¹ 132 175 214 262 419 508 465 628 706 614 

HMO Blue 230 266 312 354 468 583 764 840 881 707 

BCBS & HMO Blue 362 441 526 616 888 1,091 1,229 1,468 1,586 1,321 

Fallon 32 39 64 60 78 106 134 154 171 123 

Harvard-Pilgrim 129 118 112 170 211 243 290 322 373 387 

Health NE 3 6 8 10 12 17 25 31 36 38 

Neighborhood 20 27 28 16 38 59 70 98 133 153 

Tufts 68 106 158 189 293 337 404 481 547 436 

UHNE 12 35 61 83 100 88 91 90 119 125 

All Companies 627 772 957 1,144 1,618 1,941 2,244 2,643 2,967 2,583 

¹BCBS is shown net of HMO Blue during the time they were reported together. 

 
As discussed earlier, statutory accounting principles do not include certain assets for the purposes of assessing an 
insurer’s financial and solvency position. For the selected health plans, the value of non-admitted assets at year end 2008 
was approximately $1.06 billion. Nearly 85% of the non-admitted assets are held by BCBS and HMO Blue. Non-
admitted assets are larger than total statutory surplus at BCBS. (See Table 2.) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                      

10 211 CMR 25.08(2). 
11 The figures for 2009 were not available when this report was prepared.  Based on preliminary indications, it is expected that surplus at year end 2009 is lower than 
year end 2008.   
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Table 2. 2008 Non-Admitted Assets ($ millions) 

 BCBS 
HMO 
Blue Fallon Harvard HNE NHP Tufts UHNE 

Invested Assets 0.1 0.2 - - 0.2 0.2 39.0 - 

Uncollected Premiums 1.0 2.9 - 0.5 0.3 - - 0.1 

Receivable — Uninsured Plans 11.8 - - 0.0 - - - - 

Deferred Tax Asset12 427.8 - - - 0.9 - - 0.4 

Computer Equipment & Software 127.3 112.9 17.2 39.0 0.5 - 6.3 - 

Furniture & Equipment 29.2 25.9 0.9 10.9 0.4 1.7 11.1 - 

Receivable from Affiliates - - 0.5 - 0.1 - - - 

Healthcare Receivable 1.8 6.9 - 0.0 0.2 0.5 17.7 0.2 

Prepaid Expenses 144.3 3.0 2.0 5.8 1.1 1.1 - 0.3 

Other 1.1 - 0.0 - 0.0 6.3 0.8 - 

Total Non-Admitted Assets 744.4 151.7 20.7 56.3 3.6 9.8 74.9 1.1 

         

Total Statutory Surplus 614.2 707.0 122.5 386.7 38.4 153.2 435.8 125.5 

Non-Admitted Assets as % of 
Surplus 

121.2% 21.5% 16.9% 14.6% 9.4% 6.4% 17.2% 0.8% 

 
Surplus levels have generally increased steadily in the last decade, although half of the plans had a significant 
drop in surplus in 2008. 13 Surplus has increased by a factor of four for all companies combined over the ten-year 
period shown in Table 1, although it declined for most plans in 2008. These drops are related in large part to realized and 
unrealized losses in the value of equity based investments. Even with the 2008 drop, surplus over the ten-year period has 
increased for all companies by a factor of at least three. 

Surplus levels have also increased in relative terms, using each of the major measures of relative surplus: As 
shown in Table 3, surplus measured as a percent of revenues has increased steadily at every plan over the past ten years 
(except for the dip in 2008 at HMO Blue). Surplus as a percent of revenue increased by approximately 80% for all 
companies combined for the ten-year period, although relative surplus dropped in 2008 for most plans.

                                                      

12 According to the Notes to Financial Statement in the 2008 statutory statement, BCBS’s non-admitted deferred tax asset is due to the “special deduction available to 
Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans under Internal Revenue Code Section 833.”  The vast majority of the deferred tax assets is composed of “Net Operating Losses and 
AMT Credits.” 
13 The figures for 2009 were not available when this report was prepared.  Based on preliminary indications, it is expected that surplus at year end 2009 is lower than 
year end 2008.   
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Table 3. Surplus as Percent of Revenue (SAPOR) 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS¹ 18.9% 19.1% 19.1% 22.1% 27.2% 29.6% 23.5% 29.9% 31.1% 27.5% 

HMO Blue 18.7% 14.7% 12.8% 13.3% 17.0% 18.1% 21.0% 19.9% 19.7% 15.9% 

BCBS & HMO Blue 18.8% 16.2% 14.8% 16.0% 20.7% 22.1% 21.9% 23.2% 23.6% 19.8% 

Fallon 5.9% 6.6% 11.0% 9.9% 11.6% 14.5% 17.5% 18.4% 19.3% 12.4% 

Harvard-Pilgrim 5.5% 5.9% 6.8% 10.1% 10.7% 11.6% 14.2% 14.6% 18.0% 18.9% 

Health NE 2.2% 3.5% 4.7% 5.6% 6.0% 7.6% 10.8% 12.4% 13.1% 13.3% 

Neighborhood 10.2% 9.3% 8.2% 4.0% 10.3% 15.1% 15.9% 18.6% 19.9% 18.3% 

Tufts 3.9% 5.7% 7.7% 8.2% 13.2% 16.4% 22.3% 28.3% 27.3% 19.4% 

UHNE 2.4% 6.4% 13.6% 19.1% 21.5% 29.0% 26.4% 24.9% 31.7% 32.9% 

All Companies 12.5% 12.3% 13.2% 14.5% 19.4% 22.1% 23.9% 25.8% 26.3% 22.0% 

¹BCBS is shown net of HMO Blue during the time they were reported together. 
 
Surplus has also grown when expressed in terms of number of months of medical expenses. As shown in Table 4, the 
total surplus of all the insurers was equivalent to 2.6 months of medical expenses in 2008, more than double the amount 
in 1999. While the range across companies was significant, this measure of relative surplus increased over the ten-year 
period for all insurers except HMO Blue.  

Table 4. Surplus in Months of Claims 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS¹ 2.6 2.8 2.9 3.2 4.0 4.2 3.3 4.2 4.4 3.8 

HMO Blue 2.7 2.0 1.8 1.8 2.4 2.5 2.9 2.7 2.6 2.1 

BCBS & HMO Blue 2.6 2.3 2.1 2.2 2.9 3.1 3.0 3.2 3.2 2.7 

Fallon 0.7 0.8 1.5 1.3 1.5 1.9 2.4 2.4 2.6 1.6 

Harvard-Pilgrim 0.7 0.8 0.9 1.4 1.5 1.6 2.0 2.1 2.5 2.6 

Health NE 0.3 0.5 0.6 0.8 0.8 1.1 1.6 1.7 1.8 1.8 

Neighborhood NA 1.2 0.9 0.5 1.4 2.2 2.1 2.5 2.7 2.4 

Tufts 0.5 0.8 1.0 1.1 1.8 2.2 3.1 4.0 3.8 2.6 

UHNE 0.3 0.9 2.0 2.9 3.1 4.4 3.9 3.7 4.8 4.8 

All Companies 1.1 1.3 1.5 1.7 2.2 2.5 2.8 3.0 3.1 2.6 

¹BCBS is shown net of HMO Blue during the time they were reported together. 
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Surplus per member month also appears to have increased (See Table 5.). However, this is not a useful longitudinal measure 
because of changes over this period in how health plans reported member months. For some of the period, certain health 
plans reported self-insured member months and in subsequent years did not. This change makes the surplus per member 
month ratio an unreliable measure of relative surplus over time, although comparisons among plans in the last few years are 
relevant because all plans are now including only insured members in their member month figures.  

Table 5. Statutory Surplus per Member Month ($) 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS¹ NA 11 12 15 22 25 21 87 95 85 

HMO Blue 34 28 28 32 46 53 65 68 72 62 

BCBS & HMO Blue 53 18 19 21 30 35 37 75 81 71 

Fallon 12 15 28 27 36 51 69 80 91 59 

Harvard-Pilgrim 10 13 16 26 30 36 50 57 70 79 

Health NE 3 6 9 12 14 20 31 38 42 45 

Neighborhood 22 20 15 10 26 43 47 61 73 70 

Tufts 8 13 19 22 39 55 86 126 135 100 

UHNE 5 13 29 45 54 48 56 63 94 112 

All Companies 17 15 19 23 32 39 45 76 85 76 

¹BCBS is shown net of HMO Blue during the time they were reported together. 

 
The Risk Based Capital (RBC) ratio for every insurer except BCBS was much higher in 2008 than in 1999. (See Table 6.) 
In 1999, there was a high degree of variability with respect to RBC level among companies, and five of the eight insurers 
were within 100 points of the Commonwealth’s statutory minimum RBC level (200% of ACL). The 2008 RBC ratio on 
average was 515% of ACL, ranging from lows of approximately 370% for Fallon and HNE to highs of 640% for BCBS 
and slightly over 1000% for UHNE. Six of the plans had a significant drop in their RBC ratios in 2008, largely as a result 
of realized and unrealized capital losses. The drop in BCBS’s ratio over this ten-year period was caused by a 200 point 
drop in its RBC ratio in 2000, a year of extremely poor financial results for the company, followed by two subsequent 
years of weak performance. Since 2001, BCBS’s RBC ratio has improved steadily. 
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Table 6. Risk Based Capital (RBC) Ratio 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS 742% 517% 481% 491% 616% 620% 543% 695% 708% 640% 

HMO Blue NA NA NA NA NA NA 558% 524% 516% 427% 

BCBS & HMO Blue¹ 742% 517% 481% 491% 616% 620% 552% 585% 586% 505% 

Fallon 261% 271% 509% 462% 405% 484% 553% 551% 566% 372% 

Harvard-Pilgrim 193% 187% 221% 364% 383% 407% 513% 510% 539% 517% 

Health NE 67% 103% 132% 151% 166% 210% 305% 348% 363% 369% 

Neighborhood 309% 266% 219% 112% 314% 510% 418% 490% 617% 540% 

Tufts 162% 210% 253% 259% 398% 472% 654% 811% 790% 535% 

UHNE 79% 193% 427% 604% 605% 710% 739% 766% 1015% 1013% 

All Companies 309% 312% 355% 391% 494% 538% 558% 595% 615% 515% 

¹BCBS & HMO Blue combined RBC Ratio based on weighted average. 
    

 

Table 6b. Self-Reported 2009 RBC 
Ratio 

Company 2009 

BCBS 724% 

HMO Blue 423% 

BCBS & HMO Blue 534% 

Fallon 271% 

Harvard-Pilgrim 479% 

Health NE 370% 

Neighborhood 369% 

Tufts 600% 

UHNE 862% 

 
2009 RBC ratios in Table 6b are self-reported carrier numbers and have not been verified by DOI or DHCFP. These 
figures are provided as reference information only. 

The levels of surplus for the selected companies exceed minimum regulatory requirements: The surplus of all the 
health plans is higher than both the minimum statutory standards and the minimum RBC standards used by DOI for 
monitoring purposes. All of the plans exceed the 200% Company Action RBC level, some by a factor of two or three. 
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It is important to note that these regulatory standards are minimums, and the levels of insurer surplus in Massachusetts 
must be assessed in the context of other important considerations14, including: 

• The “underwriting cycle”: Health insurance has long been thought to be characterized by an underwriting cycle, 
during which a period of profitable years is followed by a period of losses in the industry. There are several reasons 
to think that this cycle may have been extended or diminished in force in recent years, including consolidation in the 
industry, better information systems, and the use of managed care to control the cost of benefits and utilization. 
This is consistent with the relatively long period of stability and generally favorable financial results, extending from 
2000 through 2007 for the companies included in this study. The ten-year period covered by this study has generally 
been characterized by increasing health care costs but also stable profitability, and that period could be changing. 
The current economic situation, particularly in the financial markets, makes 2008 very different from 2007 and the 
years before. One measure of insurer profitability, the ratio of claims to premiums, or medical expense ratio, has 
been increasing in recent years. It now stands at an average of 89%, the highest since 1999. As medical expense 
ratios increase, underwriting gains decrease, causing surplus to grow more slowly or decline.  

• Trends in administrative expenses: Health plan administrative expenses have grown at a rate commensurate with 
medical trend. Expense trend would be expected to be somewhat lower than the trend in medical expenses on a per 
member basis, but it has not been. In part that may be because medical expense growth is offset by a trend toward 
leaner, lower cost benefit plans, so that medical expenses and therefore plan revenue have not grown as quickly as 
medical inflation. However, if current trends in health plan administrative expenses were to moderate, this could 
moderate growth in health insurance premiums, improve operating margins and/or contribute to surplus growth. 

• The decision of some insurers to make major investments in equities has created the potential for volatility 
in surplus: Several of the companies have substantial amounts of equity based investments; either common stocks 
or private partnerships (see Table 7). On the one hand, riskier investments can generate higher investment returns, 
and thereby reduce the premiums that an insurer needs to generate to reach the same surplus level. On the other 
hand, the riskier the types of invested assets held by an insurer, the more surplus it is assumed to need to protect 
against the inherent volatility of the assets. For four companies, BCBS, HMO Blue, Tufts and Fallon, equity 
investments represented approximately 39% to 47% of total invested assets as of year end 2008. The other 
companies had lower amounts in equity investments, ranging from 0% to 9%. The events of 2008 have diminished 
the value of equity investments, both in realized and unrealized capital gains, and so resulted in a greater decline in 
level of surplus for insurers with substantial equity holdings. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

                                                      

14 Potential changes in the economic and health care environments are also important considerations.  For example, payment reform discussions in Massachusetts may 
have implications for health insurer surplus. Moreover, there is discussion at the federal level about changing federal payments to Medicare Advantage plans. Since 
some Massachusetts health plans have realized profits in recent years from Medicare Advantage plans, potential changes need to be monitored.  In addition, since 
certain plans are heavily reliant on state programs (such as Medicaid or Commonwealth Care), the recent fiscal downturn could have negative repercussions.            
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Table 7. Surplus ($millions), ACL and RBC Ratio — 2007 and 2008 

Company 

 
2007 

Surplus 
($m) 

2008 
Surplus 

($m) 

2007 
Reported 

Authorized 
Control 

Level (ACL) 
($m) 

2008 
Reported 

ACL 
($m) 

2007 RBC 
Ratio 

2008 
RBC Ratio 

% of 2008  
Investments 
In Equities 

BCBS 706 614 100 96 708% 640% 47% 

HMO Blue 881 707 171 166 516% 427% 46% 

BCBS & HMO Blue 1,586 1,321 271 262 586% 505% 46% 

Fallon 171 123 30 33 566% 372% 46% 

Harvard 373 387 69 75 539% 517% 9% 

HNE 36 38 10 10 363% 369% 3% 

Neighborhood 133 153 22 28 617% 540% 0% 

Tufts 547 436 69 82 790% 535% 39% 

UHNE 119 125 12 12 1015% 1013% 8% 

Total/Average 2,966 2,583 483 502 615% 515% 18% 

 
Significant investments in equities have also had the effect of reducing the RBC ratio for several plans, and 
therefore increasing the amount of surplus required for these plans to achieve a given RBC threshold. The 
formula for RBC assigns a higher RBC requirement for assets invested in equities as compared to assets invested in more 
conventional insurer investments like corporate or government bonds. This means that plans that invest heavily in 
equities must have a higher amount of surplus to meet a given RBC level than plans without equity investments. While 
investments in equities can have positive effects, including greater potential for investment income and capital 
appreciation, both of which increase surplus, from a surplus adequacy and solvency perspective, investments in equities 
are riskier. As shown in Table 7, the four plans with major investments in equities had a much greater decline in their 
RBC ratios in 2008 than the plans with a lower level of such investments. 

During the study period, several plans demonstrate a pattern of overestimating their liability for unpaid claims 
by more than is typical in the industry, which has the effect of understating their surplus: Health plan 
management has some discretion in how it determines its liability for unpaid claims expense, the so-called IBNR or 
incurred but not reported claims liability. The estimate of IBNR is just that — an estimate — so it will inevitably turn 
out to be too high or too low compared to actual medical expenses. While any overestimate in IBNR is temporary (the 
amount is annually determined and one year’s high estimate is reflected in the subsequent year’s underwriting gain), the 
pattern is worth noting.  

The statutory annual financial statement contains a reconciliation of the claim reserves held in each year compared to the actual 
claims that are presented and paid in the following year. For the purposes of this study, these reports were used to compare the 
original unpaid claims estimate established at the prior year end to the current estimate, using amounts paid and the company’s 
estimate of the remaining liability. It is anticipated that insurers will establish their claims reserves with some conservatism, and 
a claims reserve margin in the range of 10% is reasonable based on generally accepted actuarial practice.  

The retrospective analysis of reserving practices shows all of the insurers in the study included a margin in their reported 
claim liability. Table 8 shows the “realized margin” for each plan over the ten-year period. The realized margin is the 
percent difference between the original claims reserve and the re-estimated liability in the following year. A positive 
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margin means that the original claims reserve was higher than the new estimate based on an additional year of actual 
experience; a negative margin would mean that the original reserve was understated. On average, the realized margin 
ranged from 7% to 20% over the ten-year period studied. The range in the margin across individual plans was greater, 
from 2% to 42% depending on the year. Some Massachusetts health plans consistently held a substantially higher 
margin. This has the effect of overstating plan liabilities and so understating plan surplus.  

On average, the effect of reserving practices on reported surplus is quite modest. In 2008, if claim liabilities were 
reported without margin, the effect on surplus on average would be an increase of 6%, or $156 million in additional 
surplus across the selected health plans. But the effect would have been larger, as high as 16%, for Harvard and 
Neighborhood which have the greatest margin in the reported claim liabilities. 

Table 8. Reconciliation of Prior Year Claim Liability Margin 

 Realized Margin as % of Reconciled Reserve (%) 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS 6% 17% 18% 17% 21% 5% 11% 9% 11% 2% 

HMO Blue 8% 10% 8% 13% 16% 8% 15% 19% 7% 6% 

BCBS & HMO Blue 7% 14% 11% 14% 18% 7% 13% 15% 9% 4% 

Fallon 33% 23% 23% 12% 13% 4% 1% 6% 11% 6% 

Harvard 3% 5% 0% 41% 21% 19% 45% 54% 52% 30% 

HNE 1% 3% 1% 5% 7% 11% 35% 39% 18% 17% 

Neighborhood - - 35% 68% 17% 26% 16% 30% 46% 32% 

Tufts 14% 11% 8% 14% 3% 3% 26% 32% 22% 14% 

UHNE 11% 3% 11% 29% 20% 30% 32% 12% 13% 19% 

All Companies 7% 9% 9% 20% 16% 9% 21% 24% 19% 15% 

 
Recommendations 
#1: The Division of Insurance should consider adopting upper RBC threshold review levels for health insurers, 
analogous to the current RBC thresholds for minimum levels of surplus. An RBC ratio range of 700-900% 
would be an appropriate standard to consider for such an upper threshold review. While statutorily created 
guaranty funds are the common way in most insurance markets to protect policyholders from the risk of any one 
insurance carrier’s insolvency, this is not a viable option in Massachusetts due to the limited number of companies in the 
market. Absent such a safety net, health insurers individually need adequate levels of surplus so they are able to satisfy 
their health payment obligations even in difficult conditions. A variety of statutory and regulatory standards are in place 
to ensure that plans are well-capitalized, and to permit regulators to take action if surplus falls below certain levels. 
However, there are costs for health plan members, customers and the public if surplus is greater than needed for 
financial soundness. This is particularly true in Massachusetts, where most of the major health plans are non-profit 
public charities, and surplus is accumulated through operating profits and investment growth. This means that the 
accumulation of ever increasing amounts of surplus by insurers comes at the expense of the current affordability of 
health insurance. Currently, regulatory and statutory standards are focused entirely on minimum levels of surplus, with 
lesser attention to the cost and public policy consequences of excessive levels of surplus. Every health insurer in this 
study has increased its surplus considerably over the past decade, and has an amount of surplus that exceeds current 
regulatory minimums. However, none has a surplus level in excess of the RBC review threshold recommended here. 
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The purpose of adopting an upper RBC threshold review level for health insurers would be to ensure close scrutiny of 
high levels of insurer surplus. As a plan approached the upper threshold or once the threshold was reached, a different 
type of regulatory review would take place, focused not on ensuring that a plan has sufficient surplus but rather on 
exploring whether or not there was a continued need for additional surplus. As with minimum surplus thresholds, the 
Division of Insurance would retain regulatory discretion to treat health plans differently, as appropriate, based on its 
overall review of the financial condition and situation of the health plan, not just on its absolute RBC level. However, an 
upper threshold would ensure that high levels of surplus receive the same degree of regulatory attention and public 
examination as low levels do now.  

Recommendation #2: The Division of Insurance should consider establishing guidelines for the proportion of 
health plan surplus that may be invested in equity investments depending on the health plan’s RBC ratio. 
Certain health plans have substantial amounts invested in equities. Historically, while equity investments may have 
produced higher returns (and thereby the potential for lower premiums), they have also resulted in greater fluctuations in 
realized and unrealized capital gains and subsequently, greater fluctuations in surplus for these plans. In addition, since 
the RBC formula recognizes a higher risk level for equity investments, plans with more equities require a higher level of 
surplus to meet a specified RBC ratio. Placing limitations on the permissible levels of health plan equity investments 
would reduce fluctuations in the amount of surplus and RBC ratios.  

Recommendation #3: The state should enhance health insurer reporting by requiring that additional information 
in several key areas be included in health plan financial filings. The data and format for the filings could be 
designed jointly by DHCFP, DOI and the health plans. Changes in these areas should take into account any 
new reporting requirements imposed by national health reform in order to avoid unnecessary duplication. 
Additional information should be provided on:  

a. Self insured and administrative services only business: The analysis in this report found that health plans 
in Massachusetts have not consistently reported information on their self-insured business over time. This 
includes information on the number of self-insured members and member months. As noted earlier, the failure 
of health plans to provide consistent membership and member month information over time makes it 
impossible to compare the amount of surplus per member over time for all of the health plans, or to track 
overall trends in the composition of the membership of individual health plans, or overall enrollment in the 
state’s health insurance market. 

Plans have also not provided consistent information on the administrative fees received for self-insured business 
(administrative services contract or administrative services only). Administrative services fees are supposed to be 
reported on the Administrative Expenses Exhibit (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit Part 3-Analysis of 
Expenses), as an offset to general and administrative expenses, if the health plan conducts its administrative 
services business through the same legal entity as its insured business. Some health plans manage their self-
insured business out of a subsidiary or other related company, and they do not report self-insured income in 
their statutory statements. Insurers are also required to report earnings on administrative services business in the 
Notes to Financial Statements section of the statutory statement, but based on a review of the statutory 
statements it appears that they do not do so uniformly. 

Requiring health plans to provide uniform information on self-insured business would enable regulators, 
policymakers and the public to develop a more complete picture of the Massachusetts health insurance market. 
This is particularly important as more and more employers — and members — move from insured to self-
insured plans. It would also permit a better understanding of the costs and performance of different lines of 
business. For example, these data would enable policymakers to understand the financial performance of self-
insured business compared to insured business, including whether health plans are making or losing money on 
self-insured business, whether there is any cross-subsidization of self-insured employers by insured employers, 
or vice versa, and how the administrative expense per member of self-insured groups compares to insured 
groups. These are important issues in developing a more robust and complete picture of the financial 
performance of health insurers and the health insurance marketplace in the state. 



Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 
 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

15 

b. Administrative expenses: Health plan administrative expenses have been increasing at approximately the 
same rate as medical trend. This rate of increase far exceeds the overall trend in consumer prices and does not 
appear to reflect any productivity improvements over time. Were current trends in health plan administrative 
expenses to moderate, this could improve the affordability of health insurance, and/or contribute to surplus 
growth. It is not possible to assess from existing plan information why administrative expenses are increasing 
faster than consumer prices. One possible contributing factor is the ongoing trend towards leaner benefit 
packages, which have had a moderating effect on revenue growth. As revenue growth slows, the ratio of 
administrative expenses to revenues might be increasing even though administrative expenses on a per member 
basis are not increasing as quickly. Additional information on the administrative expenses of individual health 
insurers would allow policymakers to assess the causes, and possible solutions, to the growth trends in 
administrative expenses. 

c. Medical expenses: Approximately 90% of premium dollars in Massachusetts go towards medical expenses. 
Yet despite the enormous amount of medical care paid for by health insurers, there is very little detailed public 
information about the distribution of these payments, by category of care, type or place of service. As cost 
control becomes more critical, it is necessary for regulators, policy-makers and the public to have much more 
detailed information about medical spending, in a consistent format that allows for meaningful comparisons 
across health plans, and within major lines of business. The state should work with health plans to develop a 
standardized format in which such information would be regularly reported by health insurers.  In the interest of 
transparency and to inform the development of cost containment initiatives, this information should be 
reported publicly and in a format that is easily available.  This should include sufficient detail to assess the 
amount and trends in spending in different lines of business (e.g., small group, individual, large group, self-
insured, Medicaid, Medicare). 

d. Provider payment arrangements, with a focus on arrangements that shift substantial financial risk to 
providers: Payment arrangements that shift significant risk to providers reduce the risk faced by insurers, and 
thus the needed levels of surplus. There is already some movement in the state towards payment arrangements 
that share financial risk between insurers and providers, and the recent report of the Special Commission on the 
Health Care Payment System, which endorsed a shift to global payment, may well accelerate this trend. While 
health plans are already required to provide some information on certain types of provider payment 
arrangements in their annual statements (Exhibit 7 of the filing), this information is limited in scope. Regulators 
and policymakers need a more detailed and complete picture of the types of risk sharing arrangements that exist 
between insurers and providers, including the number of members covered by these arrangements, in order to 
understand and appropriately regulate the financial risks being assumed by providers and insurers as payment 
arrangements continue to evolve. 

Recommendation #4: The state should require Third Party Administrators (TPAs) to be registered or licensed. 
TPAs are an important part of the state’s market for health coverage, providing administrative services to many of the 
state’s larger employers. While some TPAs are subsidiaries of local health plans, and so known to regulators, others are 
independent entities. In fact, the state does not necessarily know the names of all the TPAs operating in the state 
because TPAs are not subject to any registration or licensing requirements. This regulatory gap prevents policymakers 
from developing a complete understanding of the health insurance market and puts regulators in a reactive posture, able 
to deal with issues only after they develop into problems. Some other states require TPAs to be registered or licensed, 
and to make an annual filing to the state that includes basic information on number of contracts, number of members, 
number of employers, and information about applicable stop loss arrangements. Massachusetts should do the same. 

Recommendation #5: The state should not establish a health insurance guaranty fund in Massachusetts that 
would extend to health maintenance organizations and Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts. Certain states 
have established guaranty funds as a mechanism for providing financial protection to consumers and providers in the 
event that a health insurer becomes insolvent. Although such guaranty funds vary in their structure, the general approach 
is to impose an assessment on the other member health plans to help pay the costs associated with claims that are unpaid 
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by the insolvent plan. The assessment can be an ongoing one, which creates a fund that is used if a plan gets into 
financial trouble, or funded only in the case of an actual insolvency. The idea of a guaranty fund has been discussed 
periodically in Massachusetts over the years but has never been embraced by the legislature.15  

While guaranty funds can be a useful instrument in many states, it appears that such a fund would not be effective in 
Massachusetts because of the limited number of companies offering health insurance and it is not necessary because 
consumers in Massachusetts are already well protected in the event a health insurer is unable to meet its financial 
obligations. By law, providers must hold consumers harmless from any financial obligations that would have been the 
legal responsibility of the health insurer, regardless of the reason why the insurer is unable to pay them. Continuity of 
coverage is assured by guarantee issue requirements that obligate other insurers to provide insurance with no medical 
underwriting to anyone who was previously insured with no substantial gap in coverage, and the Division of Insurance 
has statutory authority to move members of insolvent plans into other health plans.  

A guaranty fund would provide additional protections, particularly for providers and for consumers with certain types of 
expenses that might not be covered by existing legal provisions (e.g., providers that do not have contracts with the health 
plan are not prohibited from billing consumers for unpaid services). There is a strong potential that a guaranty fund 
could have an adverse financial impact on other health insurers, given the concentration in the Massachusetts health 
insurance market. If a large health plan were to become insolvent, such a large assessment might be required of other 
plans that would impair their financial condition as well. For this reason, it seems unnecessary and potentially damaging 
for the state to endorse the establishment of a guaranty fund at this time. Instead, the state should assess its oversight of 
health insurers to ensure that adequate safeguards and protections are in place to protect consumers fully in the event of 
a health plan insolvency, and take any necessary steps, including requesting additional legal authority, if it determines that 
there are significant gaps in protections for health plan members in the event of an insolvency. 

                                                      

15 Massachusetts legislation created the Massachusetts Life & Health Insurance Guaranty Association in 1986 to protect policyholders and beneficiaries of policies 
issued by an insolvent insurance company, with specified limitations. Health maintenance organizations and BCBSMA are not members of the guaranty association.  
Therefore, the protections provided by the guaranty association do not extend to members of an insolvent HMO. 
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I. Introduction 
Section 35 of Chapter 305 of the Acts of 2008, An Act to Promote Cost Containment, Transparency, and Efficiency in 
the Delivery of Quality Health Care, requires that the Division of Health Care Finance and Policy (DHCFP), in 
conjunction with the Division of Insurance (DOI), conduct a study of the reserves, endowments and surpluses of health 
insurers and hospitals. Per statute, the goal of the study is to provide information to assist both DHCFP and DOI with 
the examination of “options and alternatives available to the Commonwealth to provide regulation, oversight and 
disposition of the reserves, endowments and surpluses of health insurers and hospitals.”  

Specifically, Section 35 required the study to consist of the following elements: 

(1) an analysis of the laws, regulations and other measures currently in effect in the commonwealth 
which regulate the amount, nature and disposition of surpluses held by or for the benefit of health 
insurers in excess of amounts reasonably anticipated to be required to pay claims, taking into account 
the level of such reserves and surpluses necessary to safeguard the solvency of health insurers against 
unanticipated events and other circumstances which may cause extraordinary medical losses;  

(2) an analysis of federal and state law, regulations and other measures currently in effect which regulate 
the amount, nature and disposition of surpluses and endowments held by or for the benefit of hospitals 
in excess of amounts reasonably anticipated to be required to perform and support services provided by 
the hospital and to guard against unanticipated events and other circumstances;  

(3) a review of recent fiscal practices and financial reporting by health insurers relative to reserves and 
surpluses and of hospital fiscal practices and financial reporting required by general or special law;  

(4) a comparison of the commonwealth’s current statutes and regulations with those of other states 
which the commission deems to be reasonably comparable to those of the commonwealth;  

(5) a review and assessment of model acts and regulations and any other information which the 
commission finds to be relevant to its inquiry; and  

(6) a review of the method by which health insurers and hospitals fund community benefit programs 
including, but not limited to, the manner by which funding is regulated by other states as to the 
appropriate amount, monitoring and direction of such funding.16 

DHCFP selected the firm Hinckley, Allen & Tringale, working with its subcontractors DeWeese Consulting, Inc. (DCI) 
and Gorman Actuarial, LLC (GA), to perform analyses and prepare draft reports to assist the agency in responding to 
the requirements of Section 35. This initial report specifically examines the reserves, endowments, and surpluses of 
health insurers. The analysis and review of hospital reserves and surpluses will be issued in a separate report. 

 

                                                      

16 Ibid. 
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II. Study Methodology  
Health insurers are entities which pool the risk of many individuals to provide coverage for medical expenses. A health 
insurer may be non-profit, for-profit, or a government-sponsored program. By estimating the risk of its pool and 
expected medical expenses, health insurers are able to develop monthly premium amounts to pay for health care as 
specified in insurance agreements.  

For the study of health insurers, the consultants completed three major activities:  

• a review of Massachusetts laws and regulations governing surplus of health plans,17  

• a review of laws, regulations and regulatory practices related to surplus in eight states identified as having 
comparable health plan environments. These states, which were selected in consultation with DHCFP and DOI, 
were California, Colorado, Illinois, Maryland, Michigan, New York, Pennsylvania, and Rhode Island; and,  

• An analysis of the surplus and other financial characteristics of eight major health insurance plans active in 
Massachusetts: Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Inc. (BCBS); Blue Cross and Blue Shield of 
Massachusetts HMO Blue, Inc. (HMO Blue or BCBS HMO Blue); Fallon Community Health Plan, Inc. (Fallon); 
Harvard Pilgrim Health Care, Inc. (Harvard); Health New England, Inc. (HNE); Neighborhood Health Plan, Inc. 
(Neighborhood); Tufts Associated Health Maintenance Organization, Inc. (Tufts); and UnitedHealthcare of New 
England, Inc. (UHNE). 

These health insurers were selected in consultation with DHCFP and DOI staff as being most representative of the 
health plans in Massachusetts. The selected health plans represent more than 90% of the private insured healthcare 
market in Massachusetts, and provided insurance for a total of 34 million member months, or almost 2.9 million 
members over the 12 months of 2008. The majority of members, over 2 million, are enrolled in plans that are reported 
as HMO. Approximately 400,000 are enrolled in PPO plans, and a similar number are enrolled in POS, Indemnity and 
all other plan types combined.18  

Of the eight health plans selected, all are non-profit except for HNE and UHNE. UHNE is a subsidiary of 
UnitedHealth Group, the largest for-profit health insurer in the nation. All of these plans primarily insure Massachusetts 
residents, except for UHNE, which is a Rhode Island domiciled company and has 90% of its business in Rhode Island. 
Harvard derives approximately 3% of its revenue from Maine and has a wholly owned subsidiary, Harvard Pilgrim 
Health Plan of New England, Inc. (HPNE), which operates in New Hampshire. HPNE is not included in the analysis.  

In addition to residents covered through the insured healthcare market, individuals may be covered by employer-
sponsored self-insured plans (ASO plans),19 or partially insured plans (ASC plans)20 and government plans, including 
Medicare and Medicaid. Medicare can be provided either directly by the federal government, or by insurance carriers 
who accept risk under Medicare Advantage programs. Of the eight carriers studied, HMO Blue, Fallon, Harvard, and 
Tufts insure Medicare Advantage members in Massachusetts. Fallon and Neighborhood insure Medicaid members. As 
such, the health plans selected represent the vast majority of the Medicare Advantage and Medigap market. 

                                                      

17 A discussion of the term “surplus” is contained in Section III. 
18 It is worth noting that insured membership has seen a decline over the last several years. This has occurred even though health care reform in Massachusetts has 
added approximately 90,000 members in the last two years. For these companies, over 50 million member months were reported in 2001. On a percentage basis, the 
number of lives reported as POS and Indemnity have declined more than HMO or PPO lives. 
19 Uninsured plans are typically sponsored by an employer and depend on adequate funding from the employer to ensure payment to providers for benefits. The 
insurance company does not take any responsibility for the adequacy of funding, although it may offer stop loss protection for large claims. 
20 Under such plans the insurer is liable in the event that the employer does not provide funding for payment of claims incurred while the contract is in force. 
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This study does not provide, and was not intended to provide, a complete picture of the surplus situation in the entire 
Massachusetts insured health market. It does not include Boston Medical Center HealthNet Plan or Network Health, 
two managed care organizations that provide coverage exclusively to Medicaid and Commonwealth Care members. It 
also does not include national companies that provide individual and group health insurance plans, including college-
based health insurance to Massachusetts students. 

The analysis of the individual companies was, with certain exceptions, based on publicly available documents. The 
primary sources of data for this analysis are the statutory statements filed with the Massachusetts Division of Insurance 
for 1999 through 2008. Since health insurers are not required to submit detailed information about their self-insured 
business in their public reports, it was not possible to directly address self-insured business, including business that is 
administered by any of these carriers, and its impact on the insured market and on insurer surplus. The 
recommendations section outlines several proposals for addressing this shortcoming in public reporting. 

This study analyzes health insurer surplus and surplus growth over the ten-year period from 1999 through 2008, the 
reasons for change in surplus, and commonly used measures of surplus. The use of 1999 as a base year was arbitrary; it is 
not meant to imply that the financial condition of health plans at that time were positive or negative.  Therefore, the data 
provided in the report indicate changes over the course of those ten years from 1999 to 2008 but do not represent a 
longer-term trend.  It should also be noted that changes to the HMO statute were enacted in 2003 that established 
minimum net worth and RBC requirements which were not in state law prior to that date. 

A profile of each of the eight carriers included in the study, including comparative statistics over the ten-year period 1999 
through 2008, is contained in Appendix 4. In addition, BCBS and HMO Blue were analyzed on a combined basis as if they 
were one company, since BCBS wholly controls HMO Blue, and their operations are generally under common management.21  

Public Input Session: DHCFP convened a public input session on April 15, 2009. The session provided an 
opportunity for interested parties to provide comments, ideas and recommendations regarding the study to DHCFP, 
DOI, and the consultants. The agencies prepared a project summary for meeting attendees as well as a list of specific 
questions to be considered. These materials can be found in Appendix 2. Individuals were encouraged to either submit 
comments orally at the session and/or in writing after the close of the session.  

The following individuals or organizations (in alphabetical order of the presenter) provided comments:  

• Marylou Buyse, M.D., President and Chief Executive Officer of the Massachusetts Association of Health Plans 
(presented by Eric Linzer) 

• Michael Caljouw, Senior Director of Public, Government and Regulatory Affairs for Blue Cross Blue Shield of 
Massachusetts 

• Joseph F.X. Casey, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer for Sturdy Memorial Hospital 
• John Erwin, Executive Director for the Conference of Boston Teaching Hospitals 
• Charles R. Goheen, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer for Fallon Community Health Plan, Inc.  
• Joe Kirkpatrick, Vice President of Healthcare Finance & Managed Care for the Massachusetts Hospital Association 
• Georgia Maheras, Health Care for All 
• Douglas J. McGregor, Director of Healthcare Services for the Boston Organization of Teaching Hospital Financial 

Officers  
• Roland Price, Treasurer for Tufts Health Plan, Inc.  

All written comments are available in Appendix 2. 

                                                      

21 HMO Blue has reported its financial results separately since 2005.  
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III. Definition of Health Insurer “Reserves” and “Surplus” 
The term “surplus” and “reserves” are often used interchangeably. For the purposes of this analysis on health insurers, a 
distinction is drawn between the two terms in order to avoid confusion.22  

Reserves 
The term “reserves” represents liabilities, and are funds set aside to cover expenses for which an insurer has accepted 
liability and which are currently due or will become due in the future.23 In general, there are three distinct types of 
insurance funds that are referred to as reserve: 

• Claim reserves for future benefits; 

• Premium reserves; and 

• Liabilities for incurred but not paid claims. 

In statutory accounting, the term “reserves” includes funds set aside by an insurer to cover benefits for which an insurer 
has accepted liability, but which will become due in the future. For example, most insurance plans provide an extension 
of benefits provision that covers a period of future care for people who are hospitalized or otherwise disabled on the 
date their insurance expires. The money set aside to pay for this care is a “claim reserve.”  

The insurer may also have reserves for liabilities related to premium related obligations. Such reserves are referred to as 
“premium reserve,” and include unearned premium reserves and premium deficiency reserves. Unearned premium 
reserves provide for the claims associated with premiums that have already been received and that apply to future 
periods. For example, if a policy had premiums due on the 15th of each month, the December premium would provide 
coverage through the following January 14, and approximately one-half of that premium would be unearned as of 
December 31. Unearned premium reserves are relatively uncommon for health insurers, who write most coverage 
effective on the first of the month, and collect only monthly premiums. Premium deficiency reserves are held in the 
event a block of business is determined to be under-priced. Since health insurance is typically sold with a 12-month rate 
guarantee, an under-priced block of business will have losses until the end of the guarantee period. Statutory accounting 
requires an insurer hold a deficiency reserve for such business.  

Reserves also refer to the liability for health claims that have been incurred but not yet paid. This is usually the largest 
amount of liabilities for health insurers and health maintenance organizations (HMOs). Such reserves are generally 
referred to as unpaid claims in statutory accounting, but are also known informally as “claim reserves.” They are also 
commonly referred to as “IBNR” claims, or “incurred but not reported.” Unpaid claims arise from provider services that 
have been provided while an individual was insured but not submitted to the insurer and claims that have been 
submitted but not yet processed. Provision for retroactive payment adjustments may add to the unpaid claim liability. In 
order to estimate the liability for claim reserves, an insurer may use a combination of historical data, an inventory of 
claims in process of settlement, and for certain large individual claims the insurer may estimate the amount payable. The 
“reserves” an insurer holds using this definition do not represent amounts that are available for disposal through, for 
example, lower premium levels or dividends to owners. These reserves amounts correspond to insurer liabilities, which if 
not funded, result in insurer insolvency. 

                                                      

22 The excess of assets over liabilities is typically called surplus among for-profit insurers, while it is most commonly called reserves by not-for-profit insurers.  The 
distinction is that surplus among for-profit insurers belongs to the company, while reserves in not-for-profit companies are held for the benefit of the subscribers.  
For the purposes of this report, the term “surplus” is used inclusively to describe the excess of assets over liabilities for any insurer.  The term “reserves” is also used 
by all insurers to describe amounts set aside for future anticipated expenses and held as liabilities in their financial statements. 
23 The term reserves will be generally used to refer to the sum of the amounts reported on Page 3, lines 1 through 8 of the 2008 annual statement, and in a similar 
place in other years’ financial statements.  
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Surplus 

The term “surplus” for purposes of the health insurer portion of this study will be used to mean resources beyond those 
needed by the insurer to meet known and estimated liabilities (including estimates of medical expenses incurred but not yet 
reported or paid).24 Other common terms for surplus are “capital and surplus,” “net worth,” or “unallocated reserves.” 

Insurers generate surplus mainly through operating profits (charging premiums that exceed medical and administrative 
expenses) and from investment returns (some of which comes from investment income on surplus generated in prior 
years). For-profit health insurers can also increase surplus through the sale of stock or investments by others (e.g., parent 
companies) that do not create a corresponding liability. In some circumstances, insurers can also raise surplus by issuing 
surplus notes. However, surplus notes do contain an obligation for repayment, even if repayment is subordinated to any 
obligations to policyholders or providers. 

Since accumulated surplus is largely derived from premiums, it follows that a health plan operating with a high level of 
surplus does so by charging higher premiums than it would have to charge if it were to operate at a lower level of 
surplus. Also, a company for which surplus becomes impaired can only rebuild surplus over the long-term by increasing 
the premiums paid by its customers.  

The amount of surplus held by an insurer needs to grow over time in response to growth in membership and growth in 
revenue that results from medical inflation. 

Why do insurers need surplus? 
Assessing insurer surplus levels requires understanding of the nature of a health plan’s role and structure. Insurance 
regulators have long recognized that there is no single “magic” level of surplus that is appropriate for each health insurer, 
and that any assessment of the adequacy of surplus must take into consideration the business structure, member 
demographic, and composition of each insurer. On the one hand, adequate levels of surplus are essential for consumer 
protection and to meet obligations to health care providers. Surplus allows an insurer to withstand unanticipated 
financial losses, such as those caused by health care cost or utilization trends that exceed projections, unanticipated 
changes in the financial markets or economy, changes in regulatory requirements, or new demands from purchasers. 
Health insurers also need surplus to make important investments such as new information systems. Moreover, growth by 
itself, in membership, premium and expenses, generally increases the amount of surplus needed by an insurer to maintain 
the same relative surplus position. The focus of insurance regulation, in Massachusetts and other states, has historically 
been on ensuring that health insurers have sufficient surplus. It is also important to note that unlike other insurance 
lines, there is no guaranty fund to reduce the market impact of any insolvency; this increases the need for prudent levels 
of surplus. 

On the other hand, the accumulation of surplus by insurers could also come at the expense of the affordability of health 
insurance. This is particularly true in Massachusetts, where almost all of the major health insurers are non-profit entities, 
which means that their surplus is accumulated primarily through underwriting gains generated by premiums paid by their 
customers or from investment gains, rather than from the issuance of shares of stock or other equities. Thus, while it is 
important for health insurers to have adequate surplus, health plan members, customers, and the public may assume 
higher premium costs when surplus levels become too large.  

                                                      

24 Surplus or capital and surplus refers to the amount indicated in the statutory statement on Page 3, line 31 of the 2008 annual statement and in a similar place in 
other years’ financial statements. 



Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 
 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

22 

What risks are protected by surplus? 
Health insurance is essentially a commodity product that is sensitive to price. Pricing for health insurance products is 
based on estimates of: 

• Historical cost experience,  

• Inflationary trend per unit of healthcare services,  

• Trends in utilization of healthcare services, 

• Estimates of insurer expense levels and 

• Investment earnings.  

Actual experience may deviate from the estimates for these components. An insurer expects deviations and is hopeful 
that the sum of each of the individual deviations is within reasonable bounds. Pricing of health insurance products 
requires significant lead time and prices may be set as much as nine months in advance of the effective date for particular 
consumers. The historical claim cost experience used in pricing includes estimates for claims which have been incurred 
but not yet paid. The cost per unit of healthcare services reflects decisions by individual providers and, unless the 
provider contract is based on a fixed fee schedule, may only be known to the insurer based on claim submissions 
received. Utilization patterns may change and in particular, the introduction of new technology, including prescription 
drugs, may expose an insurer to unanticipated increases in claim cost. Insurer expense levels are subject to change, 
though generally corresponding to the compound effect of changes in the level of wages and the volume of transactions 
processed per member. Other than capital gains and losses associated with equity investments, the net investment 
income of insurance companies tends to be reasonably predictable because it is primarily in fixed income securities.  

Insurer product portfolios tend to contain similar products with minor variations. Purchase decisions are based on 
provider access, level of insured cost sharing, and price. With larger employer groups, administrative capability of the 
insurer becomes more important and the employer also may have some bargaining power over price. Price competition 
among insurers tends to drive product prices down and results in low profit margins.  

Insurers are also subject to regulatory risk. Health insurance, like all insurance products, is regulated at the state level. As 
the result of newly enacted state laws and regulation, an insurer may be required to provide a level of health care 
coverage that was not originally anticipated in product pricing. Such action may include: 

• Underwriting requirements; 

• Mandated coverage of specified health services; and  

• Specification of rating methodologies. 

Insurers may contract with the Commonwealth to administer and assume risk for Medicaid coverage. The level of 
compensation may not be adequate to cover the risk assumed. Medicare Advantage products are affected by action of 
the federal government that changes payments to insurers. Medicare Supplement products may be affected by changes in 
the Medicare benefit structure. 

Insurers are subject to several investment risks. Economic conditions may affect investment income received and the 
insurer may realize capital losses. Investment income and capital gains (net of federal income tax) are reflected in pre-tax 
net income. The insurer may also have unrealized capital losses on common stocks and investment partnerships,25 which 
result in a direct charge against surplus.26  

                                                      

25 The amount indicated in the statutory statement Page 2 line 7, whose source is Schedule BA. 
26 This is reflected in the statutory statement Page 5 line 36, whose source is the Exhibit of Capital Gains. 
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Insurers are subject to potential catastrophic events, such as major flu epidemic or a major building fire. An insurer would 
want to have sufficient surplus to survive certain catastrophic events. A few such events are modeled later in the report.  

What is a reasonable surplus?  
Growth in the absolute level of surplus may be desirable for several reasons. First, company management may have 
determined that an additional margin over any regulatory minimum surplus level is desirable in order to avoid the risk of 
regulatory action as the result of unanticipated negative financial results and the consequent negative publicity and 
scrutiny. Second, growth in the insurer’s business as a result of membership growth and the attendant premium growth 
will also increase the need for surplus in order to maintain the same relative position with respect to any benchmark that 
may be used. Finally, increases in premium that are the result of medical trend drive the need for additional surplus in 
order to maintain the same relative position with respect to any surplus benchmark.  

On the other hand, the accumulation of increasing amounts of surplus by insurers comes at the expense of the current 
affordability of health insurance. This is particularly true in Massachusetts, where almost all of the major health insurers 
are non-profit entities, which means that their surplus is accumulated through profits that come from their customers, 
either in the form of underwriting gains or investment income on the prior surplus generated by customer premiums. 
Thus while it is important for health insurers to have adequate surplus, there are costs for health plan members, 
customers and the public for surplus levels that are too large.  
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IV. Measuring Insurer Surplus: Findings and Observations  
Insurance enterprises (including health maintenance organizations) file prescribed financial statements on a quarterly and 
annual basis with state insurance regulators. The annual financial statements are more detailed than the quarterly ones. In 
the United States, insurance is regulated at the state level and each state has a regulatory framework under the 
supervision of an insurance Commissioner. Insurance Commissioners monitor the financial condition of licensed 
insurers to assure that the insurers will be able to meet their obligations to insured individuals and groups, and to 
providers of health care.  

The solvency of Massachusetts health insurers is regulated and monitored by the Massachusetts Division of Insurance 
(DOI). DOI reviews quarterly and annual financial statement filings and annual Risk Based Capital (RBC) filings to 
monitor reported assets, liabilities, income and expense. It also examines the finances and operations of health insurers 
in more detail through its regularly scheduled financial examinations which occur every three to five years. 

In monitoring solvency, the DOI considers quantitative and qualitative measures as authorized in Massachusetts 
insurance regulations, particularly 211 CMR 20, 211 CMR 25, 211 CMR 26 and 211 CMR 43. It also considers the 
appropriateness of the valuation of the company’s assets and the adequacy of the liabilities established. For health 
insurers, the most important liabilities are generally the estimated amount required to pay incurred but not paid claims 
(IBNR), those claims representing services that have already been incurred by health plan members, but which have not 
yet been processed and paid. DOI will also consider the trends in the insurer’s growth and profitability, and particularly 
if losses sustained in underwriting may lead to a reduction in surplus. In evaluating solvency, it also considers other 
elements of a company’s operations that may serve to increase or moderate risk.  

Statutory Accounting Principles 
Insurance Commissioners require from insurers meaningful financial, statistical, and operating information — including 
historical information for the purpose of identifying trends. The accounting system that has resulted is based on 
statutory accounting principles (SAP) and differs in some respects from generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP). The differences are more pronounced for life insurance than for health insurance. 

SAP originated on a state-by-state basis as recorded in laws, regulations and administrative practices. As a result, 
statutory reporting practices could vary from state-to-state. Moreover, insurers were not always consistent in their 
accounting practices, regulators were at times not familiar with practices followed by other states, and insurer’s financial 
statements were not prepared on a comparable basis. In order to address these issues, the National Association of 
Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) embarked on a process to codify SAP to require “more complete disclosures and 
more comparable financial statements, which will make the insurance departments’ analysis techniques more meaningful 
and effective.”27 

In response to actual and threatened insurer insolvencies in the late 1980s, the NAIC developed and implemented a risk 
based capital (RBC) system to define a minimum level of capital and surplus required to operate. The submission of an 
RBC report is currently part of the annual reporting cycle for insurers.  

In comparison to GAAP accounting principles, SAP is generally more conservative due to its focus on solvency. SAP 
places emphasis on the balance sheet and on the net worth of the enterprise (i.e. ability to meet obligations in the future) 
while GAAP accounting tends to focus more on the income statement and allocating transactions to the correct 
accounting period (i.e. matching revenue and expenses).  

 

                                                      

27 Accounting Practices and Procedures Manual (March 2002) Page P-3. 
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The following are some of the primary areas where GAAP and SAP differ: 

• Insurance policy obligations (reserves, claim reserves) may be established on a more conservative basis under SAP. 
This is reflected in prescribed practices and may also be reflected in explicit margins provided by individual 
companies. Under GAAP insurance policy obligations tend to be established using best expected estimate, rather 
than conservative, assumptions. 

• Certain assets are recognized under GAAP and are not admitted or not fully admitted under SAP. Examples include 
furniture and equipment, software development costs, goodwill related to acquisitions, due and uncollected 
premium and certain pre-paid expenses.  

• Deferred income tax asset is recognized with significant limitations under SAP. This impacts the health plans that 
are subject to federal income tax: BCBS, HNE, and UHNE. 

• Accounting for reinsurance may differ. For example, credit for unauthorized reinsurance is allowed under GAAP, 
but not under SAP. While this illustrates a difference between GAAP and SAP, none of the companies reviewed in 
this study appear to be affected. 

• A surplus note is characterized as a liability under GAAP and classified as a component of Capital and Surplus 
under SAP. 

Observations 
The reviewed companies reported a 2008 combined revenue of $13.5 billion. Taken together, BCBS and HMO Blue 
represented about half of that total amount.  

These insurers reported an average “Gain from Operations before FIT”28 of 1.7% of revenue in 2008, and 2.7% on 
average for the ten year period ending with 2008. FIT is an acronym meaning Federal Income Tax. Only BCBS, HNE, 
and UHNE in this study are subject to FIT. For those insurers, the “Gain from Operations before FIT” must be 
reduced by FIT to arrive at the final net gain. The other insurers are non-profit entities and not subject to FIT.  

The statutory statements report revenue by line of business: 

• Comprehensive hospital and medical (sometimes referred to as commercial) 

• Medicare Supplement 

• Federal Employees Health Benefit Plan (FEHBP) 

• Medicare (Medicare Advantage business) 

• Medicaid 

• All Other29 

Table 1 shows the 2008 revenue for the carriers by line of business (LOB). Please note that the companies are listed in 
alphabetical order throughout the report; the order of presentation is not meant to imply the relative size or importance 
of the individual companies. 

 
 

                                                      

28 As reported on Page 4, line 30 of the 2008 annual statement, and similarly in other years’ financial statements. 
29 There are further splits in the annual statement, but these relatively less common lines have been combined in the category (all other”). 
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Table 1.  2008 Revenue By LOB ($1,000,000) 

Carrier Total Comprehensive 
Medicare 

Supp FEHBP Medicare Medicaid All Other 

BCBS 2,229 1,183 446 415 - - 185 

HMO Blue 4,441 3,991 - - 416 - 34 

Fallon 987 534 - 32 366 55 - 

Harvard Pilgrim 2,049 1,798 - - 252 - - 

HNE 288 288 - - - - - 

Neighborhood 838 258 - - - 580 - 

Tufts 2,242 1,244 - - 973 - 25 

UHNE 381 72 - - 198 111 - 

Total 13,458 9,367 446 447 2,206 746 244 

BCBS&HMO Blue 6,670 5,174 446 415 416 - 219 

BCBS&HMO Blue % 50% 55% 100% 93% 19% 0% 90% 

 
Approximately 70% of total revenue relates to commercial or comprehensive hospital and medical business. Only BCBS 
writes Medicare Supplement business, while only BCBS and Fallon reported FEHBP business.  

Five of the carriers write Medicare Advantage business, and Medicare Advantage business is the second largest line. The 
largest Medicare Advantage carrier is Tufts, and Medicare Advantage represents almost $1 billion of revenue for Tufts, 
or 43% of Tuft’s total revenue. BCBS only writes Medicare Advantage business through HMO Blue. For all these 
companies taken together, Medicare Advantage business is 16% of total revenue. 

Only Neighborhood and Fallon write Medicaid business in Massachusetts, although UHNE writes Rhode Island 
Medicaid business. Medicaid business represents almost 70% of Neighborhood’s revenue, but only 6% of all companies 
taken together. 

All of these companies reported an underwriting gain in 2008, with the exception of HMO Blue, for a total of slightly 
less than $100 million.  

The most profitable line in total was Medicare Advantage business. Five of the six companies who offered Medicare 
Advantage reported underwriting gains, and the aggregate gain was $76 million. Harvard reported a loss on Medicare 
Advantage business of about $7 million.  

Conversely, the aggregate of all companies showed an underwriting loss on comprehensive or commercial business equal 
to about $24 million. This was dominated by large losses at HMO Blue and Tufts, while the other companies all had 
gains. The largest gain, $36 million, was at Harvard. 

BCBS was the only company in the Medicare Supplement market, and reported a higher 2008 underwriting gain in 
Medicare Supplement (almost $20 million) than in any other line. Medicaid business contributed almost $8 million in 
underwriting gain, and Neighborhood itself reported almost $8 million. Fallon had a gain of approximately $600,000, and 
UHNE reported a loss of approximately $400,000. 
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In addition, the companies analyzed reported a small loss in FEHBP business (less than $1 million), and $18 million of 
gains from all other lines of business, which was not analyzed in this report. Table 2 shows the distribution of 2008 
underwriting gain by company and by line of business. 

Table 2.  2008 Underwriting Gain by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

Carrier Total Comprehensive 
Medicare 

Supp FEHBP Medicare Medicaid All Other 

BCBS  38.9 10.8 19.5 (0.5) - - 9.1 

HMO Blue (37.3) (63.5) - - 19.2 - 7.0 

Fallon 6.1 1.4 - (0.2) 4.3 0.6 - 

Harvard Pilgrim 29.8 36.9 - - (7.1) - - 

HNE 4.9 4.9 - - - - 0.0 

Neighborhood 14.2 6.4 - - - 7.8 - 

Tufts 23.3 (22.9) - - 44.0 - 2.2 

UHNE 18.2 2.3 - - 16.3 (0.4) - 

Total 98.1 (23.6) 19.5 (0.8) 76.7 8.0 18.3 

BCBS & HMO Blue 1.7 (52.7) 19.5 (0.5) 19.2 - 16.1 

 
Non-admitted assets on a statutory basis constitute a significant amount relative to total admitted assets and surplus for 
BCBS and HMO Blue. Table 3 summarizes the non-admitted assets and its source for each company. A more detailed 
analysis of non-admitted assets is outside the scope of this study. However, it is important to recognize that, in the event 
of a significant call on company financial resources, the value represented by these assets may not be available or be 
available at a fraction of the non-admitted amount. 
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Table 3.  2008 Non-Admitted Assets ($1,000,000) 

 BCBS HMO Blue Fallon Harvard HNE Neighborhood Tufts UHNE 

Invested Assets 0.1 0.2 - - 0.2 0.2 39.0 - 

Uncollected Premiums 1.0 2.9 - 0.5 0.3 - - 0.1 

Receivable — Uninsured Plans 11.8 - - 0.0 - - - - 

Deferred Tax Asset 427.8 - - - 0.9 - - 0.4 

Computer Equip. & Software 127.3 112.9 17.2 39.0 0.5 - 6.3 - 

Furniture & Equipment 29.2 25.9 0.9 10.9 0.4 1.7 11.1 - 

Receivable from Affiliates - - 0.5 - 0.1 - - - 

Healthcare Receivable 1.8 6.9 - 0.0 0.2 0.5 17.7 0.2 

Prepaid Expenses 144.3 3.0 2.0 5.8 1.1 1.1 - 0.3 

Other 1.1 - 0.0 - 0.0 6.3 0.8 - 

Total 744.4 151.7 20.7 56.3 3.6 9.8 74.9 1.1 

         

Total Admitted Assets 1,841.1 1,268.8 281.4 748.2 86.2 288.3 728.1 198.1 

Total Surplus 614.2 707.0 122.5 386.7 38.4 153.2 435.8 125.5 

% of Admitted Assets 40.4% 12.0% 7.4% 7.5% 4.2% 3.4% 10.3% 0.5% 

% of Surplus 121.2% 21.5% 16.9% 14.6% 9.4% 6.4% 17.2% 0.8% 

 
Regulations Regarding Risk Based Capital 
The concept of “risk based capital” (RBC) was introduced for the purpose of evaluating the degree of risk assumed by 
an insurer and establishing a structure for regulatory action if an insurer’s surplus dropped below specified thresholds. 
Each health insurer is required to perform a calculation of its RBC requirement. The result of the calculations is a dollar 
amount which, when compared to the company’s surplus, provides an indicator of capital adequacy and provides triggers 
for regulatory intervention as prescribed.  

The RBC formula for determining the minimum required surplus takes into consideration five different kinds of risk — 
the asset risk of affiliates, risk due to other assets (including other invested assets), underwriting risk, credit risk, and 
general business risk. For the health plans in this study, underwriting risk is the greatest contributor to the amount 
calculated from the formula. Appendix 3 provides a detailed discussion of each of these risks and how they contribute to 
the formula that determines the overall RBC ratio.  

The calculation formula specifications are published by the NAIC and are subject to change from year to year. Individual 
states may adopt the NAIC model act30 with possible variations. The model act itself does not include the formula, but 
specifies instead that the formula must be applied and how the results should be used. The Massachusetts version of the 
model is expressed in 211 CMR 20 for life and health insurance companies that are licensed under Chapter 175 and 211 
CMR 25 for a non-profit hospital service corporation authorized under chapter 176A, a non-profit medical service 

                                                      

30 Risk Based Capital for Health Organizations Model Act. 
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corporation authorized under chapter 176B, and HMOs authorized under chapter 176G. (The references to corporations 
authorized under chapter 176A and 176B are to BCBS. The other companies in this study are all 176G companies.) 

These regulations require that entities prepare and submit on an annual basis a report of its RBC level for the most 
recent calendar year with DOI and NAIC. The report is required to be submitted on or before March 1 of each year. 
The contents of the RBC report are confidential and are not available to the general public. The annual statutory 
statement instructions require the insurer to report the amounts calculated as the Authorized Control Level (ACL) and 
the Total Adjusted Capital (TAC).31 

The Authorized Control Level is 50% of the amount calculated in accordance with the instructions of the RBC process. 
Total Adjusted Capital is equal to statutory capital and surplus plus any adjustments as required by RBC instructions.32 
The ratio of these two items is used by regulators as an indicator of the financial health of an insurer and is generally 
referred to as the “RBC ratio.” 

Both 211 CMR 20 and 211 CMR 25 define regulatory levels of surplus based on RBC33 as calculated in accordance with 
instructions specified by NAIC: 

• Company Action Level (2.0 times Authorized Control Level) 

• Regulatory Action Level (1.5 times Authorized Control Level) 

• Authorized Control Level (as determined by RBC formula) 

• Mandatory Control Level (.70 times Authorized Control Level) 

Accordingly, the lower the RBC ratio, the more severe financial condition the plan confronts — requiring more decisive 
action taken by DOI. A company may be subject to specified action by DOI whenever the surplus is less than 200% of 
the ACL. This suggests that the Company Action Level (CAL) defines a floor for a company’s capital and surplus under 
ordinary conditions. In practice it would be desirable for a company to establish a goal that is in excess of this amount in 
order to provide reasonable assurance that the company does not become subject to regulatory action due to ordinary 
fluctuations in its business. On the other hand, it is not necessary to target a surplus level such that the likelihood of ever 
going below the Company Action Level is “minimal.” The CAL exists to trigger business planning to address changed 
circumstances. 

Blue Cross Blue Shield Association Requirement 
BCBS is the licensee for Massachusetts of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield trademarks. If the RBC ratio falls below 375%, 
it triggers an “early warning” from the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association (Association). An “early warning” results in 
active monitoring by the Association of financial results. The 300% RBC level triggers the “concern” level, which may 
result in more active monitoring by the Association. If the RBC ratio falls below 200%, the company may lose the right 
to use the Blue Cross Blue Shield trademarks. The Association requirement is also applicable to HMO Blue. The 
Association’s RBC ratio requirements are significantly higher than the monitoring levels in Massachusetts regulation, 
which are based on the NAIC model law. 

Results of Analysis 
For each of the carriers included in this review, the RBC ratio exceeded the requirements of 211 CMR 25 and was 
significantly above the 200% level. Tables 4 and 5 indicate the surplus or TAC amount, the minimum requirement or 
ACL amount, and the RBC ratio at year end 2007 and 2008 for each of the selected insurers. 

                                                      

31 These amounts are reported in the Five-Year Historical Exhibit of the annual statutory statement filed by insurers. 
32 As defined in 211 CMR 25, TAC is generally the same as the statutory capital and surplus that is reported on page 3 of their annual financial statements for each of 
the years in the analysis.   
33 A more detailed description of the RBC calculation process is provided in Appendix 3. 
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Table 4.  Net Worth ($1,000,000) and RBC Ratio — 2007 

Company Reported TAC Reported ACL Ratio 

BCBS 705.7 99.7 708% 

HMO Blue 880.6 170.8 516% 

Fallon 171.5 30.3 566% 

Harvard 373.5 69.3 539% 

HNE 36.0 9.9 363% 

Neighborhood 132.8 21.7 617% 

Tufts 547.5 69.3 790% 

UHNE 119.3 11.8 1015% 

Total 2,966.8 482.8 615% 

Table 5.  Net Worth ($1,000,000) and RBC Ratio — 2008 

Company Reported TAC Reported ACL Ratio 

BCBS 614.2 96.0 640% 

HMO Blue 707.0 165.6 427% 

Fallon 122.5 33.0 372% 

Harvard 386.7 74.8 517% 

HNE 38.4 10.4 369% 

Neighborhood 153.2 28.4 540% 

Tufts 435.8 81.5 535% 

UHNE 125.5 12.4 1013% 

Total 2,583.4 502.0 515% 

 
For year end 2008, the reported RBC ratios for these companies range from approximately 370% (Fallon and Health 
NE) to 640% for BCBS and slightly over 1000% for UHNE. The average for all companies was 515%. For BCBS and 
HMO Blue combined, the 2008 RBC ratio is 505%. 

The average RBC ratio for all companies declined by 100% of ACL from 615% in 2007 to 515% in 2008. While this 
information is only reported annually, it would be reasonable to assume that RBC ratios have declined further in the first 
quarter of 2009 as the unfavorable economic climate has continued. Indeed, every company in this study experienced a 
decline in RBC ratio in 2008 as compared to 2007, except for HNE and UHNE which were approximately level. The 
largest declines in RBC ratio were for Fallon at approximately 195% and Tufts at over 250% of Authorized Control 
Level. These declines were caused by a combination of lower than average underwriting income, realized and unrealized 
capital losses on investments, the need to add to surplus each year to keep the ratio constant, given the continuing 
upward trend in revenue, and the proportional upward trend in the RBC requirement under the formula. 
Neighborhood’s surplus increased during 2008. However, due to a decrease in underwriting gain and significant growth 
of its business, Neighborhood’s surplus requirement grew faster than its surplus, and therefore its RBC ratio declined.  
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2009 RBC ratios in Table 5b are self-reported carrier numbers and have not been verified by DOI or DHCFP. These 
figures are provided as reference information only. 

Table 6b.  Self-Reported 2009 RBC 
Ratio 

Company 2009 

BCBS 724% 

HMO Blue 423% 

BCBS & HMO Blue 534% 

Fallon 271% 

Harvard-Pilgrim 479% 

Health NE 370% 

Neighborhood 369% 

Tufts 600% 

UHNE 862% 

The type of assets that are invested in by a plan has an impact on the ACL amount and consequently on the RBC ratio. 
HMO Blue, BCBS, Tufts, and Fallon have a substantial portion of their invested assets in equity type assets — common 
stocks and equity investments in partnerships listed in Schedule BA of the annual financial statement. In the calculation 
of the asset component of the RBC formula, equity investments entail greater risk as the factor applied to the statement 
value of such assets is greater than that applicable to high quality long-term bonds (see table 6).  

Table 6.  Asset Risk Factors 

Asset Type % Factor* 

Bonds — U.S. Guaranteed 0.0% 

Bonds — High quality 0.3% 

Real Estate 10.0% 

Common Stocks 15.0% 

Mortgages 10.0% 

Schedule BA Equity 20.0% 

* Applied to statement value 

Table 6 suggests that investment decisions by the insurer with respect to asset types involve not only consideration of 
short-term and long-term returns and potential income statement and surplus level volatility, but also has implications 
for the insurer’s RBC ratio.  

In order for an insurer to achieve a desired RBC ratio, the required amount of surplus will directly depend on the type of 
investments held by the insurer.34 The sources of this surplus for a non-profit insurer are limited to investment gains (net 
                                                      

34 Investment characteristics are one of many variables that impact the calculated ACL amount 
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investment income and realized and unrealized capital gains) and underwriting gains.35 In particular, once having 
achieved a desirable RBC ratio, an insurer may “free up” surplus by a shift to less risky assets36 and such “freed up” 
surplus may be available for other uses. 

The effect of converting reported equity investments from year end 2007 into high quality bonds is modeled in Table 
7.37 The results of that analysis indicate that, if health plans shifted equity based investments to high quality bonds, the 
ACL amount for the reviewed health plans would be reduced by approximately $54 million. In turn, this would reduce 
the target amount of surplus for which insurers would aim. For example, if insurers as a group targeted a level of surplus 
that corresponds to an 800% RBC ratio, by shifting from equity type investments to high quality long-term bonds, the 
dollar amount of target surplus would be reduced by approximately $430 million in aggregate.  

Table 7.  2007 Modeled ACL ($1,000,000) Impact on ACL of No Equity Investments 

Company 
Modeled ACL 

(Reported Equity) 
Modeled ACL 
(No Equity) Reduction — $ Reduction — % 

BCBS 93.1 65.8 27.30 29% 

HMO Blue 165.8 149.8 16.00 10% 

Fallon 29 26.6 2.40 8% 

Harvard 60.4 60.4 - 0% 

HNE 10.1 10.1 - 0% 

Neighborhood 21.7 21.7 - 0% 

Tufts 68.3 60.0 8.30 12% 

UHNE 11.9 11.9 - 0% 

Total 460.2 406.3 53.90 12% 

Additionally, shifting more risk to providers would affect the underwriting risk component of the RBC calculation and 
would result in a reduction of the minimum required surplus amount. It should be noted however that reducing 
underwriting risk to insurers by shifting more risk to providers may not reduce overall health system risk when one 
considers the combined universe of both insurers and providers, and that hospitals and other providers may not be as 
capable of managing risk as health plans. In the event that a provider is unable to meet its obligations to a member under 
a contract with a health plan, the health plan is still required to provide the services to the member. 

Minimum Surplus Requirements 
In addition to the requirements of 211 CMR 25, health maintenance organizations are subject to the minimum net worth 
requirements stated in Section 7 of 211 CMR 43.00. HMOs must maintain an adjusted net worth equal to the greatest of 
the following four items: 

• On issuance of a license to operate an HMO, the HMO must have an initial adjusted net worth of $1,500,000, 

• If licensed January 1, 2004 or later, the minimum adjusted net worth that must be maintained is the larger of: 

                                                      

35 The issuance of a surplus note can also be a source of additional surplus for an insurer. 
36 For example, by shifting from common stocks to high quality bonds. 
37 The modeling did not assume any change in investment of company owned and occupied real estate. 
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– $1,000,000, 

– 2% of annual premium as reported on the most recent annual statement on the first $150 Million of premium 
plus 1% of annual premium in excess of $150 Million, 

– Three months of uncovered expenditures based on the most recent financial statement, 

– The sum of 8% of claims, excluding those paid on a capitated basis or managed hospital payment basis, plus 
4% of annual hospital expenditures paid on a managed hospital payment basis as reported on the most recent 
statement filed with the Commissioner. 

• If licensed prior to January 1, 2004 the minimum adjusted net worth that must be maintained is a percentage of the 
amount calculated according to the preceding bullet. For 2008 the applicable percentage is 70% and grades to 100% 
by December 31, 2010. 

Chapter 176G, Section 25 (c) permits an HMO already licensed prior to January 1, 2004 to grade into the full 
requirement on the following schedule: 

(1) 10% as of December 31, 2004,  

(2) 25% as of December 31, 2005, 

(3) 40% as of December 31, 2006, 

(4) 55% as of December 31, 2007, 

(5) 70% as of December 31, 2008, 

(6) 85% as of December 31, 2009, and 

(7) 100% as of December 31, 2010. 

The statutory financial statement requires a disclosure of any minimum statutory net worth requirement that the insurer 
may be subject to, the amount of the calculated minimum net worth requirement and the method by which it is 
calculated.38  

BCBS is not regulated as an HMO and is not subject to the requirements of 211 CMR 43. Instead, BCBS is subject to a 
minimum net worth requirement stated in the enabling legislation that permitted the merger of Blue Cross and Blue 
Shield in 1988, Chapter 160 of the Public Acts of 1988. Additionally, BCBS and HMO Blue are subject to a “keep well” 
agreement that allows the DOI to require either company to enhance its surplus through the issuance of a surplus note 
to the other.39 

These insurers reported total surplus in 2008 of almost $2.6 billion, well above the statutory minimum surplus 
requirements that totaled $800 million,40 even when adjusted to the 100% level. Because Massachusetts minimum 
surplus requirements are graded in through 2010, the 2008 required minimum level is only 70% of the amount 
determined by the statutory formula.  

Table 8 provides some key 2008 statistics about revenue, membership and surplus.  

 

                                                      

38 The required disclosures are in the General Interrogatories Part 2 Interrogatory 11.2–11.6. 
39 BCBS 2008 statutory statement, Note 10E in Notes to Financial Statements. A similar statement appears in the HMO Blue 2008 statutory statement.  
40 The formula for determining the minimum net worth requirement for HMOs is contained in 211 CMR 43.07. 
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Table 8.  2008 Key Statistics 

Carrier 
Revenue 

($1,000,000) 

Member 
Months 
(000) 

Surplus 
($1,000,000) 

Statutory 
Minimum 
Surplus 

($1,000,000) 
[adjusted to 
100% level]* SAPOR RBC Ratio 

Statutory 
Minimum 
Surplus at 
100% level 

as % of 
ACL 

BCBS 2,229 7,210 614 110 28% 640% 114% 

HMO Blue 4,441 11,434 707 310 16% 427% 187% 

Fallon 987 2,067 123 45 12% 372% 137% 

Harvard Pilgrim 2,049 4,911 387 111 19% 517% 148% 

HNE 288 846 38 16 13% 369% 158% 

Neighborhood 838 2,182 153 51 18% 540% 180% 

Tufts 2,242 4,374 436 135 19% 535% 165% 

UHNE 381 1,117 125 34 33% 1013% 275% 

Total or  
Weighted Average 

13,458 34,143 2,583 812 19% 515% 162% 

* UHNE required minimum surplus is set by RI at 275% RBC, unlike MA minimum required surplus; BCBS required minimum surplus is not graded, and so is 
already at 100% of ultimate level. The carriers have surplus as a percent of revenue (SAPOR) ranging from 12% for Fallon and 13% for Health NE to 28% for 
BCBS and 33% for UHNE. The average for all companies is 19%. For BCBS and HMO Blue combined, the 2008 SAPOR is approximately 20%. 

 
Invested Assets 
An HMO’s assets are derived from initial and subsequent capital contributions, surplus notes41 if any, accumulated prior 
year earnings and amounts held for unpaid obligations, principally related to unpaid health insurance claims. The major 
portion of these assets is held in investments.  

A health plan’s investments may have a relatively short duration to maturity in order to match duration of the liabilities 
and to provide liquidity. The largest portion of a health plan’s liabilities relates to incurred but not paid health claims. 
The liabilities of a health plan are generally short-term in nature. Claims are typically paid within 60 days of the incurred 
date and the health plan may reflect this in its asset strategy by investing in relatively short maturity term assets. The 
assets that correspond to the health plan’s capital and surplus should also be readily marketable since surplus may be 
required to meet unforeseen circumstances., However, since the money a health plan holds in surplus is intended to be 
maintained long-term, the typical portfolio for a health plan may reflect a compromise between durational matching and 
investing longer term to produce an attractive investment yield.  

A health plan’s investment strategy may reflect: 

• Type of liabilities and their duration that are backed by these assets 

• Type of assets — reflecting acceptable quality characteristics and duration to maturity 

                                                      

41 Surplus Notes are notes issued by an insurer in a format approved by insurance regulators such that the notes are subordinated to policyholder claims and all 
payments of interest and principal are subject to approval by the regulator. 
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• Desired yield characteristics 

• Level of risk that the health plan is willing to assume 

• Treatment under statutory accounting 

• Impact on RBC 

None of the health plans included in this analysis have been asked to provide any internal company investment strategy 
documents.  

Most of a health plan’s assets consist of invested assets, ranging from 62% of total assets for BCBS to 96% of total 
assets for HMO Blue with a weighted average of 82%.  

In addition to invested assets, health plans report non-invested assets, which are primarily amounts receivable from 
various sources. BCBS, for example, has large receivables related to uninsured plans.42 Table 9 indicates the amount of 
invested assets and total assets for each health plan included in this study as reported in their 2008 annual statements.  

Table 9.  2008 Invested Assets as % of Total Assets ($1,000,000) 

Company Invested Assets Total Assets % Invested Assets 

BCBS 1,145 1,841 62.2% 

BCBS HMO Blue 1,224 1,269 96.4% 

Fallon 257 281 91.5% 

Harvard 653 748 87.3% 

Health NE 77 86 89.4% 

Neighborhood 262 288 90.9% 

Tufts 679 728 93.2% 

UHNE 177 198 89.2% 

Total 4,475 5,440 82.3% 

 
Categories of invested assets listed on the annual statutory statement include:43 

• Bonds 

• Preferred stocks 

• Common stocks 

• Mortgages  

• Company occupied real estate 

• Investment real estate 
                                                      

42 Such receivables relate to ASO and ASC plans where the insurer pays claims on behalf of the employer and bills the employer subsequently. BCBSMA disclosed in 
its 2008 statutory statement, Notes to Financial Statements, Note 20D that it had a receivable of $537.7 Million related to uninsured plans. 
43 See for example Page 2 of the annual statutory statement; details of individual investments are indicated in various schedules that are an integral part of the annual 
statement 
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• Real estate held for sale 

• Cash and short-term investments 

• Contract loans 

• Other Invested Assets (reported in Schedule BA) 

• Other (investment receivables and miscellaneous items) 

Table 10 indicates the distribution of investments by investment type at year end 2008: 

Table 10.  2008 Distribution of Invested Assets by Type 

Company Bonds Pref. Stocks 
Common 
Stocks Mortgages 

Company 
Occupied RE Other RE Cash and ST Other 

BCBS 35% 0% 15% 0% 11% 0% 7% 32% 

BCBS HMO Blue 38% 0% 17% 0% 9% 0% 7% 29% 

Fallon 48% 0% 36% 0% 0% 0% 6% 10% 

Harvard 83% 0% 9% 0% 0% 1% 6% 1% 

Health NE 78% 0% 3% 0% 0% 0% 19% 0% 

Neighborhood 92% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 8% 0% 

Tufts 38% 0% 39% 0% 14% 0% 10% 0% 

UHNE 89% 0% 8% 0% 0% 0% 4% 0% 

 
The “Other” category consists primarily of equity type investments that are included in Schedule BA of the annual 
financial statement. The distribution of invested assets by asset type varies substantially among the companies included 
in this analysis, based on each company’s investment strategy, its willingness to assume investment risk, and the nature of 
the liabilities that are backed by these assets.  

Long-term bonds (including both corporate and US government bonds) are the predominant investment category 
among the surveyed health plans. Fifty-one percent of total invested assets for these health plans were in bonds as of 
year end 2008. There is considerable variation among the companies, with a low of 38% for HMO Blue and a high of 
92% for Neighborhood. Annual Statement Schedule D, Part A Section 1 categorizes a company’s bond portfolio by 
NAIC quality designation. A review of this section of the annual statement for each of the companies indicates that 
bonds held by the companies generally have the highest quality rating.  

Table 11 summarizes bond holdings as a percent of invested assets over the ten year period reviewed in this study. BCBS 
has decreased the portion of its portfolio invested in bonds significantly over the ten year period. 
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Table 11.  Invested Assets — Bonds 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS 60% 64% 60% 59% 47% 37% 39% 38% 36% 35% 

BCBS HMO Blue - - - - - - 40% 37% 35% 38% 

Fallon 34% 37% 48% 38% 40% 43% 49% 49% 47% 48% 

Harvard 88% 38% 22% 52% 67% 81% 83% 81% 78% 83% 

HNE 45% 14% 25% 72% 77% 96% 91% 86% 79% 78% 

Neighborhood - 62% 75% 73% 71% 76% 71% 90% 87% 92% 

Tufts 27% 27% 24% 25% 33% 31% 35% 33% 32% 38% 

UHNE 67% 80% 87% 80% 49% 51% 57% 57% 90% 89% 

 
Preferred stock is not a common investment for these companies. Five of the reviewed companies have relatively small 
amounts invested in preferred stocks, each less than 0.5%, while the remaining health plans have none. 

Common stocks represent 18% of invested assets for these health plans. The common stocks category also includes 
shares in mutual funds. Depending on the underlying assets, mutual funds may involve less volatility than a portfolio of 
common stocks. Table 12 summarizes the portion of invested assets that was invested in common stocks for each health 
plan during the ten year period. 

Table 12.  Invested Assets — Common Stocks 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS 13% 26% 27% 33% 45% 47% 18% 13% 15% 15% 

BCBS HMO Blue - - - - - - 17% 15% 15% 17% 

Fallon 18% 16% 13% 14% 15% 33% 39% 40% 40% 36% 

Harvard 0% 2% 3% 2% 2% 2% 3% 5% 6% 9% 

HNE 3% 1% 0% 0% 1% -1% 0% 6% 6% 3% 

Neighborhood - 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Tufts 46% 39% 39% 45% 51% 49% 51% 46% 44% 39% 

UHNE 0% 0% 17% 24% 56% 47% 46% 15% 6% 8% 

 
The amount invested in common stocks varies considerably by health plan. Neighborhood does not own any common 
stocks and HNE has 3% of invested assets in common stocks. In contrast, Fallon and Tufts have 36% and 39% 
respectively at year end 2008. Investment in common stocks has changed considerably over the ten year timeframe for 
some companies. BCBS has decreased its investment in common stocks (including equities classified as “other invested 
assets” from the 50% range in 2003–2005 time period to approximately 39% at the end of 2008. Fallon has increased its 
investment in common stocks from 14% in 1999 to the 40% range in 2008. Tufts maintained a 40% or greater level of 
investment. It should be noted the percentage of invested assets in common stocks at the end of 2008 was significantly 
impacted by the recent decline of the stock market, as noted by the level of realized and unrealized capital gains reported 
in the 2008 statutory statements.  
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None of the companies reviewed in this study have invested directly in mortgage loans. Mortgage related securities may 
be included in other investment categories.  

Only HMO Blue, BCBS and Tufts own company occupied real estate. This investment category represents 9%, 11%, 
and 14% respectively of these companies’ total investment portfolio, and 7% of the total invested assets of all the 
reviewed companies at year end 2008.  

Only Harvard owns any investment real estate and this represents 1% of Harvard’s investment portfolio.  

Cash and short-term investments are 7% of invested assets for this group of health plans at year end 2008. HNE is the 
highest at 19 %, while BCBS, HMO Blue, Fallon and Harvard Pilgrim are all at approximately the 7% level.  

The “Other Invested Assets”44 category is 17% of invested assets for the reviewed health plans. HMO Blue and BCBS 
have 29% and 32% of their invested assets in this category while Fallon is at 10%. For these companies, most of the 
assets included in this category are investments listed in Schedule BA and consist of partnership interests and other 
equity type investments. Table 13 summarizes the portion of invested assets that is Other Invested Assets for each of the 
health plans during the relevant ten year period. 

Table 13.  Invested Assets — Other Invested Assets 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS 0% 0% 3% 0% 1% 1% 35% 33% 39% 32% 

BCBS HMO Blue - - - - - - 34% 34% 35% 29% 

Fallon 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 10% 10% 12% 10% 

Harvard 1% 1% 11% 5% 3% 1% 1% 3% 1% 1% 

HNE 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Neighborhood - 2% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Tufts 0% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

UHNE 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
Investment income earned on invested assets45 is reflected in the health plan’s gain from operations. Investment income 
is an important source of profitability for health plans. Table 14 indicates investment income as a percentage of Pre-FIT 
gain from operations. Note that in 2008 several companies had net investment income that was greater than 100% of 
before-FIT gain from operations, indicating that those companies had either underwriting losses or realized capital losses 
in 2008. 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                      

44 Included in this category are the amounts contained in Lines 6-9 of Page 2 of the 2008 annual statutory statement (similar inclusion in other years). 
45Net Investment income is reported on Line 25, Page 4 of the 2008 annual statutory statement and is net of investment expenses (a similar statement applies to other 
years). 
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Table 14.  Net Investment Income as a percentage of Pre-FIT Gain from Operations 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS 55.2% 46.1% 50.3% 47.0% 24.0% 27.3% 24.6% 37.6% 32.3% 51.9% 

BCBS HMO Blue 94.7% 60.1% 63.5% 67.5% 27.1% 31.0% 25.6% 68.7% 84.5% 265.4% 

Fallon -25.0% 65.6% 15.4% 45.5% 27.9% 17.8% 29.7% 41.9% 63.2% 114.2% 

Harvard -9.1% -74.8% 22.7% 20.2% 21.1% 40.1% 31.6% 40.6% 59.4% 42.6% 

HNE -21.8% 96.6% 65.2% 66.1% 24.6% 17.1% 13.9% 6.0% 41.0% 63.6% 

Neighborhood - 72.6% -229.0% -12.2% 9.9% 7.0% 27.6% 24.2% 25.4% 37.4% 

Tufts 63.9% 24.9% 34.9% 62.7% 21.2% 80.6% 28.7% 32.8% 35.8% 503.7% 

UHNE -173.1% 27.6% 21.4% 18.6% 24.0% 8.0% 25.2% 32.8% 24.5% 30.1% 
 
Realized capital gains are reflected in the health plan’s gain from operation and, as expected, vary significantly by year 
and by health plan. Variability by health plan is reflective of individual company decisions to sell assets and the type of 
assets sold. Health plans with extensive investments in common stocks are more likely to have significant capital gains or 
losses. Table 15 shows realized capital gains as a percentage of Pre-FIT gain from operations. 

Table 15.  Realized Capital Gains as a percentage of Pre-FIT Gain from Operations 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS HMO Blue 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 30% 13% 57% 6% 

BCBS 9% -4% -19% -48% 5% 6% 17% 12% 17% 6% 

HNE 1% -2% 0% 0% 0% -6% -1% 1% -2% -41% 

Tufts 30% 21% -6% -30% 16% 31% 13% 4% 34% -794% 

UHNE 0% -1% 1% 0% 7% 1% -1% 0% 0% -1% 

Fallon -1% 2% -1% 2% 0% -2% -5% 11% -2% -67% 

Harvard 0% 0% 1% 8% 11% 2% -1% -2% 4% -5% 

Neighborhood - 0% -72% -3% 4% -1% -3% 1% 1% 5% 

Note: BCBS, HNE, and UHNE are subject to FIT, other companies are not subject to FIT 

 
Long-term bonds and preferred stocks are generally reflected in the statutory statement at their amortized value. In the 
event of a default, the securities are reflected based on their fair market value. Consequently, changes in the market value of 
bonds (i.e. unrealized gains and losses) have minimal impact on the health plan’s surplus. Table 16 indicates the excess of 
statement value over market value in 2007 and 2008. Harvard was most significantly impacted by changes in the market 
value of its long-term bond portfolio. For Harvard, the $44.6 million difference between statement value and market value 
is an unrealized loss and corresponds to approximately 12% of the company’s surplus. Only if Harvard had to liquidate its 
long-term bond portfolio would this unrealized loss result in a reduction in surplus. However, insurance companies, 
including health plans, generally hold bonds to maturity and variation in market value of fixed investments does not affect 
statutory annual statements. If a health plan were in financial difficulty to the extent that it had to liquidate investments in 
order to pay claims, then the financial difficulty would be exacerbated if investments were sold below book value.  
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Table 16.  Excess of Statement Value over Market Value, 
Long-term Bonds and Preferred Stocks 

 ($1,000) 

Company 2007 2008 

BCBS HMO Blue 5,682 (1,154) 

BCBS 5,069 (3,394) 

Health NE 94 (3,049) 

Tufts 6,220 (4,348) 

UHNE 1,670 288 

Fallon 997 (2,881) 

Harvard (951) (44,643) 

Neighborhood 3,374 6,127 

 
Common stocks and Schedule BA assets are generally reflected in the statutory statements at fair market value. The 
change in unrealized gains and losses from year to year on common stocks and Schedule BA assets and other asset 
“markdowns” does not affect the health plan’s income statement, but is reflected as an adjustment to a health plan’s 
surplus. Due to market conditions, a health plan can experience significant fluctuations in the fair market value of 
common stocks and Schedule BA assets from year to year. If such assets are a significant percentage of the health plan’s 
capital and surplus, the health plan can experience large swings in the level of surplus. This effect is readily observable in 
the 2008 reported results of certain of the carriers. Table 17 and Table 18 indicate the change in unrealized capital gains46 
as a percentage of Pre-FIT gain from operations and as a percentage of year end surplus respectively. 

Table 17.  Unrealized Capital Gains as a percentage of Pre-FIT Gain from Operations 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS -3% -25% -2% 35% 33% 14% -11% 26% 5% -154% 

BCBS HMO Blue 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% -22% 55% 6% -857% 

Fallon 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 10% -345% 

Harvard 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 3% 1% 5% -26% 

HNE 3% -4% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 3% 3% -19% 

Neighborhood 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Tufts 22% -21% -7% -19% 61% 116% -11% 14% -31% -1265% 

UHNE 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Note: BCBS, HNE, and UHNE are subject to FIT, other companies are not subject to FIT 

                                                      

46 Only those unrealized gains/losses that are reflected as an adjustment to surplus. 
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Table 18.  Unrealized Capital Gains as a percentage of Surplus 

Company 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

BCBS -1% -8% -1% 7% 11% 4% -3% 4% 1% -23% 

BCBS HMO Blue 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% -4% 5% 0% -26% 

Fallon 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% -33% 

Harvard 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 0% 1% -3% 

HNE -3% -1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 1% 1% -3% 

Neighborhood 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Tufts 8% -12% -3% -4% 12% 6% -2% 2% -5% -18% 

UHNE 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
Tables 16, 17, and 18 suggest that investments in common stocks and Schedule BA assets can result in significant 
variability in a health plan’s surplus position for reasons unrelated to its principal business.  

The higher risk associated with common stocks and equity type investments included in Schedule BA is reflected in the 
RBC calculation.47 While the RBC factor for high quality bonds is 0.3%, the factor for non-affiliated common stocks is 
15%, and the factor for non-affiliated Schedule BA assets is generally 20%. Thus, investment in common stocks and 
Schedule BA assets, rather than high quality long-term bonds, requires a significantly higher level of surplus in order to 
achieve the same RBC ratio.  

                                                      

47 A detailed description of the contribution of invested assets to the amount of risk based capital is included in Appendix 3. 
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V. Modeling of Surplus Demand Scenarios 
In order to understand the possible effect of major adverse events on a health plan’s surplus and RBC position, a 
number of potential adverse scenarios were modeled: 

1. Mispricing and/or competitive pressures resulting in a 5% increase in loss ratio48 

2. 10% realized and unrealized loss on equity investments49 

3. Flu epidemic, resulting in average $500 excess cost on 1/3 of members 

4. Drug resistant TB epidemic resulting in average cost of $200,000 for 2,000 members 

5. Building fire resulting in average cost of $2 million for 40 members that is concentrated with a single carrier 

6. A catastrophic event resulting in $100,000 cost for each of 20,000 members 

These are not doomsday scenarios, nor are they particularly likely. However, they provide a framework for 
understanding the challenges to health insurer surplus given major events. As of year end 2008, excluding UHNE, 
Massachusetts plans surplus levels range from about 370% to about 640% RBC. 

Each of the scenarios was modeled against a baseline of the 2008 financial results, including the December 31, 2008 
surplus level. The estimated impact of each of the events on an insurer’s surplus took into account the individual 
retention limit that is reported in the annual statement. The effect of catastrophic stop loss arrangement was not 
considered because this information is not reflected in the statutory statement. Moreover, no morbidity “windfall” 
scenarios were modeled because surplus and the need for surplus within an insurance enterprise are the focuses of this 
analysis. 

A mispricing on the order of 5% increase in loss ratio would cause approximately a 100-150 point decline in RBC ratios, 
depending on the carrier. This alone would result in reducing the RBC range for the Massachusetts plans to 
approximately 215% to 550%. Note that every company studied had a variation of at least 5% from its lowest to its 
highest loss ratio year during the ten year study period, and one company experienced a 15% variation. Therefore, it 
seems reasonable that a 5% deviation could reoccur. 

Ten percent loss on equity investments would reduce RBC levels by about 40 points for those companies with 
significant equity investments, and not at all for other companies. 

Each of the flu, drug resistant TB and building fire scenarios could result in approximately a 100 point decrease in RBC 
ratio, while the modeled terrorist event would be a much greater decrease, and would threaten the solvency of some of 
the plans if it were to occur. 

The most challenging scenario that might occur would be where one or more plans experience a period of mispricing or 
expense growth that is not managed well, which is then compounded by an external catastrophic event. That could result 
in a decline in surplus below statutorily defined RBC trigger levels. 

It should be noted that well managed plans without fundamental inefficiencies should be able to restore surplus after a 
period of significant surplus decline through proper pricing and good expense management. 

 
                                                      

48 The companies included in this study have not experienced such fluctuations in loss ratio in recent years. However significant increases in loss ratios were 
experienced in the late 1990’s.  
49 Because 2008 financial results already reflected a significant downturn in the equity markets, a 10% further deterioration was assumed for this scenario.  
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Table 19 summarizes the various scenarios that were modeled: 

Table 19.  Reduction in RBC Ratio of Event 

 2008 Baseline 

Company Flu Epidemic Drug Resistant TB Building Fire 
Catastrophic 

Incident 
10% 

Investment Loss 

HMO Blue 103% 103% 102% 114% 36% 

BCBS 103% 103% 102% 113% 39% 

Fallon 103% 103% 103% 113% 37% 

Harvard Pilgrim 104% 103% 103% 116% 1% 

Health NE 105% 104% 104% 121% 3% 

Neighborhood 105% 104% 104% 122% 0% 

Tufts 103% 102% 103% 111% 35% 

UHNE 105% 104% 127% 122% 7% 
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VI. Comparison of Insurer Surplus Requirements to Other States 
In consultation with DHCFP and DOI, a group of peer states was selected which also have strong local non-profit 
health insurers and are perceived to have strong insurance regulatory environments. The states reviewed were California, 
Colorado, Illinois, Maryland, Michigan, New York, Pennsylvania, and Rhode Island. Information was collected regarding 
the regulatory framework for insurance in each state. Methodology consisted of interviews via telephone or email with 
state regulatory representatives, and identification and review of applicable state laws and regulations.  

Six of the eight peer states reported some regulatory activity relating to health insurer surplus. Michigan, Pennsylvania, 
and Rhode Island have attempted to quantify a maximum allowable surplus. Generally, those states that have focused on 
excessive surplus have also limited an insurance carrier’s premium rate setting ability. Illinois is the only state of the eight 
analyzed that has a guaranty fund for HMOs. However, four states do require HMOs to deposit an amount (ranging 
from $100K - $1M) with a bank, the Commissioner, or Treasurer. One state reviewed, California, has significant 
reporting and financial requirements for HMOs that enter into risk sharing arrangements with provider organizations. 
Two states, California and New York, have not adopted the NAIC RBC requirements for their HMOs. Some of the key 
financial requirements are summarized at the end of this section. Massachusetts is included in the chart order to facilitate 
comparison.  

California 
In accordance with the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975, California’s HMOs are regulated by the 
California Department of Managed Care. All other insurers are regulated by the California Department of Insurance. 
Initial net worth requirements are variable from $1M for full service plans down to $50,000 for specialized plans that 
cover only vision or dental benefits.50 All licensed plans are required to have a minimum amount of tangible net equity 
(TNE) at all times. TNE is defined as net equity reduced by the value of intangible assets, going concern value, 
organizational expense, start-up costs, long-term prepayments of deferred charges, non-returnable deposits, and 
obligations of officers, directors, owners, or affiliates which are not fully secured. The minimum TNE is a function of 
premium, claims, and hospital expenditures.51 

 HMOs do not participate in a guaranty fund, but the Department does require a deposit of $300,000 for full service 
plans and $50,000 for specialized plans. The deposit must be with any bank that does business in California and that is 
insured by FDIC.52 

The financial examiners review operating cash flow and trends in profitability to analyze if a carrier is able to retire 
present and future debt. In addition, health plans may also be required to submit corrective action plans and projections 
which include balance sheet, income statement, statement of cash flows, and TNE calculations.53 

Among the sample states, California is the only state with a significant number of requirements for HMOs that enter 
into risk sharing arrangements with provider organizations. These requirements are mostly in the form of reporting. The 
provider organizations that enter into a risk sharing arrangement with a health plan also have requirements such as 
maintaining a minimum cash-to-claims ratio, submitting financial information to the Department on a quarterly basis, 
submitting statements pertaining to completed claims, IBNR estimates, and minimum working capital.54 

                                                      

50 CA 2009 Title 28. 
51 Ibid. 
52 Ibid. 
53 Mark Sumner, Staff Counsel, Office of Legal Services, CA Department of Managed Health Care. 
54 Ibid. 
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Colorado 
The Colorado Department of Regulatory Agencies (Department) regulates the health insurer market. Colorado requires 
HMOs to have an initial net worth of $1.5M and an ongoing net worth of $1M.55 HMOs do not participate in a guaranty 
fund, but a statutory deposit of up to $1M is required.56 Colorado does require a deposit into a guaranty fund for non-
HMO non-profits with net worth ranging from $100,000 - $1.5M.57  

Financial examiners review a variety of financial indicators, quality of assets and the quality of management, in order to 
identify whether a company needs corrective action. Examiners review a company’s investment plan as part of the 
regular five year examination. If the Department sees evidence that companies are investing heavily in one type of 
security, and if they are losing money as a result, they may question the appropriateness of the investment plan. If the 
company is formally determined to be in a hazardous financial condition, then the Department will direct the company 
to develop a plan to remedy the delinquency, which might include a revision to the investment strategy.58 

Health insurer surplus has recently been a focus for the state of Colorado. During the Department’s financial 
examination of Kaiser Permanente Colorado, it was discovered that significant surplus was being diverted to the parent 
company in California. As such, in June 2008, the Colorado Department of Regulatory Agencies and Kaiser Permanente 
Colorado entered into an agreement where Kaiser agreed to return $155 million to Colorado residents in calendar year 
2009 and calendar year 2010. The April 2007 financial examination found Kaiser’s net worth to be “several hundred 
million dollars.” The agreement was based on a subjective review of Kaiser’s surplus. The return of funds to Colorado 
residents will be in the form of a premium credit of approximately $287 per enrolled subscriber for each of the two 
years. In addition, the Department has requested that Kaiser expand its network into southern Colorado and that it 
increase investments held in its own account and decrease balances held by its California affiliate.59 Additionally, in 2008, 
HB 08-1389 was signed into law giving authority to the Department’s Commissioner of Insurance to decline a plan's 
request for a premium increase if it was deemed excessive or inadequate. One of the items that can be considered when 
reviewing a rate increase is “surpluses,” as well as “profits.”60 

Illinois 
The Illinois Division of Insurance regulates the health insurer market. Illinois has a $2 million initial and a $1.5 million 
ongoing net worth requirement for HMOs.61 The state does require HMOs to participate in a HMO Guaranty Fund. 
Financial examiners review quarterly and annual statements and refer to the A.M. Best rating notices. No further 
regulatory requirements and procedures were identified.  

Maryland 
The Maryland Insurance Administration regulates the health insurer market. Maryland requires HMOs to have an initial 
net worth of $1.5 million and an ongoing net worth requirement of the greater of (i) $750,000 and (ii) 5% of subscription 
charges, up to a maximum limit of $3 million. For non-profits the initial net worth requirement is $100,000 and the 
ongoing net worth requirements are the greater of (i) $75,000 or (ii) 8% of earned premium excluding “non-risk” 
business.62 

                                                      

55 CO 10-16-411 Protection against insolvency. 
56 CO 10-16-412 Statutory deposit. 
57 CO 10-16-310. 
58 Scott Lloyd, Chief of Financial Affairs, Colorado Department of Regulatory Agencies. 
59 Colorado Department of Regulatory Agencies and Kaiser Permanente of CO Press Release, June 24, 2008. 
60 Craig Chupp, Chief Actuary, Colorado Department of Regulatory Agencies. 
61 215 ILCS 1252-4(a). 
62 COMAR 31.12.01,Health General 19-710, Insurance Article 4-301 Insurance Article 14-117. 
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HMOs do not participate in a guaranty fund. However, regulations give the Insurance Commissioner extensive authority 
regarding rehabilitation and liquidation of HMOs. For example, the Commissioner may change premium rates, negotiate 
new provider contracts and transfer coverage obligations to another HMO.63 Non-profits (that are not HMOs) are 
required to participate in a guaranty fund. 

Current regulations allow the Commissioner to determine whether the reported surplus of non-profits is insufficient or 
excessive. The Commissioner may request the carrier to submit a plan to increase its surplus or to submit a plan for 
distribution of an amount that is deemed excessive in a fair and equitable manner.64 The Maryland Insurance 
Administration is presently looking into the level of surplus of non-profits and will take appropriate action upon 
completion of the study. In addition, in July 2008, the Maryland Insurance Commissioner cited the rapid buildup of 
CareFirst Blue Cross Blue Shield surplus as one of several reasons for reducing former CareFirst CEO’s severance pay in 
half, from $18 million to $9 million.65  

Michigan 
The Michigan Office of Financial & Insurance Regulation regulates health insurers. HMOs are required to have an initial net 
worth of $1.5 million and an ongoing net worth of the largest of (i) $1.5 million for HMOs which contract with or employ 
providers sufficient to cover 90% of the HMOs total benefits, (ii) $ 3 million for HMOs that do not contract or employ 
providers in numbers sufficient to provide 90% of the HMO’s total benefits and (iii) RBC requirements.66 For an HMO of 
significant size, the RBC requirements would be the largest and would constitute the ongoing net worth requirements.  

HMOs and other non-profit healthcare corporations do not participate in a guaranty fund.  

There are separate regulatory requirements for non-profit health care corporations of which there is only one, Blue Cross 
and Blue Shield of Michigan (BCBSMI). BCBSMI currently has approximately 55% of the fully insured Michigan market. 
Specific requirements include limitations on incremental premium charges for the purpose of restoring the insurer’s 
surplus to a satisfactory level.  

BCBSMI has been a focus of various groups over the years due to its significant market share. When BCBSMI sought to 
reform the small group market, it agreed to a cap on surplus as part of the legislative negotiations. Under the terms of 
the cap, a non-profit health care organization cannot have surplus that is greater than 1000% RBC for two consecutive 
years. If the organization exceeds the maximum limit, the carrier must submit to the Commissioner a plan for approval 
to adjust the surplus below the limit.67 BCBSMI has not reached the maximum surplus. 

Michigan has the prudent person investment law that requires companies to have sufficient qualifying assets (good 
quality and liquid) to meet their minimum capital and surplus requirements and liabilities. Once they have sufficient 
qualifying assets, companies can invest the excess as desired so long as it is not specifically prohibited. BCBSMI is 
subject to the same investment requirements as traditional insurers.  

Financial examiners also consider other factors to determine if a company is safe, reliable and entitled to public 
confidence. MCL 500.436a sets forth criteria that the Commissioner may consider in evaluating an insurer, such as RBC 
level, premium-to-surplus ratio, surplus level measured on a per member basis, industry averages, profitability trends, 
growth, and cash flow. Examiners also perform in-depth analyses each quarter and compare a company’s results to its 
peers.  

                                                      

63 'Insurance Article 9-401-9-419, Health General Sections 19-701-19-734. 
64 Maryland Insurance Section 14-117. 
65Emily Berry, American Medical News. Oct. 27, 2008. Guarding their treasure: Health plans try to hold on to financial reserves Non-profit health plans across the 
country continue to face questions as their surpluses grow to historically high levels. 
66 Michigan THE INSURANCE CODE OF 1956 (EXCERPT), Act 218 of 1956, MCL 500.3551 Health maintenance organization; net worth. 
67 Ibid. 
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New York 
The New York State Insurance Department regulates health insurers. New York regulations provide for different 
minimum surplus requirements for the three types of licensees delivering health care benefits within the state. HMOs are 
required to increase amounts maintained in “contingent reserves” from 5% of annual net premium income to 12.5% 
over a seven year period.68 A similar standard is in place for non-profit Article 43 insurers, which must maintain a 
“statutory reserve fund” of 12.5% of net premium income.69 Article 43 of the Insurance law governs the operations of 
“Non-Profit Medical and Dental Indemnity,” or “Health and Hospital Service Corporations.” Article 42 health insurers 
are governed by the “NAIC Risk-Based Capital” standards.70 Article 42 of the Insurance Law applies to “Life Insurance 
Companies and Accident and Health Insurance Companies.”  

New York does not have a guaranty fund to pay the claims of insolvent HMOs or non-profit health insurers.  

In May 2009, Governor Paterson introduced legislation that would require prior approval of all health insurance rates by 
the Superintendent of Insurance.71 From 1996 to 2000, prior approval applied only to all small group and individual rate 
increases over 10%. The proposed legislation gives the Department of Insurance broad authority to set premiums and it 
could require a rate change based on a plan’s medical loss ratio.72 

Pennsylvania 
The Pennsylvania Department of Insurance (Department) regulates the health insurance industry. HMOs are required to 
have an initial net worth of $1.5M and hospital plans and professional health services corporations are required to have 
an initial net worth of $25,000. The NAIC RBC levels provide the basis for ongoing net worth requirements for all 
health care organizations. While licensed life and health insurers are required to participate in the Pennsylvania Guaranty 
Fund, HMOs and Blue Cross/Blue Shield plans do not participate.73 

Financial examiners use a variety of solvency monitoring tools, and focus on a company's management as well as business plan. 

There has been considerable regulatory activity concerning health insurer surplus for the four Blue Cross and Blue Shield 
(BCBS) plans conducting business in Pennsylvania. The Department performed an in-depth actuarial, accounting, and 
legal analysis which analyzed the adequacy and efficiency of surplus levels. In addition to reviewing the RBC ratio as 
specified in the NAIC regulation, the Department calculated its own RBC ratio based on a “consolidated risk factor” 
approach. Under this approach, for each Blue Cross Plan, the Department combined the balance sheets and other 
financial information for the BCBS plan and its affiliates. An RBC ratio was then calculated using this combined 
approach. Finally the Department performed an actuarial analysis to assess the relative underwriting risk of each Blues 
plan. In February 2005 Insurance Commissioner Koken issued a Determination and Order which concluded that RBC is 
an appropriate measure of surplus and then determined a “sufficient surplus operating range” for each Blue Cross Blue 
Shield Plan. For Highmark and Independence Blue Cross, the Department determined the appropriate surplus operating 
range to be an RBC ratio of 550% to 750%. For Capital Blue Cross and Blue Cross of Northeastern Pennsylvania, the 
Department determined the range to be an RBC ratio of 750% to 950%. A higher level of capitalization was required for 
these two carriers because of their lack of diversification and their smaller size. The Department reviewed calendar year 
2003 financial statements and found that Highmark, Capital Blue Cross and Blue Cross of Northeastern Pennsylvania 
were within the “sufficient” surplus operating range and did not require an additional contribution factor (estimated to 

                                                      

6810 NYCRR Part 98-1.11(e). 
69 NYIL section 4310(d). 
70 NYIL section 1322. 
71 Press Release: May 15,2009 “GOVERNOR PATERSON INTRODUCES LEGISLATION TO MAKE HEALTH INSURANCE MORE AFFORDABLE AND 
IMPROVE ACCESS TO HEALTH CARE.” 
72 Crain's Health Pulse, Today's News Friday, May 15, 200. 
73 Considerations for Regulating Surplus Accumulation and Community Benefit Activities of Pennsylvania’s Blue Cross and Blue Shield Plans, Lewin Group, 2005. 
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be 5%) in their filed premium rates. Independence Blue Cross Blue Shield was found to be below the “sufficient surplus 
operating range” but no action was taken. If a carrier’s surplus is above the upper bound of the sufficient range, the 
carrier must file a plan with the Commissioner for the purpose of decreasing the surplus level into the specified range.74 
Subsequent analyses were performed on CY 2005 and 2007 data, and the results have not changed from the original 
analysis performed on CY 2003 data.  

Rhode Island 
Rhode Island’s Department of Business Regulation (DBR) regulates health insurers. Initial net worth requirement for 
HMOs is the greater of (i) first year projected risk based capital requirement, (ii) $3 million, or (iii) an amount at the 
Commissioner’s discretion.75 Ongoing net worth requirements are 100% RBC.  

A guaranty fund includes health insurance if it is written by a life and health insurer. HMOs do not participate in a 
guaranty fund, however to protect against insolvency, HMOs must deposit with the general treasurer an amount that is 
the greatest of 5% of its estimated expenditures for health care services for its first year of operation, twice its estimated 
average monthly uncovered expenditures for its first year of operation, or $100,000.76  

DBR employs analytic tools designed for early warning on HMOs, and it requires the companies to submit business 
plans and monitor the companies against the submitted plans. DBR’s monitoring includes reviews of management 
systems and corporate governance as well as analysis of financial measures. In addition, DBR requires the companies to 
submit a “comprehensive annual analysis” and a “comprehensive quarterly analysis.” These are designed to be similar to 
the management discussion and analysis that might appear in connection with an audited statement, but DBR collects 
these reports as part of examination procedures subject to a warrant, so that they can remain confidential. DBR uses this 
information to obtain a more complete understanding of the risks faced by each company, and to do a risk-focused 
analysis each quarter and each year. When DBR identifies risks that cause concern, it requires that the company prepare a 
business plan that indicates how the identified risks will be addressed, and then it monitors progress against the business 
plan. A quarterly review of the insurer’s investment portfolio is a component of the overall review process. The insurer 
may modify its investment strategy in response to concerns expressed by DBR. In addition, there are regulatory 
requirements that do not allow an HMO to invest in common stocks.  

The Health Reform Act of 2004 required an assessment of surplus level of three health plans, Blue Cross Blue Shield of 
Rhode Island (BCBSRI), UnitedHealthcare of New England (UHNE), and Neighborhood Health Plan of Rhode Island 
(NHPRI). DBR hired The Lewin Group to perform this analysis. The Lewin Group focused on surplus as a percent of 
revenue (SAPOR) when performing its analysis. For UHNE, Lewin developed a target range using a hypothetical for-
profit insurer with some of the same characteristics as UHNE by considering various parameters, such as market 
penetration into the small group and individual markets and Medicaid business. Lewin determined that UHNE should 
have a SAPOR range of 23-28%, BCBSRI of 23-31%, and NHPRI of 20-25%. Based on 2008 year end financial data, 
UHNE is above the top of the range, BCBSRI is near the bottom of the range, and NHPRI is below the bottom of the 
range. While UHNE is above the top of the range, an additional consideration is that, as a for-profit subsidiary of a large 
for-profit corporation, it might pay dividends derived from excess surplus to its parent. Such dividends would require the 
permission of the Office of the Health Insurance Commissioner (OHIC) and of DBR. OHIC and DBR have generally 
acted to preserve surplus in UHNE rather than to have it leave the state. 

OHIC has the authority to approve rates and has historically limited the contribution to reserves contained in rate filings 
to guard against surplus growing too high. 

 
                                                      

74 Commissioner Koken’s Determination and Order. 
75 CHAPTER 27-41Health Maintenance Organizations SECTION 27-41-13.1. 
76 Ibid. 
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State  Initial Net Worth  Ongoing Net Worth  
RBC 
Adopted  Guaranty Fund  Maximum Capital Allowed  Actions taken  

MA  HMOs — $1.5M  HMOs — maximum of {$1M, 2% of 
the first $150M of annual premium 
revenues plus 1% of the excess of 
$150M, the sum of 3 months 
uncovered health care expenditures, 
the sum of 8% of annual health care 
expenditures excluding those on a 
capitated basis or a managed 
hospital payment basis and 4% of 
annual hospital expenditures on a 
managed hospital payment basis 
Requirements graded for HMOs 
established before 1/1/04  

Yes  Guaranty Fund does not include 
HMOs  

  

CA  HMOs — variable from $1M 
for full service plans down to 
$50,000 for specialized plans 
such as vision and dental.  

HMOs — Must maintain minimum 
amount of tangible net equity (TNE) 
at all times  

Not For 
HMOs  

HMOs — deposit $50,000-
$300,000 with bank  

  

CO  HMOs — $1.5M  HMOs — $1.0M  Yes  Non-profits — required to 
deposit $100K-$1.5M in a 
guaranty fund  

HMOs — statutory deposit with 
Commissioner required up to 
$1M 

Subjective review of surplus.  April 07 Financial Exam showed 
that Kaiser Permanente Colorado 
had “several hundred million 
dollars” in net worth. The plan 
was required to return $155M, 
half in CY 09 and CY 10 in 
premium credits. Employers 
would receive $287 per 
subscriber in credit. Also, Kaiser 
was required to provide $5M to 
Medical Assistance Fund for low 
income members to help with 
cost sharing. Commissioner was 
also given rate approval 
authority.  

IL  HMOs — $2M  HMOs — $1.5M  Yes  HMOs — participate in HMO 
Guaranty Fund  
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State  Initial Net Worth  Ongoing Net Worth  
RBC 
Adopted  Guaranty Fund  Maximum Capital Allowed  Actions taken  

MD  HMOs — $1.5M  

Non-profits — $100K 

HMOs — maximum of {$750,000, 
5% of subscription charges, $3M}  

Non-profits — max{$75,000, 8% of 
earned premium excluding nonrisk 
business}  

Yes  Non-profits — required to 
participate in Guaranty Fund. 
Commissioner given broad range 
of authority regarding 
rehabilitation/liquidation of HMOs. 

Commissioner may deem surplus 
to be excessive and may order 
the corporation to submit a plan 
for distribution of the excess in a 
fair and equitable manner. 
Currently, the Maryland 
Insurance Administration is 
looking into excess surplus for 
non-profits and will take 
appropriate action pending 
completion of a study.  

The Maryland insurance 
commissioner in July cited the 
rapid buildup of CareFirst's 
reserves as one of several 
reasons he cut former CareFirst 
CEO William Jews' severance 
pay in half, from $18 million to $9 
million.  

 MI HMOs — Generally $1.5M 

Health Care Corp. 
(BCBSMI) — Must maintain 
unimpaired surplus at 
Commissioners Discretion, 
Must follow NAIC RBC 
requirements. 

HMOs — Maximum of {$1.5 
million,$3 million if a sufficient 
amount of its total benefit payouts 
are not to contracted providers, 
NAIC risk-based capital level} 

Health Care Corp. (BCBSMI) — 
Must maintain unimpaired surplus at 
Commissioners Discretion and must 
follow NAIC RBC requirements 

Yes No Guaranty Fund for HMOs and 
Health Care Corp 

Health Care Corp. (BCBSMI) — 
1000%RBC ratio, if surplus 
greater than the maximum 
surplus for 2 consecutive years, 
must file plan with Commissioner 
to draw surplus down.  

No carrier has reached the 
maximum limit. 

NY  HMOs — Contingent Reserves must 
increase from 5% of annual net 
premium income to 12.5% over a 
seven year period 

Nonprofits Medical Indemnity or 
Health and Hospital Service 
Corporations — must maintain a 
“statutory reserve fund” of 12.5% of 
net premium income 

For Life 
Insurance 
Companies 
and Accident 
and Health 
Insurance 
Companies 
only 

No Guaranty Fund for HMOs 

Guaranty Fund for Life Insurance 
Companies and Accident and 
Health Insurance Companies 

Proposed legislation would give 
Insurance Department authority 
to limit rate increases based on 
loss ratios. 
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State  Initial Net Worth  Ongoing Net Worth  
RBC 
Adopted  Guaranty Fund  Maximum Capital Allowed  Actions taken  

PA HMOs — Generally $1.5M 

Hospital Plan and 
Professional Health 
Services Corp — $25K, 
Investment of surplus must 
adhere to life insurance 
company requirements. 

All Health Care Organizations — 
NAIC RBC requirements  

Yes HMOs — required to deposit 
$100,000 with Commissioner to 
cover administrative costs in case 
of liquidation. 

The four Blues plans cannot 
participate in the Guaranty Fund. 
Fund is only for commercial 
carriers. 

BCNEPA & CBC — sufficient 
range is 750%-950% RBC ratio. 

Highmark & IBC — sufficient 
range is 550%-750% RBC ratio. 

BCNEPA, CBC, & Highmark 
were operating in a “sufficient” 
range. State eliminated ability to 
put risk margins (~5%) in 
premium rates in CY 05, 07. IBC 
operating in an “efficient” range 
and no action was taken. 

RI HMOs — Maximum of {First 
Year Projected RBC level, 
$3M} or Commissioner's 
Discretion. 

HMOs — 100% RBC Level Yes Guaranty Fund does not include 
HMOs 

HMOs required to deposit 
maximum of {5% estimated 1st 
year health care expenditures,2 
times estimated average monthly 
uncovered expenditures first 
year,$100,000}with treasurer 

CY 04 Reform Act required a 
review of surplus levels. Lewin 
Report suggested SAPOR ratio 
for: 

United 23%-28% 

BCBSRI 23%-31%  

NHP 20%-25% 

All health plans are within or 
below the suggested SAPOR 
range, OHIC has authority to 
approve rates and have 
historically limited contribution to 
reserves to maintain within the 
target surplus range. 
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Analysis of Blue Cross Blue Shield Company Surplus Level in Other States 
2008 annual statement data was collected for Blues plans active in the peer states in order to compare with BCBS in 
Massachusetts and other Massachusetts health plans.  

The companies for which annual statement data was collected include: 

State Company 

CA Anthem Blue Cross Life & Health Ins Co 

CO Rocky Mt Hospital & Medical Service, Inc. (Anthem Blue Cross Blue Shield) 

IL Health Care Service Corporation (Blue Cross Blue Shield of Illinois) 

MD CareFirst Blue Cross Blue Shield 

MD Group Hospitalization & Medical Services (CareFirst affiliate) 

MI Blue Care Network of Michigan 

MI Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan 

NY Empire Health Choice 

PA Highmark Blue Cross Blue Shield 

PA Independence Blue Cross 

RI Blue Cross Blue Shield of Rhode Island 

 
Table 20 provides a summary of RBC ratios based on values found in the five year history of each plan. For the purpose 
of this table, the companies in Maryland and in Michigan are combined because they are affiliates. Similarly, the two 
Massachusetts Blue plans, BCBS and HMO Blue, were also combined. 
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Table 20.  RBC — Other Blues Plans 

State 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 
2008 Blue 
Plan Rank 

CA 600% 817% 815% 838% 929% 5 

CO 516% 388% 512% 541% 613% 7 

IL 1034% 1143% 1086% 1063% 826% 1 

MD 677% 869% 879% 798% 791% 3 

MI 631% 642% 712% 875% 764% 4 

NY 486% 506% 475% 423% 434% 9 

PA (Highmark) 527% 734% 714% 722% 731% 6 

PA (Independence) 336% 458% 463% 413% 404% 10 

RI 743% 762% 685% 614% 538% 2 

       

MA Blue Plans 505% 586% 585% 552% 620% 8 

MA All Others 525% 650% 608% 564% 460%  

Peer State Weighted Average 660% 770% 766% 769% 700%  

 
The combined Massachusetts Blues plans ranked eighth when compared to the plans in the peer states, and had an RBC 
ratio about 155 points lower than the average of the peer state plans. The Massachusetts Blues plans had slightly lower 
RBC than the average of the non-Blues Massachusetts plans in each of the years 2005 through 2008. However, in 2004, 
the last year that the BCBSMA statement included HMO Blue, BCBSMA had higher RBC than the average of the other 
Massachusetts plans in this report, and was only about 80 points lower than the average of the peer state plans included 
in the analysis. 
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VII. Recommendations 
All of the health plans included in this analysis currently have adequate surplus to meet their obligations to policyholders, 
members and providers. As of December 31, 2008, each company had a level of surplus that significantly exceeds the 
applicable statutory minimum surplus requirement and the NAIC Risk Based Capital Company Action Level. However, 
surplus levels are volatile and surplus can be reduced quickly by external economic events, adverse investment 
experience or adverse trends in claim experience. For example, the companies in this study experienced a weighted 
average drop in surplus of 100 RBC ratio points in just 2008 alone, from an average of 615% of Authorized Control 
Level to an average of 515%. This decrease was due to a combination of deteriorating underwriting results and realized 
and unrealized capital losses. 

A company’s surplus is the result of the cumulative effect of underwriting gains, investment income and capital gains in 
prior years. The primary source of additions to a company’s surplus is the margin in the premiums paid by consumers. 
There is a need to balance the margins included in premiums paid currently by members against the risk of financial 
difficulty in the future, including the risk of insolvency. An adequate level of surplus is a foundation for stable premiums. 
In the event of adverse financial events, health plans can rebuild surplus over time with management adjustments and 
higher premiums, as long as the health plan’s business model is sustainable. 

One of the key aims of DOI’s regulation of health plans is to be certain that health plan surplus levels do not fall below 
specified regulatory minimums. DOI monitors surplus trends on an ongoing basis. On the other hand, at some level an 
ongoing accumulation of surplus may lead to higher consumer prices for health insurance with diminishing value (i.e., 
protection against insolvency) to the consumer. Thus, the policy questions to be considered are: 

• What level of surplus is sufficiently, but not unreasonably, high to protect consumers, providers, and employers?  

• Is there additional data that would help the Commonwealth in further refining this level?  

• Are there other steps the Commonwealth might take to ensure that health plan premium levels are as low as 
possible while still maintaining adequate surplus? 

Recommendation #1: The Division of Insurance should consider adopting upper RBC threshold review levels 
for health insurers, analogous to the current RBC thresholds for minimum levels of surplus. An RBC ratio 
range of 700-900% would be an appropriate standard to consider for such an upper threshold review. While 
statutorily created guaranty funds are the common way in most insurance markets to protect policyholders from the risk 
of any one insurance carrier’s insolvency, this is not a viable option in Massachusetts due to the limited number of 
companies in the market.  Absent such a safety net, health insurers individually need adequate levels of surplus so they 
are able to satisfy their health payment obligations even in difficult conditions. A variety of statutory and regulatory 
standards are in place to ensure that plans are well-capitalized, and to permit regulators to take action if surplus falls 
below certain levels. However, there are costs for health plan members, customers and the public if surplus is greater 
than needed for financial soundness. This is particularly true in Massachusetts, where most of the major health plans are 
non-profit public charities, and surplus is accumulated through operating profits and investment growth. This means 
that the accumulation of ever increasing amounts of surplus by insurers comes at the expense of the current affordability 
of health insurance. Currently, regulatory and statutory standards are focused entirely on minimum levels of surplus, with 
lesser attention to the cost and public policy consequences of excessive levels of surplus. Every health insurer in this 
study has increased its surplus considerably over the past decade, and has an amount of surplus that exceeds current 
regulatory minimums. However, none has a surplus level in excess of the RBC review threshold recommended here. 

The purpose of adopting an upper RBC threshold review level for health insurers would be to ensure close scrutiny of 
high levels of insurer surplus. As a plan approached the upper threshold or once the threshold was reached, a different 
type of regulatory review would take place, focused not on ensuring that a plan has sufficient surplus but rather on 
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exploring whether or not there was a continued need for additional surplus. As with minimum surplus thresholds, the 
Division of Insurance would retain regulatory discretion to treat health plans differently, as appropriate, based on its 
overall review of the financial condition and situation of the health plan, not just on its absolute RBC level. However, an 
upper threshold would ensure that high levels of surplus receive the same degree of regulatory attention and public 
examination as low levels do now.  

Recommendation #2: The Division of Insurance should consider establishing guidelines for the proportion of 
health plan surplus that may be invested in equity investments depending on the health plan’s RBC ratio. 
Certain health plans have substantial amounts invested in equities. Historically, while equity investments may have 
produced higher returns (and thereby the potential for lower premiums) they have also resulted in greater fluctuations in 
realized and unrealized capital gains and consequently greater fluctuations in surplus for these plans. In addition, since 
the RBC formula recognizes a higher risk level for equity investments, plans with more equities require a higher level of 
surplus to meet a specified RBC ratio. Placing limitations on the permissible levels of health plan equity investments 
would reduce fluctuations in the amount of surplus and RBC ratios.  

Recommendation #3: The state should enhance health insurer reporting by requiring that additional information 
in several key areas be included in health plan financial filings. The data and format for the filings could be 
designed jointly by DHCFP, DOI and the health plans. Changes in these areas should take into account any 
new reporting requirements imposed by national health reform in order to avoid unnecessary duplication. 
Additional information should be provided on:  

a. Self insured and administrative services only business:  The analysis found that health plans in 
Massachusetts have not consistently reported information on their self-insured business over time. This includes 
information on the number of self-insured members and member months. As noted earlier, the failure of health plans 
to provide consistent membership and member month information over time makes it impossible to compare the 
amount of surplus per member over time for all of the health plans, or to track overall trends in the composition of 
the membership of individual health plans, or overall enrollment in the state’s health insurance market. 

Plans have also not provided consistent information on the administrative fees received for self-insured business 
(administrative services contract or administrative services only). Administrative services fees are supposed to be 
reported on the Administrative Expenses Exhibit (Underwriting and Investment Exhibit Part 3-Analysis of 
Expenses), as an offset to general and administrative expenses, if the health plan conducts its administrative 
services business through the same legal entity as its insured business. Some health plans manage their self-
insured business out of a subsidiary or other related company, and so they do not report self-insured income in 
their statutory statements. Insurers are also required to report earnings on administrative services business in the 
Notes to Financial Statements section of the statutory statement, but based on a review of the statutory 
statements it appears that they do not do so uniformly. 

Requiring health plans to provide uniform information on self-insured business would enable regulators, 
policymakers and the public to develop a more complete picture of the Massachusetts health insurance market. 
This is particularly important as more and more employers — and members — move from insured to self-
insured plans. It would also permit a better understanding of the costs and performance of different lines of 
business. For example, these data would enable policymakers to understand the financial performance of self-
insured business compared to insured business, including whether health plans are making or losing money on 
self-insured business, whether there is any cross-subsidization of self-insured employers by insured employers, 
or vice versa, and how the administrative expense per member of self-insured groups compares to insured 
groups. These are important issues in developing a more robust and complete picture of the financial 
performance of health insurers and the health insurance marketplace in the state. 
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b. Administrative expenses:  Health plan administrative expenses have been increasing at approximately the 
same rate as medical trend. This rate of increase far exceeds the overall trend in consumer prices and does not 
appear to reflect any productivity improvements over time. Were current trends in health plan administrative 
expenses to moderate, this could improve the affordability of health insurance, and/or contribute to surplus 
growth. It is not possible to assess from existing plan information why administrative expenses are increasing 
faster than consumer prices. One possible contributing factor is the ongoing trend towards leaner benefit 
packages, which have had a moderating effect on revenue growth. As revenue growth slows, the ratio of 
administrative expenses to revenues might be increasing even though administrative expenses on a per member 
basis are not increasing as quickly. Additional information on the administrative expenses of individual health 
insurers would allow policymakers to assess the causes, and possible solutions, to the growth trends in 
administrative expenses. 

c. Medical expenses: Approximately 90% of premium dollars in Massachusetts go towards medical expenses. 
Yet despite the enormous amount of medical care paid for by health insurers, there is very little detailed public 
information about the distribution of these payments, by category of care, type or place of service. As cost 
control becomes more critical, it is necessary for regulators, policy-makers and the public to have much more 
detailed information about medical spending, in a consistent format that allows for meaningful comparisons 
across health plans, and within major lines of business. The state should work with health plans to develop a 
standardized format in which such information would be regularly reported by health insurers.  In the interest of 
transparency and to inform the development of cost containment initiatives, this information should be 
reported publicly and in a format that is easily available.  This should include sufficient detail to assess the 
amount and trends in spending in different lines of business (e.g., small group, individual, large group, self-
insured, Medicaid, Medicare). 

d. Provider payment arrangements, with a focus on arrangements that shift substantial financial risk to 
providers:  Payment arrangements that shift significant risk to providers reduce the risk faced by insurers, and 
thus the needed levels of surplus. There is already some movement in the state towards payment arrangements 
that share financial risk between insurers and providers, and the recent report of the Special Commission on the 
Health Care Payment System, which endorsed a shift to global payment, may well accelerate this trend. While 
health plans are already required to provide some information on certain types of provider payment 
arrangements in their annual statements (Exhibit 7 of the filing), this information is limited in scope. Regulators 
and policymakers need a more detailed and complete picture of the types of risk sharing arrangements that exist 
between insurers and providers, including the number of members covered by these arrangements, in order to 
understand and appropriately regulate the financial risks being assumed by providers and insurers as payment 
arrangements continue to evolve. 

Recommendation #4: The state should require Third Party Administrators (TPAs) to be registered or 
licensed.  TPAs are an important part of the state’s market for health coverage, providing administrative services to 
many of the state’s larger employers. While some TPAs are subsidiaries of local health plans, and so known to 
regulators, others are independent entities. In fact, the state does not necessarily know the names of all the TPAs 
operating in the state because TPAs are not subject to any registration or licensing requirements. This regulatory gap 
prevents policymakers from developing a complete understanding of the health insurance market and puts regulators 
in a reactive posture, able to deal with issues only after they develop into problems. Some other states require TPAs to 
be registered or licensed, and to make an annual filing to the state that includes basic information on number of 
contracts, number of members, number of employers, and information about applicable stop loss arrangements. 
Massachusetts should do the same. 
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Recommendation #5: The state should not establish a health insurance guaranty fund in Massachusetts 
that would extend to health maintenance organizations and Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts.  
Certain states have established guaranty funds as a mechanism for providing financial protection to consumers and 
providers in the event that a health insurer becomes insolvent. Although such guaranty funds vary in their 
structure, the general approach is to impose an assessment on the other member health plans to help pay the costs 
associated with claims that are unpaid by the insolvent plan. The assessment can be an ongoing one, which creates 
a fund that is used if a plan gets into financial trouble, or funded only in the case of an actual insolvency. The idea 
of a guaranty fund has been discussed periodically in Massachusetts over the years but has never been embraced by 
the legislature.77  

While guaranty funds can be a useful instrument in many states, it appears that such a fund would not be effective in 
Massachusetts because of the limited number of companies offering health insurance and it is not necessary because 
consumers in Massachusetts are already well protected in the event a health insurer is unable to meet its financial 
obligations. By law, providers must hold consumers harmless from any financial obligations that would have been the 
legal responsibility of the health insurer, regardless of the reason why the insurer is unable to pay them. Continuity of 
coverage is assured by guarantee issue requirements that obligate other insurers to provide insurance with no medical 
underwriting to anyone who was previously insured with no substantial gap in coverage, and the Division of Insurance 
has statutory authority to move members of insolvent plans into other health plans.  

A guaranty fund would provide additional protections, particularly for providers and for consumers with certain types of 
expenses that might not be covered by existing legal provisions (e.g., providers that do not have contracts with the health 
plan are not prohibited from billing consumers for unpaid services). There is a strong potential that a guaranty fund 
could have an adverse financial impact on other health insurers, given the concentration in the Massachusetts health 
insurance market. If a large health plan were to become insolvent, such a large assessment might be required of other 
plans that would impair their financial condition as well. For this reason, it seems unnecessary and potentially damaging 
for the state to endorse the establishment of a guaranty fund at this time. Instead, the state should assess its oversight of 
health insurers to ensure that adequate safeguards and protections are in place to protect consumers fully in the event of 
a health plan insolvency, and take any necessary steps, including requesting additional legal authority, if it determines that 
there are significant gaps in protections for health plan members in the event of an insolvency. 

                                                      

77 Massachusetts legislation created the Massachusetts Life & Health Insurance Guaranty Association in 1986 to protect policyholders and beneficiaries of policies 
issued by an insolvent insurance company, with specified limitations. Health maintenance organizations and BCBSMA are not members of the guaranty association.  
Therefore, the protections provided by the guaranty association do not extend to members of an insolvent HMO. 
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VIII. Health Insurer Community Benefits 
Section 35 of Chapter 305 also required review of the method by which health insurers fund community benefit 
programs including, but not limited to, the manner by which funding is regulated by other states as to the appropriate 
amount, monitoring, and direction of such funding.  

Massachusetts HMO Community Benefits 
The Office of the Attorney General in Massachusetts has voluntary Community Benefits Guidelines for the state’s 
Health Maintenance Organizations since 1996, the first state in the country to issue such guidelines. (By 2000, at least 
three other states — Connecticut, Minnesota, and New Hampshire — discuss community benefits reporting as it relates 
to HMOs.78) The Massachusetts Guidelines do not specify “non-profit” HMOs but rather apply to all HMOs in the 
state. The suggested priorities for the provision of community benefits include: supporting health care reform; chronic 
disease management in disadvantaged populations, reducing health disparities, and promoting wellness of vulnerable 
populations. The Attorney General suggests that the HMOs also consider the following nine principles: 

• The governing body of each HMO should adopt and make public a Community Benefits Policy Statement setting 
forth its commitment to a formal Community Benefits Program. 

• The governing body and senior management of the HMO should be responsible for overseeing the development 
and implementation of the Community Benefits Program, the resources to be allocated, and the administrative 
mechanisms for the regular evaluation of the Program. 

• The governing body and senior management of the HMO should seek assistance and participation from HMO 
members and the community in developing and implementing the HMO's Community Benefits Program, and in 
defining the targeted population and the specific health care needs to be addressed by the Community Benefits 
Program. 

• Each HMO should develop its Community Benefits Program based upon an assessment of the health care needs 
and resources of the identified populations, particularly lower- and moderate-income communities. The Program 
should consider the health care needs of a broad spectrum of age groups and health conditions. 

• The HMO should develop and market products which would attract all segments of the population. 

• The HMO should strive to offer and promote, consistent with existing laws and regulations, direct enrollment for 
non-group coverage and continue to work toward insurance market reform so that managed care will be an option 
for all working families and individuals. 

• The HMO should take steps to reduce cultural, linguistic, and physical barriers to accessible health care at key 
points of patient contact. 

• The HMO should strive to help Massachusetts consumers who are about to lose coverage or who are uninsured, to 
maintain or obtain, as applicable, health care coverage, at least for limited periods of time, at reduced or subsidized rates. 

• The HMO should make an Annual Community Benefits Report available to the public. The Report should describe 
the HMO's community benefits plan, including the HMO’s level of community benefits expenditures and its 
approach to establishing those expenditures. 79 

                                                      

78 Seto, Natalie, Weiskopf, Bess Karger, Community Catalyst, “Community Benefits: The Need for Action, an Opportunity for Healthcare Change, A Workbook for 
Grassroots Leaders and Community Organizations, “ The Access Project, 2000, p. 94. 
79 Office of the Attorney General, “The Attorney General’s Community Benefits Guidelines, for Health Maintenance Organizations ,” Page 6, available at 
www.mass.gov. 
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HMO community benefits can be viewed as a use of insurer surplus. The reporting to the Attorney General includes 
expenditures and narrative descriptions of community benefits programs, community service programs (such as 
employee volunteerism), contributions to the uncompensated care pool, and corporate sponsorships. The 2008 HMO 
community benefits filings are summarized in the table below. 

HMO Community Benefits Expenses, 2008 

Carrier 

Total 
Community 

Benefits 
Expenses * 

Total 
Community 

Service 
Expenses * 

Net Charity Care 
or 

Uncompensated 
Care Pool 

Contribution 
Corporate 

Sponsorships Total 

Blue Cross and Blue 
Shield of 
Massachusetts 

$20,570,448 $2,231,619 $81,146,214 $1,697,269 $105,645,550 

Fallon Community 
Health Plan $693,157 $294,793 $3,510,740 $536,318 $4,913,737 

Harvard Pilgrim 
Health Care $27,278,866 $1,822,095 $24,689,040 $1,104,905 $54,894,905 

Health New England $92,000 $89,467 $2,814,625 $50,000 $3,088,592 

Neighborhood Health 
Plan $8,694,258 - $1,085,564 $325,430 $10,105,252 

Tufts Health Plan $15,227,789 $994,725 $7,538,953 $448,975 $24,210,443 
 

* Total of direct expenses, associated expenses, employee volunteerism, and other leveraged resources. 
Source: Downloaded from the Website of the Office of the Attorney General, www.mass.gov. 
 
In addition to the community benefits and community service expenditures reported above, Tufts Health Plan, 
BCBSMA and HPHC have foundations for providing funds to community groups and/or doing research.  These 
foundations are another use of health plan surplus funds. 

While there is considerable discussion in the literature and at the national level with respect to the development of 
community foundations when a non-profit HMO moves to for-profit status, there is not nearly as much information 
with respect to the provision of community benefits by HMOs. In fact, much of the literature that exists discusses the 
Massachusetts program.  

One study by Schlesinger, Mitchell and Brady80 compared the differences in community benefits provided by  
non-profit and for-profit HMOs. The article highlighted the types of community benefits non-profit HMOs might 
provide including: 

• Subsidized care; 

• Services that have benefits beyond the direct recipients of services (e.g., prevention programs); 

                                                                                                                                                                                            

 
80 Schlesinger, Mark; Mitchell, Shannon; and Gray, Bradford, “Measuring Community Benefits Provided by Non-profit and For-Profit HMOs, 
www.inquiryjournalonline.org 
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• Research and education; 

• Open access to services (e.g., rate subsidies); and 

• Encouraging community influence in plan governance.81 

In addition, the authors viewed certain measures as particularly relevant to the mission of HMOs, including: 

• Reduced exploitation of uninformed consumers; 

• Reduced cost shifting, including the shifting of care-giving from professionals to family caregivers; 

• Research and other activities leading to professional prestige; 

• Services provided directly to the community (both the entire community and to the low income community in 
particular); 

• Philanthropy; 

• Open access to services, which includes affordable premiums; 

• Education; and  

• Community oversight.82 

The study’s survey of HMOs revealed that the community benefits where non-profit and for-profit HMOs seem to 
differ involved community service and research, with the not-for-profit HMOs providing a higher level of benefit in 
both areas. The authors also noted that for-profit HMOs seemed to place more emphasis on educating their own 
members.  

Recommendations 
The Massachusetts Attorney General’s Community Benefits Advisory Task Force, including representation from the 
community, industry, and various state agencies, recently issued new Community Benefits Guidelines for HMOs. The 
key revisions to the Guidelines are listed below: 

• “encourage community input in all phases of plan development; 

• require goal setting and measurement for all community benefit programs; 

• require that community benefit programs be based on a community health needs assessment and focus on a target 
population identified at the beginning of the plan year; 

• streamline and standardize reporting; and 

• encourage HMOs to address the statewide health priorities of supporting health care reform; reducing health 
disparities; improving chronic disease management; and promoting wellness in vulnerable populations.”83 

The new Guidelines are available on the Attorney General’s website (www.mass.gov/ago) and became effective October 
1, 2009. It is recommended that the Commonwealth assess the impact of these new Guidelines in approximately two to 
three years. 

                                                      

81 Ibid 
82 Ibid. 
83 www.mass.gov 

http://www.mass.gov/gao
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Appendix 1: Glossary of Terms84 
ACL (Authorized Control Level) — 50% of the result of the RBC formula. A reference point that determines the level 
of adequacy of an insurer’s surplus. If an insurer’s TAC (Total Adjusted Capital, or surplus) is lower than this level, the 
regulator is authorized to assume management of the company to protect the interests of policyholders. 

ASC (Administrative Services Contract) — This refers to a contract under which the insurer administers a health plan 
by providing various services, including the payment of claims and access to its provider network. In the event that the 
ASC contract holder does not fund claims payments while the contract is in force, the insurer assumes the responsibility 
to pay. 

ASO (Administrative Services Only) — This refers to a contract under which the insurer administers a health plan by 
providing various services, including the payment of claims and access to its provider network, but does not assume any 
of the risk related to the payment claims. 

BCBS (Blue Cross Blue and Shield of Massachusetts, Inc.) — Note that there are Blue Cross Blue Shield plans in 
many states. 

Capital and Surplus — The amount in excess of the companies liabilities. This amount is stated, for example, in the 
2008 annual statutory statement on Page 3, line 31. Other terms used to describe “capital and surplus” are “surplus” 
and “reserves.”  

Capital Gains — Increase in value of equity investments, including realized capital gains (on investments that have been 
sold) and unrealized capital gains on investments that are still owned. Realized capital gains are reflected in the income 
statement. The change in unrealized capital gains for certain assets (common stocks and assets listed in Schedule BA) are 
credited directly to the surplus account. A decrease in the value of an equity investment is a Capital Loss. 

DOI — Department of Insurance 

Fallon — Fallon Community Health Plan, Inc. 

FEHBP (Federal Employees Health Benefit Plan) — This is a program to provide health insurance to federal 
employees. Multiple insurers participate in the program. Pricing it is subject to competitive bidding 

FIT (Federal Income Tax) — of the companies in this study, only BCBS, HNE and UHNE are subject to FIT. The 
others are non-profit companies that are exempt from FIT. 

GAAP — Abbreviation for “Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” 

Harvard — Harvard Pilgrim Health Care, Inc. 

HMO (Health Maintenance Organization) — This refers both to a health insurance organization that operates 
under certain laws and regulations and provides primarily network benefits and to a plan of benefits under which 
services must generally be obtained from in-network providers. 

HMO Blue (Blue Cross Blue and Shield of Massachusetts HMO Blue, Inc.) — This is the HMO controlled by BCBS. It 
has been reported separately from BCBS since 2005. 

                                                      

84 Definitions in quotation marks are from the Division of Health Care Finance and Policy and available at www.mass.gov/dhcfp 
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HNE — Health New England, Inc. 

IBNR (Incurred but not Reported) — Claims as of an annual statement valuation date for which the service has already 
been provided, but the actual claim has not been reported to the insurer. The insurer estimates these claims based on 
historical claim patterns and sets up a liability for them. 

Indemnity — a type of health insurance plan under which benefits are paid for services obtained from any provider. 
These plans have become less popular, as they tend to be more expensive than network-based plans that have controls 
on cost and utilization of benefits. 

Loss Ratio — Percentage resulting from a claims amount in the numerator and a corresponding premium amount in 
the denominator 

Margin in Claim Liability — When insurers determine the liability for unpaid claims (see also Reconciled Claim 
Liability and IBNR), they usually add an explicit margin to the liability so that the amount listed in the financial statement 
will be adequate under moderately adverse circumstances. The actual margin that in the reported liability for unpaid 
claims can be calculated at a later date, when claims have been paid. The annual statement provides a reconciliation of 
the prior year liability for unpaid claims in the underwriting and investment exhibit. 

Neighborhood — Neighborhood Health Plan, Inc. 

Net Investment Income — Interest payments, dividends and other income derived from invested assets, net of 
investment expenses. This does not include realized Capital Gains. 

POS (Point-of-Service) — This refers to a health insurance plan that provides the insured with the option to use in-
network or out-of-network providers at the time he obtains the service. There is generally a higher cost share that the 
insured pays for out-of-network service. 

RBC (Risk Based Capital) — a standardized method of measuring the capital needs of an insurer by analysis of the risks 
assumed, using a complex formula specified by the NAIC. The formula itself is updated from time to time by the NAIC. 
There is a separate formula for health insurers that is different from the formula used by life insurance companies. 

RBC Ratio — The ratio of an insurer’s Total Adjusted Capital (TAC) to the Authorized Control Level (ACL) 
developed by the RBC formula. 

Reconciled Claim Liability — Insurers set up a liability in their statutory financial statements that is an estimate of the 
claims that have already been incurred, but that have not yet been paid. The reconciled claim liability represents the 
amount that actually gets paid in the following year plus any amount still outstanding a year later. See also, Margin in 
Claim Liability. This analysis displays the level of conservatism employed by the insurer in establishing its liability for 
incurred but not paid claims. 

Reserves — This is an insurance term with several possible meanings. The meaning can generally be determined based 
on context.  

• Reserves can refer to an amount set aside by an insurer to provide for benefits that are expected to come due in the 
future. These can be (i) claim reserves, where they are determined based on the value of the expected benefits, (ii) 
premium reserves, where they are set based on premiums received but that have not been earned (unearned 
premiums) or (iii) a liability that recognizes that future premiums are not sufficient to pay the related claims and 
administrative expenses (premium deficiency reserves).Reserves can also be used to refer to the liability insurers set 
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up for claims that have already been incurred, but that have not yet been reported to the insurer, or have been 
reported but not yet paid.  

• Reserves can be “unallocated reserves” which are generally available to provide the capital to run the insurer and 
protect the interests of policyholders, but are not identified for any specific purpose. In some states, a portion of 
what would otherwise be identified as unallocated reserves is required to be held as a “contingent reserve”. 
Unallocated reserves are sometimes also known as “surplus”, “capital and surplus”. 

SAP — Abbreviation for Statutory Accounting Principles 

SAPOR (Surplus as a Percent of Revenue) — a measure of surplus adequacy. 

Schedule BA — A schedule included in the statutory statement that individually lists certain types of assets, including 
partnership assets. The total amount of Schedule BA assets is included on the asset page of the annual statement (for 
example, on Page 2, line 7 of the 2008 annual statement.)  

Surplus — see Reserves, particularly unallocated reserves. The excess of assets over liabilities. This amount is stated, for 
example, in the 2008 annual statutory statement on Page 3, line 31. 

Surplus Notes — Notes issued by an insurer in a format approved by an insurance regulator such that the notes are 
subordinated to policyholder claims and all payments of interest and principal are subject to approval by the regulator.  

TAC (Total Adjusted Capital) — The insurer’s surplus amount with adjustments specified in the instructions in the 
RBC calculation instructions. For the insurers included in this study the TAC is always equal to the surplus amount over 
the ten year period. See also Capital and Surplus, Reserves, Surplus. This is the amount compared to ACL to determine 
the RBC Ratio. 

Tufts — Tufts Associated Health Maintenance Organization, Inc. 

UHNE — UnitedHealthcare of New England, Inc., a subsidiary of UnitedHealth Group. 

Underwriting Gain — Premiums reduced by incurred claims and administrative expenses 

Unrestricted Net Assets — “The part of net assets that is neither permanently restricted nor temporarily restricted by 
donor imposed stipulations.” 
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Appendix 2: Public Input Session 
Notice: Study of the Reserves, Endowments, and Surpluses of Health Insurers and Hospitals 

Project Summary 
Section 35 of Chapter 305 of the Acts of 2008 requires that the Division of Health Care Finance and Policy (DHCFP), 
in conjunction with the Division of Insurance, conduct a study of the reserves, endowments, and surpluses of health 
insurers and hospitals. The goal of this study is to "examine options and alternatives available to the commonwealth to 
provide regulation, oversight and disposition of the reserves, endowments, and surpluses of health insurers and 
hospitals." 

The study will culminate in a report with separate analytic findings and recommendations for insurers and hospitals. The 
report will also discuss instances of potential intersection — e.g. should insurers in Massachusetts move in the direction 
of global financing of provider services, with the concomitant shift of risk from insurers to providers, surplus 
requirements for both hospitals and insurers are impacted. 

Insurers: The analytical approach will be to identify and analyze the basic risk factors and risk profile for each insurer. It 
will include an analysis of trends in premiums, claims, loss ratios, surplus or free reserves, and reconciliation of claims 
reserves. Corporate structure, including holding companies, will also be reviewed in order to determine the impact of 
such structures on surplus levels and/or requirements. The types of risk that surplus is intended to mitigate against will 
be examined and reported, including premium pricing risk, provider pricing risk, risks associated with transitioning 
provider payment methods either from fee for service to capitation or from capitation to fee for service, investment risk, 
capitation risk, inflation risk, utilization risk, and the impact of potential changes in the funding of public programs such 
as Medicare and Medicaid. 

The study will review laws and regulations governing the level of surplus maintained by health insurance companies and 
Community Benefits requirements for the Commonwealth and select other states. To the extent possible, the study will 
also identify how issues unique to the Massachusetts health insurance market impact surplus requirements. 

The primary sources of historical data for health insurance companies will be the Annual Statements and the 
accompanying Notes to Financial Statements filed by each insurer with the Division of Insurance for 1999-2008 and the 
audited financial statements for 2007. 

Hospitals: The analytical approach will be to identify and analyze applicable accounting standards, laws and regulations 
relating to hospital surplus and reserve accounts, and the guidelines or advice of relevant professional associations. The 
multitude of issues considered by Boards of Directors and hospital management will be reviewed, including but not 
limited to payer reimbursement policies, the wishes of benefactors, the mission of the hospital, bond covenants, the level 
of services to vulnerable and/or uninsured populations, the nature of reimbursement contracts (e.g., the type of risk that 
the hospital assumes under a fee for service contract as compared to the type of risk that the hospital assumes under a 
capitation or global payment contract, and the change in the mix of these contracts), payer mix and the margins 
associated with each type of payer, corporate structure (including holding companies), and the overall economic 
environment, including how volatility (or dramatic changes) in the environment change board and management decision-
making toward surplus levels. 

In addition to reviewing Massachusetts state laws and regulations, the study will review the laws and regulations that 
govern the level of surplus maintained by hospitals in select other states. The study will also examine the Community 
Benefits requirements placed on hospitals both in Massachusetts and other states. To the extent possible, the study will 
identify how issues unique to the Massachusetts health insurance market impact surplus requirements. Activity at the 
Federal level looking at the tax-exempt status of certain non-profit hospitals will also be explored. 
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The primary sources of historical data for hospitals will be the Hospital DHCFP-403 reports and the audited financial 
statements of the state's acute care hospitals. 

Report: The final report will detail the current and historical levels of both insurer and hospital reserves and surpluses in 
Massachusetts. It will review factors impacting surplus, requirements for community benefits, and existing laws and regulations 
in both Massachusetts and other states. The Division will file a report of its findings and recommendations for any changes in 
regulation, oversight, and disposition of reserves, endowments, and surpluses with the legislature by July 1, 2009. 

Questions for Consideration by Insurers 
Please consider these questions when developing oral and written comments. Please note that oral comments will be 
limited to approximately five minutes and therefore should be more general. We welcome comprehensive and detailed 
written comments. 

• Due to health care reform and the unique role of non-profit insurers, how is Massachusetts potentially different 
from other states when considering options for the state's role to "provide regulation, oversight and disposition of 
the reserves, endowments, and surpluses" of insurers? 

• What "non-obvious" factors should be considered that are material to your Board's and management's decision-
making with regard to surplus levels? 

• How do rules promulgated by the NAIC, association rules, state laws and regulations and any changes to those rules 
factor into determining your internal surplus targets? 

• In addition to state laws and regulations, NAIC, and/or association requirements, what elements go into 
determining your internal surplus targets? How are such targets developed? 

• How do risk based capital (RBC) levels affect the determination of your internal surplus targets? 

• What changes have taken place in the assumption of risk by your company within the past 5 years? How has this 
impacted your internal surplus target? 

• What factors should we be cognizant of as we approach our analysis of your company's historical (1999-2008) data? 

• How should we deal with the volatility of the investment market as we try to learn from historical data? Has your 
organization changed its investment strategies and if so, how? If your investment strategy includes investment in 
common stocks, please comment on the rationale. 

• How does your investment strategy interact with your surplus target? 

• How do state demographic trends and projected employment mix factor into your assumptions concerning 
reserves? 

• How do you suggest we deal with the volatility of the economy as we try to learn from historical data? What are the 
effects of the recent economic downturn on your operational results? What are the effects of the recent economic 
downturn on your investments? What strategic changes have you made in response to the recent economic 
downturn? 

• What potential impacts do you foresee as the result of any additional regulation on the oversight and disposition of 
insurer and hospital reserves in Massachusetts? 

• What specific issues should be considered in relation to the role of the state in providing oversight or regulation of 
insurer reserves? 
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Questions for Consideration by Hospitals 
Please consider these questions when developing oral and written comments. Please note that oral comments will be 
limited to approximately five minutes and therefore should be more general. We welcome comprehensive and detailed 
written comments. 

• Due to health care reform, and the continuing role played by non-profit hospitals in this market, how is 
Massachusetts potentially different from other states when considering options for the state's role to "provide 
regulation, oversight and disposition of the reserves, endowments, and surpluses" of hospitals? 

• What do you consider to be the best measure or indicator of hospital "surplus" or "reserves"? 

• What elements go into determining your surplus target? How do you express your surplus target — percentage of 
revenue or other? How are such targets developed? 

• How does your surplus level impact your decisions about operations and capital spending? 

• How do labor market conditions impact your hospital's spending levels and surplus targets? 

• What has been the impact, if any, of changes in both retiree health care and pension funding requirements? 

• How do you factor the implementation of new payment systems and components of systems — e.g., capitation, 
global payment levels, pay for performance, etc. into your hospital's surplus needs? 

• Please comment on the extent to which you are seeing changes in insurance benefit designs among your patients, 
and discuss how we might take those changes into consideration. For example, has the introduction of health plans 
with high up-front deductibles and/or tiered networks, or other innovative benefit designs, impacted your finances? 
If so, how? 

• What "non-obvious" factors should be considered that are material to your Board's and management's decision-
making with regard to surplus levels? 

• What factors should we be cognizant of as we approach our analysis of historical data? 

• How do you suggest we consider the volatility of the investment market as we try to learn from historical data? Has 
your organization changed its investment strategies and if so, how? 

• How do you suggest we consider the volatility of the economy in general as we try to learn from historical data? 
What has been the impact of the recent economic downturn on your operating results? What strategic changes have 
you made in response to the recent economic downturn? 

• What is the impact of going to capital markets, or considering going to capital markets in the future, on your 
hospital's spending and asset retention/restriction decisions? 

• What factors, in addition to the Attorney General's guidelines, do you consider when determining the level and type 
of community benefits you provide? 

• What specific issues should be considered in relation to the role of the state in providing oversight or regulation of 
hospital surplus levels? 
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Marylou Buyse, M.D., 

President and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Massachusetts Association of Health Plans 

(presented by Eric Linzer) 
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Michael Caljouw, 

Senior Director of Public, Government and Regulatory Affairs for 
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts 
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Joseph F.X. Casey, 
Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer for  

Sturdy Memorial Hospital 
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John Erwin, 
Executive Director for the 

Conference of Boston Teaching Hospitals 
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Charles R. Goheen, 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer for  

Fallon Community Health Plan, Inc.  
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Joe Kirkpatrick, 
Vice President of Healthcare Finance & Managed Care for the 

Massachusetts Hospital Association 



 
Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 

 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

103 

 



 
Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 

 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

104 

 



 
Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 

 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

105 

 



 
Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 

 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

106 

 



 
Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 

 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

107 

 



 
Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 

 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

108 

 



 
Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 

 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

109 

 



 
Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 

 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

110 

 



 
Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 

 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

111 

MHA Responses to Follow-up Questions from the April 15 Public Input Session on the Chapter 305 Mandated 
Study of the Reserves, Endowments, and Surpluses of Health Insurers and Hospitals: 

The Massachusetts Hospital Association (MHA) appreciates the opportunity to provide answers to some of the 
questions raised during the public hearing last week on the ‘Study of the Reserves, Endowments and Surpluses of Health 
Insurers and Hospitals’. 

1. Days Cash—what are the national statistics?  
 

From the 2008 and 2009 Ingenix Almanac of Hospital Financial and Operating Indicators  
Days cash on Hand (All Sources) 

MEDIANS 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 

US 76.2 76.5 68.6 96.5 62.6 75.7 

MA 73.5 75.0 75.6 74.4 63.8 60.7 
 

2. Is there an expected margin that would ensure best possible rate when borrowing money, if so is the 
margin required to be consistent for a certain period of time? 

 

From a presentation by the HFMA (Jan 2009) 
 

 
 

3. What are the rating stats now in MA and Nationally? What’s the movement in the normative scale?   
See below; and ratings methodology attachment. 

 

Aaa 
 Hospitals or issues rated Aaa demonstrate the strongest creditworthiness relative to other municipal or tax-exempt Issuers or issues.  
Aa  
 Issuers or issues rated Aa demonstrate very strong creditworthiness relative to other municipal or tax-exempt Issuers or issues.  
A  
Issuers or issues rated A present above-average creditworthiness relative to other municipal or tax-exempt Issuers or issues.  
Baa  
Issuers or issues rated Baa represent average creditworthiness relative to other municipal or tax- exempt Issuers or issues.  
Ba  
Issuers or issues rated Ba demonstrate below-average creditworthiness relative to other municipal or tax-exempt Issuers or issues.  
B  
Issuers or issues rated B demonstrate weak creditworthiness relative to other municipal or tax- exempt Issuers or issues.  
Caa  
Issuers or issues rated Caa demonstrate very weak creditworthiness relative to other municipal or tax-exempt Issuers or issues.  
Ca  
Issuers or issues rated Ca demonstrate extremely weak creditworthiness relative to other municipal or tax-exempt Issuers or issues.  
C  
Issuers or issues rated C demonstrate the weakest creditworthiness relative to other municipal or tax-exempt Issuers or issues.  
Note: Moody's appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating category from Aa through Caa. The modifier 1 indicates that the hospital or obligation ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the 
modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic rating category 
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Using Moody’s Healthcare Ratings by State (as of July 31, 2008), we analyzed the distribution of ratings for outstanding 
bonds in the US and in Massachusetts: 

 US (N=530) MA (N=29) 
Rating at or better than A 61% 48% 
Rating at Baa 30% 28% 
At or below Ba 9% 24% 
 
From Fitch: 

“Fitch Ratings reiterated its negative outlook for not-for-profit hospitals as the nation’s recession deepens and the credit 
crunch drags on. The agency lowered its outlook from stable in early December 2008. Rising unemployment, poorly 
performing investments, and costly and limited capital continue to stress hospital balance sheets, analysts said. 
Additionally, not-for-profit hospital credit ratings will more often drop than climb through July 2010 or January 2011, 
according to the analysts. Strain on public and private budgets is expected to curb hospital revenue as state deficits 
squeeze Medicaid spending and layoffs continue to add more to the ranks of unemployed and uninsured. Consumer 
healthcare spending is also expected to decline. Hospital reserves and financial flexibility entered 2009 worse off, but are 
expected to be somewhat stable through the year, according to the report”.  

From Moody’s:  

During the months of October and November 2008, Moody’s downgraded 18 hospital bond ratings while only 
upgrading one rating. This sharp increase in downgrades through the first nine weeks of the fourth quarter is a notable 
departure from recent quarters, most of which had nearly equal rating downgrades and upgrades (see Figure 1).  
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4. Labor - Hospitals are labor intensive organizations, what are the short term needs and expenses related 
to labor.  What impact does economic volatility have on workforce issues, what does it mean in terms 
of jobs. 

Hospitals paid $11.4 billion in salaries and benefits to employees in 2007, according to the Massachusetts Division of 
Healthcare Finance and Policy. The across-the-board deterioration in the financial condition of hospitals means many 
facilities have been forced to consider drastic measures, including cutting services, implementing layoffs, or delaying 
capital improvement projects. According to MHA’s survey, 24 percent of hospitals already have cut, or are considering 
cutting services, and 63 percent report staffing cuts. Despite a reputation as a “recession-proof” sector of the economy, 
Massachusetts hospitals report that they have had to cut more than 1,000 positions in 2008, a number that will climb in 
2009. We estimate that for every million dollars cut from hospital funding, 16 jobs are directly threatened; with a 2.1 
multiplier, 33 jobs are threatened directly and indirectly. 

5. Losses in Mission Drive Areas and Requirement for Subsidies - Cited losses in caring for those on 
public programs (Medicaid/Medicare), research and medical education.  Any sense of the magnitude 
of each, at least rank order of magnitude. 
 

Medical Education:  

The Medicare program reimburses hospitals for the cost of graduate medical education but hospitals lose money on this 
service to the tune of $47 million a year. This situation will likely worsen in the future if there is no regulatory or 
legislative action to reverse it. This is because, in its March Report to Congress, the Medicare Payment Assessment 
Commission (MedPAC) recommended that the indirect medical education (IME) adjustment should be reduced by 1 
percent point to 4.5% per 10% increment in the resident-to-bed ratio. While this recommendation has not been included 
in either the House or Senate Budget resolutions, it may still come under consideration for savings in health reform 
legislation. We estimate that reducing the IME adjustment to 4.5 percent would reduce payments to Massachusetts 
hospitals by $64 million in 2010. In addition, October 1, 2009 is the effective date for a new CMS rule to permanently 
phase out over two years the indirect medical education adjustment paid to teaching hospitals for their capital 
expenditures.  Without action, the provision will cost Massachusetts teaching hospitals over $20million a year.   

Medicaid GME cuts: Medicaid Graduate Medical Education is to be eliminated entirely from inpatient payments in 
fiscal year 2010.  MHA estimates this is a $21 million impact from the current policy, which had already reflected earlier 
cuts to this provision.  In December, MassHealth eliminated the medical education adjustment for specialty training and 
reduced the payment level for primary care.  All total, approximately $45 million in Medicaid medical education 
payments will be eliminated by fiscal year 2010. 

Medicaid payment gap: In 2006, one of the legislature’s key priorities in the historic healthcare reform law was to 
increase Medicaid payments to hospitals and physicians over time so that payments would be more aligned with the cost 
of care. While progress was made initially, MHA’s current assessment is that the underpayment gap for hospitals will be 
larger in 2010 than before the reform law was enacted. The level of the payment cuts to hospitals will create an 
underpayment gap of approximately $500 million relative to the cost care provided to Medicaid patients. On average, 
hospitals will be paid approximately 70 percent of cost. 
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Medicare Payment Gap and Margins: Our projections show that acute care hospitals in the state will lose over  
$358 million caring for Medicare patients in 2009, with an overall Medicare margins at acute care hospitals falling  
to -8.1%. 

 
  

  

  

2005 Actual 2006 
Actual 

2007 2008 2009 2010 

Gains/(Losses) ($46,972,030) ($208,862,491) ($269,430,336) ($316,585,629) ($358,515,762) ($431,026,429) 

Margin 

  

-1.2% -5.1% -6.4% -7.3% -8.1% -9.6% 

Percentage of Hospitals 
with Negative Margins 

54.5% 67.7% 71.9% 72.3% 75.4% 76.9% 

 

Research revenue: from FY03 through FY09 NIH funding was flat (with one year of a 1% decrease).  When  
BRDPI (biomedical research development price index) is taken into account, this means we saw a loss in purchasing 
power of 13%.   
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Georgia Maheras, 
Health Care for All 
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Douglas J. McGregor, 

Director of Healthcare Services for the 
Boston Organization of Teaching Hospital Financial Officers  
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Roland Price, 

Treasurer for Tufts Health Plan, Inc.  
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April 15, 2009 
 
 
Sarah Iselin, Commissioner 
Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 
2 Boylston Street, 5th Floor 
Boston, MA 02116 
 
 Re: Public Input Session: Study of the Reserves, Endowments, and Surpluses of Health Insurers  

and Hospitals 
 
Dear Commissioner Iselin: 
 
On behalf of Tufts Health Plan, thank you for the opportunity to offer comments at today's public input session.  Tufts 
Health Plan provides insurance coverage for roughly 720,000 members. Since 1979, Tufts Health Plan has been 
committed to providing a higher standard of health care coverage and to improving the quality of care for every 
member.  Tufts Health Plan’s Health Maintenance Organization (HMO) and Point of Service (POS) plans are ranked 
second by U.S. News & World Report/National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) and its Medicare Advantage 
plan, Tufts Health Plan Medicare Preferred, is ranked number ten in the nation.   
 
We view the Study of Reserves, Endowments, and Surpluses of Health Insurers and Hospitals as an extremely important 
topic as it has serious implications not only for health plans but also for the plans’ policyholders and medical providers - 
constituencies that our surplus is meant to protect.   
 
Terminology used in the Study: 
 
It may be helpful to clarify certain terminology that is referenced in the study, so our comments are consistent with our 
statutory financial reporting.  As an insurer, we view “reserves” as an insurer’s estimate of the liability accrued for the 
cost of claims incurred but not paid.  This is a liability reported on our balance sheet.  Surplus is part of the section of 
the statutory balance sheet referred to as Capital & Surplus.  Capital & Surplus is essentially the difference between our 
total admitted assets and our total liabilities.  This is the financial cushion that protects our policyholders.  For purposes 
of our comments, we use the term “surplus” as an indication of capital & surplus as reported on our balance sheet, 
which we believe is consistent with the intent of the Study. 
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History of Surplus Levels at Tufts Health Plan: 
 
Our surplus is driven primarily by three sources:  (1) operating income, or what is left of our premium revenue after we 
pay medical costs and administrative expenses; (2) interest income on fixed income investments; and (3) realized & 
unrealized capital gains & losses on other investments. 

 
Prior to 2003, our surplus levels were not substantially higher than the minimum requirements that were established for 
Risk Based Capital (RBC) purposes at the time.  However, in 2003, investment markets began a 5 year period of 
relatively strong returns resulting in significant increases in surplus and RBC levels by the end of 2007.  As a point of 
comparison, for the five year period ending December 31, 2007, U.S. equities had an annualized return of between 13% 
and 14%.  The bond market had more modest, but relatively good returns.  During this period, Tufts Health Plan had 
consistent, but modest operating margins. 
 
However, strong investment returns contributed significantly to our strong levels of surplus and RBC through the end of 
2007.  In fact, we estimate that approximately 70% of the increase in our surplus during that period was attributable to 
capital appreciation and interest income from our investment portfolio. 
 
Surplus levels at Tufts Health Plan are used to mitigate premium increases to members and to reinvest in our business to 
improve services and programs for our members.  And in 2008, strong surplus levels helped Tufts Health Plan withstand 
a dramatic downturn in the financial markets.  Even well diversified portfolios incurred substantial losses as a result of 
the credit crisis and the economic slowdown.  Recent events seem to indicate that investment markets will continue to 
be extremely volatile. 
 
 
Other Risks and Considerations for the future regarding Surplus: 
 
Surplus levels can help cover financial risks associated with regulatory and legislative uncertainty at the national level.  
For example, decreased funding for Medicare Advantage will likely result in lower operating margins, and consequently, 
lower surplus levels in future periods.  Other regulatory requirements related to HIPAA and CMS require substantial 
investments in infrastructure and IT systems. 
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As a not-for-profit insurer, we have limited ability to proactively increase our surplus levels.  As mentioned previously, 
there are just a few sources to increase surplus: operating margins, investment income and capital appreciation of our 
portfolio.  We have limited ability to increase operating margins and stay within our not-for-profit charter.  And we have 
limited ability to increase risk in our investment portfolio to generate higher returns while maintaining a prudent 
investment policy.  Furthermore, we have very little ability to access the capital markets to raise additional surplus, 
without taking on debt through surplus notes.  And finally, unlike other life, property / casualty insurers in the state, 
health insurers have no guarantee fund established to protect policyholders. 
 
We believe that, ultimately, our surplus exists to protect the policyholders, our members, against financial instability and 
future uncertainty.  Our surplus also ensures that we can meet our payment obligations to medical providers.  Aside 
from protection for members and providers, we believe strong surplus levels are necessary for our business to withstand 
economic uncertainty, investment market volatility, and fluctuations in business cycles, particularly in the current 
environment. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to offer our comments.  If we can be of assistance in responding to additional questions, 
please contact me at 617-972-9418.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Roland Price 
Treasurer 
Tufts Health Plan 
 
 
CC: Kristin Lewis 
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Appendix 3: Description of Risk Based Capital Formula 
The purpose of the RBC formula is to determine the minimum amount of capital for a health insurer below which the 
regulator must intervene in order to protect the interests of the insured members. An insurer’s capital and surplus is 
evaluated relative to this minimum by the RBC ratio. The RBC formula takes into consideration the following five major 
categories of risk: 

• H0: Asset risk of affiliates 

• H1: Other asset risk 

• H2: Underwriting risk 

• H3: Credit Risk 

• H4: General business risk. 

A brief discussion of the five categories of risk follows.  

Asset risk related to affiliates (H0 risk) differentiates between those entities that are themselves subject to an RBC 
calculation and others. For those affiliates subject to an RBC calculation, the RBC result of the affiliate becomes the 
basis of its contribution to the H0 risk. For other affiliates, contribution to this component is the asset value multiplied 
by a percentage factor indicated in the calculation instructions. 

The “Other asset” category, the H1 risk component, includes all non-affiliate assets. These assets consist primarily of 
various categories of invested assets (e.g., stocks, bonds, etc.) and furniture and equipment. Bonds are carried in the 
statutory statement at amortized value (except in the case of a default). That is, bonds are not “marked to market” for 
statutory statement purposes. Therefore differences between book and market value do not affect earnings or surplus. The 
statement value of bonds effectively assumes that they will be held to maturity. Bonds are split into seven different risk 
classifications which are based on the designations assigned by the NAIC Securities Valuations Office. U.S. government 
bonds and those guaranteed by the U.S government are considered to be risk free and do not contribute to the RBC 
calculation. For all other bond categories the statement value is multiplied by a factor which ranges from 0.3% for the least 
risky to 30% for bonds in default. That is, a $1000 face amount corporate bond would contribute $3 to the H1 component 
calculated value, while a similar bond that was in default would contribute $300 to the calculation. A similar process is in 
place for preferred stocks. Mortgage loans are generally subject to a 5% factor. Owned real estate is generally subject to a 
10% factor. Furniture, equipment (including EDP equipment), and software are generally subject to a 10% factor. Common 
stocks are generally carried at market value in the statutory statement and the RBC factor is 15%.  

The category “other assets” includes equity investments that are not publicly traded. These investments, including 
partnership interests, are listed in the annual statement in Schedule BA. BCBS, HMO Blue and Fallon have significant 
amounts of such assets, which are subject to a 20% RBC factor. The sum of the investments times the relevant factors 
becomes the total H1 component.  

For a health insurer the underwriting risk category (the H2 component of the RBC formula) is generally the largest 
contributor to the RBC calculation. Health insurers, unlike life insurers, make few long-term guarantees, but they are 
exposed to risk because claims results may be different from expected, because of changes in their block of business, 
changes in medical care trend, projection errors, or random variation. This calculation takes into account the level of 
incurred claims for various types of coverage, the protection provided by reinsurance, the risk of rate guarantees beyond 
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12 months85, and the reduction of risk provided by premium stabilization funds and provider arrangements, such as 
capitation and “withholds.”  

The credit risk component (the H3 component) takes into account the risk of recovering receivable amounts from 
creditors. This component considers the collection risk of: 

• Amounts due from reinsurers and affiliates, 

• Amounts due from providers under risk arrangements, 

• Investment income receivables,  

• Pharmaceutical rebate receivables and similar amounts. 

The general business risk component (the H4 component) recognizes such risks as: 

• Unanticipated fluctuations in administrative expenses, 

• Unanticipated fluctuations in the cost of administering ASC and ASO contracts,  

• Guaranty fund assessments86, and  

• Excessive growth. 

The RBC formula recognizes that it is unlikely that adverse experience for each of the type of events considered for H1 
through H4 risk will occur simultaneously. A covariance formula adjusts the combined effect of the H1 through H4 risks 
so that the combination of the risk components is less than the sum of them. The formula assumes that the H1 through 
H4 risks are uncorrelated. The H0 risk is added to the combined result of the H1 through H4 risk, reflecting the 
assumption that the H0 risk is highly correlated with the overall risk of the company (i.e. if the company experiences 
severe financial problems the affiliates would also be adversely affected.) The process described in this paragraph is 
summarized in the following formula: 

RBC = H0 + Square Root of (H12+H22+H32+H42) 

The ACL is calculated as 50% of the RBC amount calculated by the formula.  

The TAC and the ACL amounts are included in the Five Year Historical Data87 page of the statutory financial statement 
filed by insurers. The ratio of these two items is used by regulators as an indicator of the financial health of an insurer 
and is generally referred to as the “RBC ratio.” 

The filing company may be subject to certain action by the DOI, as stated in the regulation, based on the ratio of the 
TAC and the ACL Amount, usually referred to as the RBC ratio. In addition to ACL, the following three other 
categories of action are defined in the regulation: 

• The Company Action Level RBC is 200% of ACL 

• The Regulatory Action Level RBC is 150% of ACL 

• The Mandatory Control Level RBC is 70% of ACL.  

                                                      

85 While this is part of the RBC formula, it is not relevant for Massachusetts HMOs, which are not permitted to have guarantees longer than 12 months, without DOI 
permission. 
86 While this is part of the RBC formula, it is not relevant for Massachusetts HMOs, which are not subject to guarantee fund assessments. 
87 Page 29 of the 2008 statutory financial statement. 
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If the company’s TAC amount is greater than or equal to the Regulatory Action Level but less than the Company Action 
Level, the company may be required to prepare and submit to the DOI a plan (an “RBC Plan), including assumptions 
and projections, that contains proposed actions that will allow the company to achieve a TAC level equal to or greater 
than the Company Action Level. 

If the company’s TAC amount is greater than or equal to the ACL and less than the Regulatory Action Level: 

• The company is required to submit an RBC Plan to the DOI, 

• The DOI is required to perform an examination of the company, including a review of the RBC Plan and  

• The DOI is required to issue an order specifying the corrective actions to be taken by the company (a “Corrective Order”). 

If the TAC amount is greater than or equal to the Mandatory Control level but less than the ACL, the DOI may take the 
same action as specified in the prior paragraph or may take other action allowed and as specified in the regulation. If the 
RBC amount is less than the Mandatory Control Level, the DOI is directed to place the company under regulatory 
control88 as allowed by provisions of the Chapter under which the company was organized. 

Regulatory intervention is required if the Total Adjusted Capital amount is less than 200% of the Authorized Control 
Level. This suggests that a TAC amount equal to 200% of the Authorized Control Level defines a floor for a company’s 
capital and surplus under ordinary conditions. In practice it would be desirable for a company to establish a goal that is 
in excess of this amount in order to provide reasonable assurance that the company does not become subject to 
regulatory action due to ordinary fluctuations in its business.  

The profile section for each of the selected health insurers in this report includes data that shows level of reported 
surplus and RBC ratios for each year in the 10 year study period. For each of the carriers included, the RBC ratio was 
significantly above the 200% level. Tables 1 and 2 below indicate the TAC amount, the ACL amount and the RBC ratio 
at year end 2007 and 2008 for each of the insurers analyzed. 

 

Table 1.  Net Worth ($1,000,000) and RBC Ratio — 2007  

Company Reported TAC Reported ACL Ratio 

BCBS 705.7 99.7 708% 

HMO Blue 880.6 170.8 516% 

Fallon 171.5 30.3 566% 

Harvard 373.5 69.3 539% 

HNE 36.0 9.9 363% 

Neighborhood 132.8 21.7 613% 

Tufts 547.5 69.3 790% 

UHNE 119.3 11.8 1015% 

Total 2,966.8 482.8 615% 

                                                      

88 The DOI may delay such action by up to ninety days. 
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Table 2.  Net Worth ($1,000,000) and RBC Ratio — 2008  

Company  Reported TAC   Reported ACL  Ratio 

BCBS 614.2 96.0 640% 

HMO Blue 707.0 165.6 427% 

Fallon 122.5 33.0 372% 

Harvard 386.7 74.8 517% 

HNE 38.4 10.4 369% 

Neighborhood 153.2 28.4 540% 

Tufts 435.8 81.5 535% 

UHNE 125.5 12.4 1013% 

Total 2,583.4 502.0 515% 

 
 
As noted in the profile for each insurer, the decline in TAC for HMO Blue, BCBS, Tufts and Fallon is largely 
attributable to the effect of realized and unrealized capital gains experienced in 2008. Neighborhood’s surplus increased 
during 2008. However, due to a decrease in underwriting gain and significant growth of its business, the growth in ACL 
for Neighborhood outpaced the growth in TAC and consequently, its 2008 RBC ratio decreased from the 2007 level.  

The calculation of the ACL amount is done based on instructions provided by the NAIC and the results of this 
calculation are reported to the NAIC and to state insurance regulators. The filed RBC report is confidential and there 
was no access to RBC reports for the purposes of analysis. However, based on the NAIC instructions provided for the 
calculation of the ACL amounts, a reasonable estimate for the H1–H4 amounts was developed based on each company’s 
2007 annual statement data.89 The results of this analysis are indicated below:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                      

89 Certain elements of the calculation are based on data that is contained in company records and that is not separately identified the annual statutory financial 
statement. In such instances reasonable estimates were made. 
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Table 3.  2007 Modeled ACL ($1,000,000) 

Company Reported ACL Modeled ACL 
Modeled as % 

of Reported 

BCBS 99.7 93.1 93.3% 

HMO Blue 170.8 165.8 97.1% 

Fallon 30.3 29.0 95.5% 

Harvard 69.3 60.4 87.1% 

HNE 9.9 10.1 101.6% 

Neighborhood 21.7 21.7 100.4% 

Tufts 69.3 68.3 98.5% 

UHNE 11.8 11.9 101.3% 

Total 482.8 460.2 95.3% 

 
For the modeled ACL amount, there was no access to information to calculate an estimated amount for HO (affiliate) 
risk, and there was no attempt to do so.  

The components of calculations and the effect of the covariance are indicated in table 4.  

Table 4.  2007 Modeled RBC by Component ($1,000,000) 

Company 
Modeled 
RBC CAL 

H-0 Affiliate 
Risk 

H-1 Asset 
Risk 

H-2 
Morbidity 

Risk 
H-3 Credit 

Risk 

H-4 Admin 
Expense 

Risk Covariance 

BCBS 186.1 - 132.7 127.1 28.6 7.7 (110.0) 

HMO Blue 331.6 - 142.9 298.7 5.9 15.1 (131.2) 

Fallon 57.9 - 22.7 53.0 4.4 2.9 (25.1) 

Harvard 120.8 - 8.2 119.8 9.4 8.4 (25.1) 

HNE 20.1 - 0.8 20.1 0.3 1.0 (2.1) 

Neighborhood 43.5 - 0.7 43.4 2.2 2.5 (5.3) 

Tufts 136.5 - 66.6 118.4 10.7 9.1 (68.2) 

UHNE 23.8 - 1.9 23.6 0.6 2.1 (4.5) 

Total 920.4 - 376.7 804.1 62.2 48.7 (371.4) 

 
The effect of the covariance formula is to produce an amount that is less than the sum of the parts, reflecting the 
assumption that the risks reflected in the H1–H4 components are independent risks. The following table indicates the 
contribution that each of the modeled H1 through H4 components make to the modeled RBC amount.  
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Table 5.  Modeled RBC by type (%) 

Company 
Modeled 
RBC CAL 

H-0 Affiliate 
Risk 

H-1 Asset 
Risk 

H-2 
Morbidity 

Risk 
H-3 Credit 

Risk 

H-4 Admin 
Expense 

Risk Covariance 

BCBS 100% 0% 71% 68% 15% 4% -59% 

HMO Blue 100% 0% 43% 90% 2% 5% -40% 

Fallon 100% 0% 39% 92% 8% 5% -43% 

Harvard 100% 0% 7% 99% 8% 7% -21% 

HNE 100% 0% 4% 100% 2% 5% -11% 

Neighborhood 100% 0% 2% 100% 5% 6% -12% 

Tufts 100% 0% 49% 87% 8% 7% -50% 

UHNE 100% 0% 8% 99% 3% 9% -19% 

Total 100% 0% 41% 87% 7% 5% -40% 

 
The absolute magnitude of the H1 Asset Risk component and its relative relationship to the H2 Morbidity Risk 
component is the result of the type of invested assets held by the insurer. In the section on invested assets, note that for 
HMO Blue, BCBS, Tufts and Fallon a substantial portion of their invested assets were equity type assets — common 
stocks and equity in partnerships listed in Schedule BA. It is recognized in the calculation of the H1 component that 
equity investments entail greater risk in that the factor applied to the statement value of such assets is greater than that 
applicable to high quality long-term bonds. The following table provides a high level summary of the factors applicable 
to various types of investments: 

Table 6.  Asset Risk Factors 

Asset Type % Factor* 

Bonds — U.S. Guaranteed 0.0% 

Bonds — High quality 0.3% 

Real Estate 10.0% 

Common Stocks 15.0% 

Mortgages 10.0% 

Schedule BA Equity  20.0% 

* Applied to statement value 

 
Table 6 suggests that investment decisions by the insurer with respect to asset types have implications for the insurer’s 
RBC ratio.  
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In order to for an insurer to achieve a desired RBC ratio, the required amount of surplus will directly depend on the type 
of investments held by the insurer90. The sources of this surplus for a non-profit insurer are limited to investment gains 
(net investment income and realized and unrealized capital gains) and underwriting gains91. In particular, once having 
achieved a desirable RBC ratio, an insurer may “free up” surplus by a shift to less risky assets92 and such “freed up” 
surplus may be available for other uses. 

The effect of converting reported equity investments from year end 2007 into high quality bonds is modeled below in 
Table 7.93 The results of that analysis indicate that, if insurers shifted equity based investments to high quality bonds the 
RBC amount would be reduced by approximately $110 million. This in turn would reduce the target amount of surplus 
that insurers would aim for. For example, if insurers as a group targeted a level of surplus of 400% of their RBC amount 
(i.e. 800% RBC ratio), by shifting from equity type investments to high quality long-term bonds, the dollar amount of 
target surplus would be reduced by approximately $440 million in aggregate.  

 

Table 7.  2007 Modeled RBC by Component ($1,000,000) 
No Equity Risk 

Company 
Modeled 
RBC CAL 

H-0 Affiliate 
Risk 

H-1 Asset 
Risk 

H-2 
Morbidity 

Risk 
H-3 Credit 

Risk 

H-4 Admin 
Expense 

Risk Covariance 

BCBS 131.6 - 17.1 127.1 28.6 7.7 (48.8) 

HMO Blue 299.6 - 15.6 298.7 5.9 15.1 (35.9) 

Fallon 53.3 - 0.7 53.0 4.4 2.9 (7.7) 

Harvard 120.7 - 7.1 119.8 9.4 8.4 (24.0) 

HNE 20.1 - 0.3 20.1 0.3 1.0 (1.6) 

Neighborhood 43.5 - 0.7 43.4 2.2 2.5 (5.3) 

Tufts 120.0 - 14.0 118.4 10.7 9.1 (32.1) 

UHNE 23.7 - 0.5 23.6 0.6 2.1 (3.1) 

Total 812.5 - 56.0 804.1 62.2 48.7 (158.5) 

 
In the above discussion, the effect of an insurer’s invested asset distribution on RBC amount was discussed. In a similar 
fashion, risk sharing with providers impacts the H2 Underwriting risk component of the RBC calculation. However, 
reducing risk to insurers by shifting more risk to providers may not reduce overall health system risk when one considers 
the combined universe of both insurers and providers.  

 

 

                                                      

90 Investment characteristics are one of many variables that impact the calculated ACL amount. 
91 The issuance of a surplus note can also be a source of additional surplus for an insurer. 
92 For example, by shifting from common stocks to high quality bonds. 
93 The modeling did not assume any change in investment of company owned and occupied real estate. 
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Appendix 4: Health Insurer Profiles 
Profiles for each of the eight carriers reviewed in the health insurer portion of the study are based on statistical 
information obtained from statutory annual statement filings submitted for the years 1999 to 2008. The profiles provide 
an overview of the business of each carrier, including both current business characteristics and trends over the ten year 
period. The statistical data reviewed here includes information about revenues, membership, underwriting gains, 
investments, loss ratios, claim reserve margins, and surplus. Where available, information is provided separately for the 
major business segments.  

Current statutory annual statements provide financial data for each of the following lines of business:94  

• Comprehensive (hospital and medical) 

• Medicare Supplement 

• Dental only 

• Vision only 

• Federal Employee Health Benefit Plans (FEHBP) 

• Title XVIII Medicare 

• Title XIX Medicaid 

• Stop Loss 

• Disability Income 

• Long-term Care 

• Other Health 

• Other Non-Health 

None of the reviewed carriers participates in all lines of business, and most only participate in a few. Note that 
“Comprehensive” as described here is sometimes also referred to as “commercial”, and is distinct from Medicare or 
Medicaid business. Comprehensive includes individual, small group, and large group business. 

The statutory statement also includes information about membership, and reports membership by categories that reflect 
the nature of the products offered: 

• Health Maintenance Organizations (HMOs) 

• Provider service organizations (PSOs) 

• Preferred provider organizations (PPOs) 

• Point of service (POS) 

• Indemnity only 

• Aggregate write-in of other lines of business95  

                                                      

94 There were some additions and deletions during the ten year period of the study. 
95 This category was utilized by one carrier to reflect Medicare Part D membership. 
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The last category may include specific membership by some of the same categories as the financial categories discussed 
above. ASO and ASC business is not reflected in the reported membership. 

The profiles are organized alphabetically. 
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Appendix 4.1: Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Inc. 
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Inc. (BCBS) is based in Boston, MA. BCBS does not have any outstanding 
shares. BCBS is licensed only in Massachusetts.  

Affiliates controlled by BCBS are Blue Cross Blue and Shield of Massachusetts HMO Blue, an HMO organization and 
two foundations: 

• Health Care Assistance Foundation — The foundation’s mission is to promote the care of the elderly, disabled and 
others who are experiencing financial hardship and to provide financial assistance for their care.  

• Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts Foundation — The foundation’s mission is to promote and support 
programs, research and policies that will help to expand access to high quality affordable health care for 
Massachusetts residents. 

• Additionally, BCBS owns: 

• Indigo Insurance Services, LLC (Indigo) is wholly owned by BCBS. Indigo was formed in December 2007 as an 
insurance agency for the purpose of offering a more comprehensive portfolio of products and services. Products to 
be offered are group and voluntary life insurance, accidental death and dismemberment insurance and short and 
long-term disability. 

• BCBS Ventures, Inc. and BCBS Ventures Partnership LP (17% ownership of each entity). BCBS Ventures, Inc. is 
the general partner in BCBS Ventures Partnership LP. BCBS acquired its equity stake in July 2008. BCBS Ventures 
LP was formed by eleven Blue Cross Blue Shield plans to invest in emerging companies that will bring greater 
innovation, efficiency, consumer focus and transparency to health care.  

• Life & Specialty Ventures LLC (LSV) is a joint venture of various Blue Cross Blue Shield plans. BCBS acquired its 
27% ownership position in LSV in February 2008. LSV is an insurance holding company and was created to offer a 
broad range of insurance products and services nation-wide.  

• B.P. Informatics, LLC (BPI) was formed in August, 2007 by BCBS and Blues plans in various other states. BPI was 
formed to address the need for greater transparency in health care cost and quality. BCBS has an 18.7% ownership 
position in BPI. 

BCBS was formed in 1988 by the merger of Blue Cross of Massachusetts and Blue Shield of Massachusetts, as provided 
for in Chapter 160 of the Public Acts of 1988. HMO Blue was formerly a part of BCBS, but was established as wholly 
controlled but separately incorporated subsidiary of BCBS in 2005. Prior to 2005, HMO Blue filed a statutory statement 
for its own business, and that same business was reported as part of BCBS. Since 2005, the statements have been entirely 
separate. 

BCBS reported $2,229 million of premium revenue in 2008. $1,183 million or approximately 53% of it was 
comprehensive medical insurance, while $446 million was Medicare Supplement business and $415 million was FEHBP 
revenue. BCBS reported $65 million of dental insurance revenue and $120 million revenue from Other Health 
insurance.96  Prior to 2007 BCBS had reported stop loss as a separate category as required by NAIC annual statement 
instructions. Of the Massachusetts health plans that are a part of this study, BCBS is the only one that offers Medicare 
Supplement insurance.  

                                                      

96 BCBS stated that this category includes stand alone Medicare Part D, stop loss, and ASC business. 
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Netting out the revenue associated with HMO Blue from the statements prior to 2005, BCBS reported a 13.7% 
compound annual revenue growth for all lines of business over the ten year period covered by this study, although 
revenue was down in 2008 by 2% as compared to 2007. Medicare Supplement and Dental have shown relatively more 
modest growth than the other lines, and neither of those two lines has shown any substantial compound growth in the 
last five years. BCBS did show rapid growth in dental insurance in 2006 and 2007, but dental revenue in 2008 was back 
down to the level of the 1999-2005 period primarily due to its reinsurance arrangement with LSV that commenced in 
2008.97  

 

Table 1.  Revenue by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 
(Excluding HMO Blue) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 298.5 492.3 668.4 687.0 754.9 873.0 985.2 1,086.6 1,172.0 1,183.1 

Medicare Suppl 328.9 339.1 356.6 374.6 412.3 445.3 467.4 451.5 455.8 446.1 

Dental Only 58.4 66.8 72.7 67.2 67.8 73.7 78.1 98.9 122.4 64.7 

FEHBP - 14.7 - - 271.8 290.6 329.6 346.6 390.6 415.3 

Medicare 14.1 - - - - - 85.9 - - - 

Stop Loss - - - 35.8 34.4 33.5 30.6 31.0 - - 

Other Health - - 19.7 19.0 - 0.0 - 82.9 125.7 120.2 

Total 699.9 912.9 1,117.4 1,183.5 1,541.1 1,716.0 1,976.8 2,097.5 2,266.5 2,229.4 

 
BCBS’s 2008 underwriting gain of 1.7% of revenue was its second lowest during the ten year period. The underwriting 
gain or loss has ranged from a low of (0.2%) of revenue in 1999 to a high of 7.6% of revenue in 2003, with a ten year 
average of 4.6%. On a percentage basis, BCBS has had its strongest earnings performance associated with stop loss and 
other health insurance. However, all lines except FEHBP have contributed strongly to earnings. FEHBP business has 
been essentially break-even over the six years ending with 2008. BCBS lost money on dental insurance in 2008, the first 
year that happened.98  On a percentage basis, BCBS has by far the highest underwriting gain history of the companies in 
this study.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                      

97 BCBS ceded 51%of its dental business to a subsidiary of LSV effective January 1, 2008. 
98 BCBS ascribed this loss to its newly implemented reinsurance arrangement. 
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Table 2.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 
(Excluding HMO Blue) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive (15.7) 36.5 64.9 53.4 74.6 72.5 42.4 35.9 28.2 10.8 

Medicare Supp 8.6 13.3 16.3 8.7 13.7 14.6 22.7 16.0 27.6 19.5 

Dental Only 6.3 6.2 6.1 2.5 8.5 9.4 9.2 4.5 5.1 (3.5) 

FEHBP - (1.7) - - 0.5 0.6 (0.1) (0.2) 0.0 (0.5) 

Medicare - - - - (1.7) - 2.4 - - - 

Stop Loss - - - 3.8 16.1 8.4 6.4 5.5 - - 

Other Health - 6.7 (16.7) 7.7 5.7 7.5 - (3.6) 18.6 12.6 

Total (1.1) 61.1 70.7 76.0 117.4 112.8 83.0 58.2 79.5 38.9 

 

Table 3.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) as a Percentage of Revenue 
(Excluding HMO Blue) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive -5.3% 7.4% 9.7% 7.8% 9.9% 8.3% 4.3% 3.3% 2.4% 0.9% 

Medicare Supp 2.6% 3.9% 4.6% 2.3% 3.3% 3.3% 4.9% 3.5% 6.1% 4.4% 

Dental Only 10.8% 9.3% 8.4% 3.7% 12.5% 12.7% 11.8% 4.5% 4.2% -5.4% 

FEHBP - -11.4% - - 0.2% 0.2% 0.0% -0.1% 0.0% -0.1% 

Medicare 0.0% - - - - - 2.8% - - - 

Stop Loss - - - 10.6% 46.9% 24.9% 20.9% 17.8% - - 

Other Health - - -84.8% 40.4% - * - -4.3% 14.8% 10.5% 

Total -0.2% 6.7% 6.3% 6.4% 7.6% 6.6% 4.2% 2.8% 3.5% 1.7% 

* Not a meaningful value 

 
Average net investment income has been 2.3% of revenue, and realized capital gains have averaged -0.1% of revenue. 
However, BCBS has had positive capital gains in each of the last six years. Total average net income before Federal 
Income Tax (FIT) has been 6.9% of revenue, higher than the 4.2% experienced in 2008. BCBS is exempt from 
Massachusetts state income tax but does pay federal income tax. Net gain after FIT for 2008 was 3.8% of revenue. 
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Table 4.  Net Income Before FIT ($1,000,000) 
(Excluding HMO Blue) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Und. Gain (1.1) 61.1 70.7 76.0 117.4 112.8 83.0 58.2 79.5 38.9 

Net Inv. Income 16.3 35.8 29.2 26.3 32.6 37.8 34.1 39.9 47.2 48.4 

Cap Gains 6.9 (5.8) (26.8) (24.9) 4.8 7.6 21.8 10.4 19.4 4.6 

Other  8.1 0.1 - (0.5) - - - (2.4) 0.2 1.4 

Net Income  30.1 91.2 73.1 76.9 154.8 158.3 138.9 106.1 146.3 93.2 

 
BCBS reported surplus in 2008 of $614 million, a decline of $92 million as compared to 2007, even though it had before 
FIT earnings of $93 million in the year and after FIT earnings of $84 million. BCBS reported for 2008 unrealized losses 
of $93.1 million (net of taxes ($143.6 million pre-tax) that were charged directly to surplus, resulting in the decline in 
surplus in 2008. For all years prior to 2005 the surplus that is reflected in the BCBS annual statement includes the 
surplus attributable to HMO Blue. The decrease in surplus in 2005 reflects a transfer of $696 million of surplus to 
capitalize HMO Blue. The surplus reported in the BCBS annual statement is indicated in Table 5 below. 

Table 5.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000 or %) 
(Pre-2005 includes HMO Blue) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus* 362.1 441.2 525.7 616.1 887.6 1,091.0 465.4 628.2 705.7 614.2 

Growth in 
Surplus 

- 79.1 84.5 48.4 271.6 203.3 (625.6) 162.8 77.6 (91.6) 

Growth 
Percentage 

- 21.8% 19.1% 17.2% 44.1% 22.9% -57.3% 35.0% 12.3% -13.0% 

Surplus — 
Percent of 
Revenue* 

18.8% 16.2% 14.8% 16.0% 20.7% 22.1% 23.5% 29.9% 31.1% 27.5% 

 * Pre-2005 numbers include HMO Blue  

 
SAPOR has increased from 18.8% in 1999 to 27.5% in 2008. The highest SAPOR level reached by BCBS during the ten-
year period was 31.1% in 2007. The weighted average 2008 SAPOR ratio for all plans in this study was 19.2%.  

BCBS’s reported RBC ratio in 2008 was 640%. This represents a decrease from the ratio of 742% reported in the 1999 
annual statement and a decline from the levels reported in each of the last two years. In 2007 BCBS reported an RBC 
ratio of 708%. The weighted average for all the plans in this study for 2008 was 515%. The average for all plans has 
shown an increase as compared to 1999, but for 2008 is at its lowest level since 2004. 
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Table 6.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000) 
(Pre-2005 includes HMO Blue) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus* 362.1 441.2 525.7 616.1 887.6 1,091.0 465.4 628.2 705.7 614.2 

Authorized 
Control 
Level 

48.8 85.3 109.4 125.4 144.1 176.0 85.7 90.4 99.7 96.0 

RBC Ratio 742% 517% 481% 491% 616% 620% 543% 695% 708% 640% 

 * Pre-2005 numbers include HMO Blue  

 
It should be noted that BCBS and HMO Blue have an additional RBC related requirement that does not apply to the 
other companies in this study: BCBS and HMO Blue must maintain an RBC ratio of at least 375% to avoid “early 
warning” status, which results in inquiries by the Association and they need to maintain the RBC ratio above 200% in 
order to retain usage of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield name and mark. While such an action would not involve 
supervision by the DOI, as would falling below one of the action levels contained in Massachusetts regulation CMR 211 
25, loss of the right to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield trademark would be a significant marketing and public 
relations impediment to either of these companies. 

Health insurer RBC levels are dependent on five categories of risk. H-0 is risk associated with affiliate operations. H-1 is 
asset risk, which varies depending on the type and quality of assets held. H-2 is underwriting risk, dependent on the type 
of business and the volume of anticipated claims. H-3 is credit risk, and H-4 is administrative risk, associated with the 
expenses of running a business. For most health insurers, H-2 risk is the most important component, although H-1 risk 
can be important depending on the type of assets held. H-3 and H-4 are not usually significant sources of RBC risk. 
There is a co-variance calculation that recognizes that the different kinds of risks are diversified, and the RBC 
requirement is therefore decreased from the arithmetic sum of the components. Estimates for RBC development for H-
1 through H-4 segments of risk were developed from publicly available information from the filed statutory financial 
statement. 

Unlike most of the other companies in this study, BCBS has significant common stock exposure, which has a higher 
RBC component than bonds. Asset risk contributes about 67% of BCBS’s final total RBC requirement, underwriting risk 
about 60%, and H-3 and H-4 risk combined are 18%. BCBS’s co-variance calculation reduces the total RBC requirement 
by 54% of the final requirement. While it was not possible to estimate the affiliate risk from public information, this 
leaves approximately 9% which may be roughly equivalent to the H-0 portion of the RBC requirement. 

BCBS’s 2008 capital and surplus per member month was $85. Its capital and surplus represented 3.8 months of claims in 
2008, also the highest. The averages for all companies combined were $75 per member month and 2.6 months of claims. 

BCBS reported a minimum net worth requirement as of year end 2008, as required by Chapter 160 of the Public Acts of 
1988, the enabling legislation for the Blue Cross and Blue Shield merger, of $109.5 million. The company’s surplus 
exceeds this requirement by a significant amount. Since BCBS is licensed under MGL Chapter 176A and 176B and not 
under MGL Chapter 176G, it is not subject to the minimum net worth requirements of MGL Chapter 176G.  

It should be noted that HMO Blue and BCBS are subject to an agreement with the Division of Insurance (DOI) under 
which each can be required by DOI to provide a surplus note to the other in the event that either company’s RBC level 
is more than 75 points higher than that of the other company. 
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BCBS’s reported loss ratio in 2008 was 87.4%. Its average loss ratio has ranged between 80% and 88% over the ten year 
period. Its loss ratio for Medicare Supplement business, which is a regulated line of business, was 90.9% in 2008, and has 
averaged 90.6% over the ten year period.  

Table 7.  Loss Ratio by Line of Business 
(Excludes HMO Blue) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 91.5% 79.7% 77.7% 81.6% 77.1% 79.1% 81.7% 80.8% 82.1% 84.6% 

Medicare Suppl 90.4% 89.9% 89.6% 91.8% 89.7% 92.3% 90.8% 91.5% 89.2% 90.9% 

Dental Only 77.4% 78.3% 74.9% 80.0% 74.3% 74.3% 74.9% 82.5% 82.8% 84.7% 

FEHBP - - - - 92.8% 93.2% 93.9% 94.1% 94.5% 95.2% 

Medicare - - - - - - 91.2% - - 0.0% 

Stop Loss - - - 89.4% 51.9% 74.3% 63.9% 63.2% - - 

Other Health - - 0.0% 0.0% - 0.0% - 83.9% 71.7% 76.2% 

Total 88.0% 82.1% 80.0% 83.7% 82.5% 84.6% 85.7% 85.2% 85.1% 87.4% 
 
BCBS reported 7.2 million member months in 2008, and average 2008 revenue per member month of $309. Reported 
member months have been relatively flat for the past three years, but are only about one-third of the level reported in 
2005 and prior due to the inclusion of ASC membership. Consequently, membership and PMPM revenue in the 2006-
2008 is not directly comparable to that of prior years. The average revenue per member month in 2008 for all companies 
was $394. Differences in benefit design and product mix will impact the average amount of revenue on a PMPM basis. 
Relatively low premiums for Medicare Supplement tend to push down the average PMPM revenue for BCBS. 

Table 8.  Member Months  
(Excludes HMO Blue) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Member 
Months (000) 

N/A 15,385 17,125 17,923 19,386 20,295 21,693 7,248 7,456 7,210 

Growth over 
Prior Year 

- - 11.3% 4.7% 8.2% 4.7% 6.9% -66.6% 2.9% -3.3% 

PMPM 
Revenue 

- $59 $65 $66 $79 $85 $91 $289 $304 $309 

Growth in 
PMPM 
Revenue 

- - 10.0% 1.2% 20.4% 6.4% 7.8% 217.5% 5.0% 1.7% 

 
BCBS has reported administrative expenses equal to 10.8% of revenue in 2008, comparable to its ten year average of 
11.1%. This is somewhat higher than the average for all companies, which was 10.3% in the most recent year and 10.4% 
over the ten year period. BCBS’s administrative expenses on a per member per month basis are approximately $34 for 
2008. It is difficult to evaluate the trend in BCBS administrative expenses per member month because of the inclusion of 
ASC member months in the reported totals prior to 2006.  
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Table 9.  Administrative Expenses 
(Excludes HMO Blue) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Admin. 
Expenses 
(000,000) 

$92 $102 $153 $117 $152 $152 $199 $252 $257 $242 

Growth over 
Prior Year 

- 11.3% 50.0% -23.6% 29.5% 0.1% 31.1% 26.6% 2.2% -6.0% 

Admin. Expense 
as % of 
Revenue 

13.1% 11.2% 13.7% 9.9% 9.8% 8.8% 10.1% 12.0% 11.4% 10.8% 

PMPM Admin. 
Expense 

- $6.63 $8.94 $6.53 $7.82 $7.47 $9.17 $34.74 $34.52 $33.54 

Growth in 
PMPM Admin. 
Expense 

- - 34.8% -27.0% 19.7% -4.4% 22.6% 279.0% -0.6% -2.8% 

 
BCBS’s reconciled 2007 claim liability reflected in the 2008 statutory statement showed a margin in the reported 2007 
liability of 1.6% of the liability or $3.5 million. That amounts to approximately 0.5% of 2007 surplus. Over the ten year 
period, BCBS’s claim liability has generally contained about a 10% margin, and this year was the lowest margin reported. 
The margin has declined over the study period. 

Table 10.  Claim Reserve Reconciliation ($1,000,000 or %) 
(Excludes HMO Blue) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Reported Prior 
Yr Reserve 

126.5 145.9 173.6 177.9 217.7 212.2 219.3 197.8 229.4 215.8 

Reconciled 
Reserve 

118.9 124.2 147.8 151.6 179.2 201.9 197.2 181.5 205.9 212.3 

Margin in 
Reserve 

7.5 21.7 25.9 26.4 38.5 10.4 22.1 16.3 23.5 3.5 

Margin as % of 
Reconciled 
Reserve 

6.3% 17.5% 17.5% 17.4% 21.5% 5.1% 11.2% 9.0% 11.4% 1.7% 

Margin as % of 
Surplus 

2.1% 4.9% 4.9% 4.3% 4.3% 1.0% 4.8% 2.6% 3.3% 0.6% 

 
BCBS’s Notes to Financial Statement noted that it has $150 million of currently unfunded post-retirement obligations. It is not 
required that this liability be reflected on the company’s balance sheet. BCBS reported almost no net liability for unfunded 
post-retirement obligations in 2007. The increase in this unfunded liability results entirely from a decline in the value of 
associated assets during 2008. A recovery in the equity markets should result in a reduction in the reported unfunded liability. 
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Prior to 2005 HMO Blue did not have its own investment portfolio. Up to 2005 the invested assets for both HMO Blue 
and BCBS were included in the BCBS statutory statement, although HMO Blue’s share of the investment income and 
realized capital gains were reflected in its statutory statement. Consequently, the invested assets reported by BCBS show 
a decrease from 2004 to 2005 with the revised status of HMO Blue. Invested assets reported by BCBS in 2005 were 
approximately 50% lower than the level of the prior year. At year end 2008 approximately 38% of invested assets was 
invested in long-term bonds, 15.3% was invested in common stocks, and 32% was invested in investment partnerships 
(reported in Schedule BA). Over the ten year period, the company’s holdings of long-term bonds have decreased as 
investments in partnerships have increased. Investments in common stocks peaked at 47% of invested assets in 2004. At 
that time common stocks represented 90% of surplus. The “Cash” category includes short-term investments. Company 
owned and occupied real estate comprises approximately 11% of invested assets at year end 2008, which is an increase 
from the relatively minimal amount in 1999. Equity type assets (common stocks and Schedule BA assets) total 32.2% of 
invested assets and 60% of surplus at year end 2008. 

Table 11.  Invested Assets by Type ($100,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 516.5 739.9 891.3 918.9 925.8 769.1 408.8 443.4 417.2 396.0 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

3.4 3.3 0.1 - - - 2.5 3.0 10.7 3.0 

Stocks — 
Common 

112.3 297.5 406.6 514.8 880.9 985.5 186.1 153.6 178.4 174.7 

Mortgage 
Loans — First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage 
Loans — 
Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — 
Occupied 

4.8 4.0 6.6 - 31.3 59.3 60.4 129.9 125.3 122.9 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other - - - 1.9 - - - - - - 

Cash 226.0 119.7 136.2 112.8 99.1 269.8 22.8 62.2 (23.9) 80.5 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

0.0 0.1 46.5 1.3 26.1 11.3 369.4 386.4 456.2 368.3 

Total Invested 
Assets 

863.0 1,164.4 1,487.4 1,549.6 1,963.1 2,095.1 1,050.1 1,178.4 1,163.9 1,145.3 
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Table 12.  Invested Assets by Type (% of total) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 59.8% 63.5% 59.9% 59.3% 47.2% 36.7% 38.9% 37.6% 35.8% 34.6% 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

0.4% 0.3% 0.0%    0.2% 0.3% 0.9% 0.3% 

Stocks — 
Common 

13.0% 25.6% 27.3% 33.2% 44.9% 47.0% 17.7% 13.0% 15.3% 15.3% 

Mortgage 
Loans — First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage 
Loans — 
Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — 
Occupied 

0.6% 0.3% 0.4% - 1.6% 2.8% 5.8% 11.0% 10.8% 10.7% 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other    0.1%       

Cash 26.2% 10.3% 9.2% 7.3% 5.0% 12.9% 2.2% 5.3% -2.1% 7.0% 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

0.0% 0.0% 3.1% 0.1% 1.3% 0.5% 35.2% 32.8% 39.2% 32.2% 

Total Invested 
Assets 

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 
The company’s long-term bond and preferred stock portfolio is generally valued at amortized cost. At year end 2008 
valuing bond investments at market would have decreased capital and surplus by about 0.6%. Common stocks and 
investment partnerships that are reported in schedule BA are valued at market and changes in unrealized capital gains are 
reported as a direct charge, on an after FIT basis, to surplus.  

BCBS reported $5.7 million in realized capital gains at year end 2008, a decrease from $24.2 of realized capital gains 
reported for the prior year. Unrealized capital gains for common stocks and investment partnerships are reflected as a 
direct charge to the surplus account on an after FIT basis.  

Statutory accounting requires that mutual fund investments are reported as common stocks. It should be noted at year 
end 2008 the company had investments in certain mutual funds with holdings of long-term bonds. As result of statutory 
accounting practices, a direct investment by BCBS in long-term bonds rather than through a mutual fund that invests in 
long-term bonds would produce a lower allocation to equity type investments and a likely increase in the RBC ratio. 

There have been significant year-to-year swings in unrealized capital gains, ranging from an unrealized capital gain $100 
million in 2003 to an unrealized capital loss of $143.6 million in 2008. Unrealized gains and losses have significantly 
affected the company’s year-to-year change in surplus.  
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Table 13.  Capital Gains (Before FIT, $1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Realized Cap 
Gains 

6.9 (5.8) (24.2) (59.9) 13.9 18.1 23.7 13.0 24.2 5.7 

Unrealized 
Cap Gains* 

(2.2) (34.2) (3.1) 43.7 99.5 43.1 (14.7) 27.7 7.1 (143.6) 

* Amount charged directly to surplus, excluding FIT benefit 

 
BCBS reported approximately $272 million of ASC99  fees in 2008. According to the Notes to Financial Statements 
included in the 2008 annual statement, the fees generated a margin of only $74,000 to BCBS’s reported underwriting 
gain.100   

BCBS has several reinsurance arrangements in effect: 

• Effective January 1, 2008, BCBS reinsured 51% of its dental risk to USAble Life, Inc., a subsidiary of LSV, in which 
BCBS has a 27% ownership position. 

• In 2007 BCBS entered into a 100% reinsurance arrangement in connection with the Federal Employee Vision 
Program with HM Life Insurance Company. 

• In 2006 BCBS entered into an individual stop loss reinsurance arrangement with Ace American Insurance Company 
for the purpose of reinsuring individual stop loss insurance sold to ASC clients by BCBS. 

Such reinsurance arrangements serve to mitigate BCBS’s underwriting risk in those very specific areas, but do not 
provide overall protection against loss in the more significant lines of BCBS business. 

                                                      

99 Administrative Service Contracts – see glossary. 
100 2008 Statutory Statement, Notes to Financial Statements, Note 18.B. 
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Appendix 4.2: Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts HMO Blue, Inc.  
HMO Blue is based in Boston, MA. HMO Blue is a wholly controlled subsidiary of BCBS. While HMO Blue has filed 
separate financial statements during the period covered by this study, up to and including the 2004 statement HMO 
Blue’s financial information was also included in the BCBS statements. HMO Blue is licensed only in Massachusetts and 
all premiums are reported as Massachusetts premiums.  

In 2008, 90% of HMO Blue’s revenue came from comprehensive medical insurance, while 9% was Medicare revenue 
and less than 1% was “Other Health insurance.” Measured by membership, 94% of HMO Blue’s business is enrolled in 
HMO plans and the remaining 6% of membership is enrolled in point-of-service plans (POS).  

HMO Blue reported $4,441 million of premium revenue in 2008. $3,991 million was comprehensive medical insurance (a 
slight decrease from the prior year), while $416 million was Medicare business (approximately a 6% increase). HMO Blue 
also reported $34 million of other health insurance revenue. Over the 10 year period ending with 2008 HMO Blue has 
experienced a 15% compound annual revenue growth, although the growth has slowed in the last two years.  

Table 1.  Revenue by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 1,230 1,618 2,132 2,336 2,439 2,865 3,350 3,812 4,036 3,991 

Medicare - 197 301 325 296 319 258 377 393 416 

Other Health - - - - 22 28 33 33 34 34 

Total 1,230 1,815 2,433 2,661 2,757 3,212 3,642 4,221 4,463 4,441 

 
HMO Blue experienced underwriting gains in all years 1999 through 2006, but has reported underwriting losses of 0.6% 
and 0.8% of revenue in the last two years, respectively. HMO Blue’s underwriting loss was $37 million in 2008. This was 
composed of a $63 million loss on comprehensive business, a $19 million gain on Medicare, and a $7 million gain on 
other health insurance.  

HMO Blue had an underwriting loss on comprehensive business for each of the last three years, and its loss ratio on 
comprehensive has increased steadily from 84% in 2003, its best earnings year, to 91% in each of the last two years. 
HMO Blue has had underwriting gains in Medicare in each of the three prior years that were on average comparable 
to their gain in 2008. Its underwriting gain has ranged from 4% to 7% on Medicare during that time period. Prior to 
that, HMO Blue had a history of losses or breakeven results on Medicare business. Medicare business may represent a 
particular risk for HMO Blue, as the federal government is likely to put pressure on Medicare margins over the 
coming years. 
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Table 2.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) by Line of Business ($100,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 20.6 39.4 39.5 58.1 90.6 81.2 37.0 (14.0) (48.2) (63.5) 

Medicare - (21.3) (21.4) (7.4) 3.2 (0.0) 18.8 22.3 16.1 19.2 

Other Health - - - - 4.6 7.1 5.8 4.6 6.0 7.0 

Total 20.6 18.1 18.1 50.6 98.4 88.3 61.5 12.9 (26.1) (37.3) 

 

Table 3.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) as a Percentage of Revenue 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 1.7% 2.4% 1.9% 2.5% 3.7% 2.8% 1.1% -0.4% -1.2% -1.6% 

Medicare - -10.8% -7.1% -2.3% 1.1% 0.0% 7.3% 5.9% 4.1% 4.6% 

Other Health - - - - 20.8% 25.3% 17.2% 13.9% 17.7% 20.5% 

Total 1.7% 1.0% 0.7% 1.9% 3.6% 2.7% 1.7% 0.3% -0.6% -0.8% 

 
HMO Blue has reported net income in each year because of net investment income exceeded the underwriting losses 
2007 and 2008. Realized capital gains in each of the last five years also contributed to net income. The capital gains were 
not significant in 2008, but contributed an amount equal to 0.8% of revenue in 2007, and 0.2% on average over the ten 
year period. Average net investment income over the ten year period is equal to 1.4% of revenue, close to the 2008 result 
of 1.3%  

Table 4.  Net Income ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Und. Gain 20.6 18.1 18.1 50.6 98.4 88.3 61.5 12.9 (26.1) (37.3) 

Net Inv. 
Income 

24.4 27.2 36.1 32.5 39.9 44.3 35.0 48.3 53.3 57.6 

Cap Gains - - 2.6 (35.0) 9.1 10.5 40.5 9.1 35.9 1.4 

Other  - - - - - - - - - - 

Net Income  45.1 45.3 56.8 48.2 147.4 143.1 137.1 70.3 63.1 21.7 

Note: HMO Blue is not subject to FIT 

 
HMO Blue’s total average net income over the ten year period ending in 2008 has been equal to 2.7% of revenue, but its 
best years were 2003 through 2005 when the net income ranged from 3.8% to 5.3% of revenue. The gain in 2008 was 
only 0.5% of revenue. HMO Blue is not subject to state or federal income tax due to its non-profit status.  

HMO Blue reported capital and surplus in 2008 of $707 million, a decline of $174 million or almost 20% as compared to 
2007. Unrealized capital losses of 185.9 million were charged directly to HMO Blue’s capital and surplus in 2008. Capital 
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and surplus had shown a steady increase from $230 million in 1999 to $881 million in 2007. Over the ten year period 
ending with 2008 they reported a compound annual surplus growth of 13%. As the surplus has grown, the annual rate of 
growth becomes more difficult to sustain. 

SAPOR has varied from a low of 12.8% in 2001 to a high of 21% in 2005. SAPOR in 2008 was 15.9%, down about 20% 
from the 2007 level of 19.7%. The weighted average 2008 SAPOR ratio for all plans in this study was 19.2%. . 

Table 5.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000 or %) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 230 266 312 354 468 583 764 840 881 707 

Growth in 
Surplus 

- 36 46 42 115 114 181 76 41 (174) 

Growth 
Percentage 

- 15.7% 17.1% 13.5% 32.4% 24.4% 31.1% 9.9% 4.9% -19.7% 

SAPOR* 18.7% 14.7% 12.8% 13.3% 17.0% 18.1% 21.0% 19.9% 19.7% 15.9% 

*Surplus as Percent of Revenue 

 
HMO Blue’s reported RBC ratio in 2008 was 427%, which is below the weighted average of 515% for 2008 for the plans 
included in this study. HMO Blue has only been reporting information to support an RBC ratio for the last four years. 
This ratio has declined each year, from a high of 558% in 2005. The average for all plans has increased as compared to 
1999, but is now at its lowest level since 2004. 

Health insurer RBC levels are dependent on five categories of risk. H-0 is risk associated with affiliate operations. H-1 is 
asset risk, which varies depending on the type and quality of assets held. H-2 is underwriting risk, dependent on the type 
of business and the volume of anticipated claims. H-3 is credit risk, and H-4 is administrative risk, associated with the 
expenses of running a business. For most health insurers, H-2 risk is the most important component, although H-1 risk 
can be important depending on the type of assets held. H-3 and H-4 are not usually significant sources of RBC risk. 
There is a co-variance calculation that recognizes that the different kinds of risks are diversified, and the RBC 
requirement is therefore decreased from the arithmetic sum of the components.  

An estimate of the RBC development for the H-1 through H-4 segments of risk was based on publicly available 
information from the filed statutory financial statement. For HMO Blue, H-1 or asset risk contributes about 42% of the 
final total RBC requirement, H-2 or underwriting risk about 87%, and the other types of risk combined are 6%. Because 
the asset risk is relatively high, HMO Blue’s co-variance calculation reduces the total RBC requirement by about 38% of 
the arithmetic sum of the individual risk components. This leaves 3% which may represent affiliate based H-0 risk, or 
may be the accumulated effect of estimation errors.101  

 
 
 
 
 

                                                      

101 A detailed description of an estimate of the magnitude of the various RBC components is provided in Appendix 3 of this report. 
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Table 6.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000) 

  2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 763.8 839.7 880.6 707.0 

Authorized Control Level 136.9 160.4 170.8 165.6 

RBC Ratio 558% 524% 516% 427% 

 
HMO Blue’s 2008 capital and surplus per member month was $62. Its capital and surplus represented 2.1 months of 
claims in 2008. The averages for all companies combined were $75 per member month and 2.6 months of claims. 

HMO Blue reported a minimum net worth requirement as of year end 2008, as required by MGL Chapter 176G, Section 
25, of $217.3 million. As required, this is reported at 70% of the ultimate level. If this were reported at the 100% level, it 
would be approximately $310.4 million. The company’s surplus exceeds this requirement by a significant amount. 

It should be noted that HMO Blue and BCBS are subject to an agreement with the Division of Insurance (DOI) under 
which each can be required by DOI to provide a surplus note to the other in the event that either company’s RBC level 
is more than 75 points higher than that of the other company. 

BCBS and HMO Blue have an additional RBC related requirement that does not apply to the other companies in this 
study: BCBS and HMO Blue must maintain an RBC ratio of at least 375% to avoid “early warning” status, which results 
in inquiries by the Association and they need to maintain the RBC ratio above 200% in order to retain usage of the Blue 
Cross and Blue Shield name and mark. While such an action would not involve supervision by the state insurance 
department, as would falling below one of the action levels contained in Massachusetts regulation CMR 211 25, loss of 
the right to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield trademark would be a significant marketing and public relations 
impediment to either of these companies. 

HMO Blue’s reported loss ratio in 2008 was 90.5%. The loss ratio has increased steadily over the ten year period, from a 
low of 83.5% in 1999. The 2008 loss ratio is lower on Medicare business (87.6% in 2008) and higher on comprehensive 
business (91.0%) compared to the prior year. The overall loss ratio averaged 88% over the ten year period. 

Table 7.  Loss Ratio by Line of Business 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 83.5% 84.5% 85.9% 86.1% 84.3% 86.5% 88.6% 90.0% 90.9% 91.0% 

Medicare - 101.5% 99.5% 95.4% 91.1% 93.2% 85.9% 87.1% 88.3% 87.6% 

Other Health - - - - 72.9% 69.4% 77.5% 79.9% 76.0% 73.5% 

Total 83.5% 86.3% 87.6% 87.2% 85.0% 87.0% 88.3% 89.6% 90.5% 90.5% 

 
HMO Blue reported 11.4 million member months in 2008, and average 2008 revenue per member month of $388. 2008 
member months are lower than the last three years, but the range of member months since 2001 has been relatively 
narrow, from a low of 10.2 million in 2003 to a high of 12.4 million in 2006. In 1999 HMO Blue had 6.9 million member 
months. The average revenue per member month in 2008 for all companies was $394. Differences in benefit design and 
product mix will impact the average amount of revenue on a PMPM basis. HMO Blue’s average annual PMPM revenue 
growth over the ten year period was 9.0%. 
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Table 8.  Member Months  

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Member 
Months 
(000) 

6,868 9,583 11,248 10,986 10,205 10,951 11,698 12,371 12,194 11,434 

Growth 
over Prior 
Year 

- 39.5% 17.4% -2.3% -7.1% 7.3% 6.8% 5.8% -1.4% -6.2% 

PMPM 
Revenue 

$179.11 $189.37 $216.29 $242.21 $270.18 $293.27 $311.29 $341.24 $365.98 $388.43 

Growth in 
PMPM 
Revenue 

- 5.7% 14.2% 12.0% 11.5% 8.5% 6.1% 9.6% 7.2% 6.1% 

 
HMO Blue has reported administrative expenses equal to 10.3% of revenue in 2008, consistent with reported admin 
expenses over the prior four years. Administrative expense as a percent was higher from 1999 through 2003, with a high 
of 14.4% in 1999. The average for all companies was 10.3% in the most recent year and 10.4% over the ten year period. 
Administrative expenses on a PMPM basis have grown from $26 in 1999 to $40 in 2008, a 5.0% compound growth rate. 

Table 9.  Administrative Expenses  

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Admin. 
Expenses 
(000,000)  

$176.8 $230.4 $283.4 $289.1 $315.7 $327.9 $365.3 $424.1 $448.0 $457.7 

Growth over 
Prior Year 

- 30.4% 23.0% 2.0% 9.2% 3.8% 11.4% 16.1% 5.6% 2.2% 

Admin. Expense 
as % of 
Revenue 

14.4% 12.7% 11.7% 10.9% 11.5% 10.2% 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 10.3% 

PMPM Admin. 
Expense 

$25.74 $24.04 $25.20 $26.31 $30.94 $29.94 $31.23 $34.29 $36.74 $40.03 

Growth in 
PMPM Admin. 
Expense 

- -6.6% 4.8% 4.4% 17.6% -3.2% 4.3% 9.8% 7.2% 9.0% 

 
HMO Blue’s reconciled 2007 claim liability reflected in the 2008 statutory statement showed a margin in the reported 
2007 liability of 7% of the reconciled claim liability or $18.7 million. That amounts to approximately 2.1% of 2007 
surplus.  
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Table 10.  Claim Reserve Reconciliation ($1,000,000 or %) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Reported Prior 
Yr Reserve  

123.8 157.0 253.4 326.9 334.8 319.5 199.8 246.0 270.9 302.8 

Reconciled 
Reserve 

114.9 142.4 235.6 289.5 287.7 296.1 173.5 206.0 252.7 284.1 

Margin in 
Reserve  

8.9 14.5 17.8 37.4 47.0 23.4 26.3 40.0 18.2 18.7 

Margin as %  
of Rec Reserve 

7.7% 10.2% 7.6% 12.9% 16.3% 7.9% 15.2% 19.4% 7.2% 6.6% 

Margin as %  
of Surplus 

3.9% 5.4% 5.7% 10.6% 10.0% 4.0% 3.4% 4.8% 2.1% 2.6% 

 
HMO Blue does not have any unfunded post-retirement obligations. Any post retirement benefits are funded by the 
parent company, BCBS. BCBS charges HMO Blue a fee based on its share of the allocated cost of the benefit plans.  

Prior to 2005 HMO Blue did not have its own investment portfolio. It was noted above that investment income and 
realized capital gains are reflected in HMO Blue’s net income. At year end 2008 approximately 38% of its investment 
portfolio was invested in long-term bonds, 17% in common stocks, 9% in company occupied real estate, and 29% in 
other investment, principally partnership interests listed in Schedule BA of the statutory statement. The “Cash” category 
includes short term investments. There do not appear to be significant changes in the company’s distribution of invested 
assets by type over the 4 year period ending with 2008. Equity type assets (common stocks and Schedule BA assets) total 
45.6% of invested assets and 79% of surplus at year end 2008. 

Table 11.  Invested Assets by Type ($100,000) 

  2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 485.5 505.5 490.3 466.6 

Stocks — Preferred 0.6 2.8 12.5 2.3 

Stocks — Common 211.2 201.1 208.7 205.8 

Mortgage Loans — First - - - - 

Mortgage Loans — Other - - - - 

RE — Occupied 53.6 115.2 111.1 109.0 

RE — For Income - - - - 

RE — Other - - - - 

Cash 47.7 62.7 83.7 85.9 

Other Inv. Assets 411.6 465.9 491.9 354.1 

Total Invested Assets 1,210.2 1,353.3 1,398.2 1,223.7 
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Table 12.  Invested Assets by Type (% of total) 

  2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 40.1% 37.4% 35.1% 38.1% 

Stocks — Preferred 0.0% 0.2% 0.9% 0.2% 

Stocks — Common 17.5% 14.9% 14.9% 16.8% 

Mortgage Loans — First - - - - 

Mortgage Loans — Other - - - - 

RE — Occupied 4.4% 8.5% 7.9% 8.9% 

RE — For Income - - - - 

RE — Other - - - - 

Cash 3.9% 4.6% 6.0% 7.0% 

Other Inv. Assets 34.0% 34.4% 35.2% 28.9% 

Total Invested Assets 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
 
The company’s realized capital gains were significant contributors to net income in 2005 and 2007. Changes in the 
market value of common stocks and partnership interests listed in Schedule BA are reflected as adjustments to surplus.  

Statutory accounting requires that mutual fund investments are reported as common stocks. It should be noted at year 
end 2008 the company had investments in certain mutual funds with holdings of long-term bonds. As result of statutory 
accounting practices, a direct investment by BCBS in long-term bonds rather than through a mutual fund that invests in 
long-term bonds would produce a lower allocation to equity type investments and a likely increase in the RBC ratio. It is 
noted in the section of this report related to the mechanics of the RBC calculation that the company’s common stock 
component has a 15% factor and the partnership component has a 20% factor. These factors are substantially higher 
than the 0.3% factor applicable to high quality bonds. 

HMO Blue experienced significant swings to its surplus due to such unrealized gains and losses during the most recent 4 
years, ranging from a gain of $90 Million in 2006 to a loss of $186 Million in 2008.  

Table 13.  Capital Gains ($1,000,000) 

  2005 2006 2007 2008 

Realized Cap Gains 40.5 9.1 35.9 1.4 

Unrealized Cap Gains* (29.9) 38.7 3.6 (185.8) 

* Amount charged directly to surplus 
 
Bonds and preferred stocks are generally valued at amortized value. If bonds and preferred stocks were valued at market 
at year end 2008, the company’s surplus would have decreased by about 0.2%. 

HMO Blue does not report any ASO or ASC business in the Annual Statements. 

HMO Blue does not use reinsurance to mitigate the risk of large claims. 
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Appendix 4.3: Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts, Inc. and  
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Massachusetts HMO Blue, Inc. – Combined 
The immediately preceding profiles provide overviews of BCBS and HMO Blue, respectively. Prior to 2005 HMO Blue 
was a division within BCBS and the statutory annual statements for BCBS included the financial results of HMO Blue, 
although BCBS prepared and filed for informational purposes an annual statement for HMO Blue. As of 2005, HMO 
Blue obtained an HMO license for a newly formed corporate entity. Since 2005 the statutory annual statements filed by 
BCBS do not include HMO Blue financial results.  

The BCBS profile provides an overview of the business that excludes for all years the financial results of HMO Blue, 
except where stated otherwise. This allowed the preparation of a profile that provided consistency over the ten year 
period under consideration in the study. Similarly, the HMO Blue profile covers the entire ten year period, including 
those during which it was not a separate corporate entity.  

Because HMO Blue is controlled by BCBS, it is of interest to profile the combination of BCBS and HMO Blue as 
though they are a single corporate entity. Such a profile is presented in this section. The combination of BCBS and 
HMO Blue is referred to as BCBS&HMO. 

BCBS and HMO Blue are both based in Boston, Massachusetts and both are licensed only in Massachusetts.  

BCBS&HMO reported $6,671 million of premium revenue in 2008. $5,174 million or approximately 78% of it was 
comprehensive medical insurance, while $446 million was Medicare Supplement business, $415 million was FEHBP 
revenue and $416 million was Medicare revenue (all written on the HMO Blue license). BCBS reported $65 million of 
dental insurance revenue and $154 million revenue from Other Health insurance.102  Prior to 2007 BCBS had reported 
stop loss as a separate category as required by NAIC annual statement instructions. Of the Massachusetts health plans 
analyzed in this study, BCBS&HMO is the only one that offers Medicare Supplement insurance, all of which is written 
on the BCBS license.  

BCBS&HMO’s reported a 14.8% compound annual revenue growth for all lines of business over the ten year period 
covered by this study, although revenue was down in 2008 by 1% as compared to 2007. Medicare Supplement and 
Dental have shown relatively more modest growth than the other lines, and neither of those two lines has shown any 
substantial compound growth in the last five years. BCBS&HMO did show rapid growth in dental insurance in 2006 and 
2007, but dental revenue in 2008 was back down to the level of 1999-2005 primarily due to its resinsurance arrangement 
with LSV that commenced in 2008.103  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                      

102 The company indicated that this category includes stand alone Medicare Part D, Stop Loss and ASC business. 
103 BCBS ceded 51% of its dental business to a subsidiary of LSV effective January 1, 2008. 
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Table 1.  Revenue by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 1,529 2,110 2,800 3,023 3,194 3,738 4,335 4,898 5,208 5,174 

Medicare Suppl 329 339 357 375 412 445 467 452 456 446 

Dental Only 58 67 73 67 68 74 78 99 122 65 

FEHBP - 15 - - 272 291 330 347 391 415 

Medicare 14 197 301 325 296 319 344 377 393 416 

Stop Loss - - - 36 34 33 31 31 - - 

Other Health - - 20 19 22 28 33 116 159 154 

Total 1,930 2,728 3,550 3,844 4,298 4,928 5,618 6,319 6,729 6,671 

 
BCBS&HMO’s 2008 underwriting gain of 1.6 million of revenue was its lowest during the ten year period and 
represented a breakeven return on revenue. The underwriting gain or loss reached a peak of 5.0% of revenue in 2003, 
with a ten year average of 2.6%. On a percentage basis, BCBS&HMO has had its strongest earnings performance 
associated with stop loss and other health insurance. However, all lines except FEHBP have contributed strongly to 
earnings. FEHBP business has been essentially break-even over the six years ending with 2008. BCBS&HMO lost 
money on dental insurance in 2008, the first year that happened.104   

Table 2.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 4.9 75.9 104.4 111.4 165.2 153.7 79.3 21.9 (20.0) (52.7) 

Medicare Suppl 8.6 13.3 16.3 8.7 13.7 14.6 22.7 16.0 27.6 19.5 

Dental Only 6.3 6.2 6.1 2.5 8.5 9.4 9.2 4.5 5.1 (3.5) 

FEHBP - (1.7) - - 0.5 0.6 (0.1) (0.2) 0.0 (0.5) 

Medicare - (21.3) (21.4) (7.4) 1.6 (0.0) 21.2 22.3 16.1 19.2 

Stop Loss - - - 3.8 16.1 8.4 6.4 5.5 - - 

Other Health - 6.7 (16.7) 7.7 10.3 14.5 5.8 1.0 24.6 19.6 

Total 19.8 79.2 88.8 126.7 215.8 201.1 144.5 71.1 53.4 1.6 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                      

104 BCBS ascribed this loss to its newly implemented reinsurance arrangement. 
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Table 3.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) as a Percentage of Revenue 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 0.3% 3.6% 3.7% 3.7% 5.2% 4.1% 1.8% 0.4% (0.4%) (1.0%) 

Medicare Suppl 2.6% 3.9% 4.6% 2.3% 3.3% 3.3% 4.9% 3.5% 6.1% 4.4% 

Dental Only 10.8% 9.3% 8.4% 3.7% 12.5% 12.7% 11.8% 4.5% 4.2% (5.4% 

FEHBP - (11.4%) - - 0.2% 0.2% 0.0% (0.1%) 0.0% (0.1%) 

Medicare 0.0% (10.8%) (7.1%) (2.3%) 0.5% 0.0% 6.2% 5.9% 4.1% 4.6% 

Stop Loss - - - 10.6% 46.9% 24.9% 20.9% 17.8% - - 

Other Health - - (84.8%) 40.4% 46.3% 52.0% 17.2% 0.9% 15.4% 12.7% 

Total 1.0% 2.9% 2.5% 3.3% 5.0% 4.1% 2.6% 1.1% 0.8% 0.0% 

 
Average net investment income has been 1.7% of revenue, and realized capital gains have averaged 0.1% of revenue. 
However, BCBS&HMO has had positive capital gains in each of the last six years. Total average net income before 
Federal Income Tax (FIT) has been 6.9% of revenue, higher than the 4.2% experienced in 2008. BCBS is exempt from 
Massachusetts state income tax but does pay federal income tax. HMO Blue has non-profit status and pays neither state 
nor federal income tax. Net gain before FIT for 2008 was 4.4% of revenue. 

Table 4.  Net Income Before FIT ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Und. Gain 19.6 79.2 88.8 126.7 215.8 201.1 144.5 71.1 53.4 1.6 

Net Inv. Income 40.7 63.0 65.3 58.8 72.5 82.1 69.2 88.2 100.5 105.9 

Cap Gains 6.9 (5.8) (24.2) (59.9) 13.9 18.1 62.2 19.5 55.3 5.9 

Other  8.1 0.1 - (0.5) - - - (2.4) 0.2 1.4 

Net Income  75.2 136.5 129.9 125.1 302.2 301.4 275.9 176.4 209.4 114.9 

 
BCBS&HMO reported surplus in 2008 of $1,321 million, a decline of $265 million as compared to 2007, even though it 
had before FIT earnings of $115 million in the year and after FIT earnings of $105 million. BCBS&HMO reported for 
2008 unrealized losses of $329.4 million that were charged directly to surplus (with adjustment for FIT effect), 
contributing to the decline in surplus in 2008. The surplus reported for the combined entity in the annual statements is 
indicated in Table 5 below. 
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Table 5.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000 or %) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 362.1 441.2 525.7 616.1 887.6 1,091.0 1,229.1 1,467.8 1,586.3 1,321.2 

Growth in 
Surplus 

- 79.1 84.5 48.4 271.6 203.3 138.2 238.7 118.5 (265.1) 

Growth 
Percentage 

- 21.8% 19.1% 9.2% 44.1% 22.9% 12.7% 19.4% 8.1% -16.7% 

Surplus — 
Percent of 
Revenue 

18.8% 16.2% 14.8% 16.0% 20.7% 22.1% 21.9% 23.2% 23.6% 19.8% 

 
Over the ten year period SAPOR increased from 18.8% in 1999 to 23.6% in 2007. In 2008 the SAPOR level decreased 
to 19.8%. 

BCBS&HMO’s combined reported RBC ratio in 2008 was 505%. This is based on analyzing the sum of the RBC related 
data reported in the two statements. This represents a decrease from the ratio of 742% reported in the 1999 BCBS 
annual statement and a decline from the levels reported in each of the last five years. In 2007 BCBS&HMO had a 
combined RBC ratio of 586%. The weighted average for all the health plans in this study for 2008 was 515%. The 
average for all plans has shown an increase as compared to 1999, but for 2008 is at its lowest level since 2004. 

Table 6.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 362.1 441.2 525.7 616.1 887.6 1,091.0 1,229.1 1,467.8 1,586.3 1,321.2 

Auth. Control 
Level 

48.8 85.3 109.4 125.4 144.1 176.0 222.6 250.8 270.5 261.6 

RBC Ratio 742% 517% 481% 491% 616% 620% 552% 585% 586% 505% 

 
It should be noted that BCBS and HMO Blue have an additional RBC related requirement that does not apply to the 
other companies in this study: BCBS and HMO Blue must maintain an RBC ratio of at least 375% to avoid “early 
warning” status, which results in inquiries by the Association and they need to maintain the RBC ratio above 200% in 
order to retain usage of the Blue Cross and Blue Shield name and mark. While such an action would not involve 
supervision by the state insurance department, as would falling below one of the action levels contained in Massachusetts 
regulation CMR 211 25, loss of the right to use the Blue Cross and Blue Shield trademark would be a significant 
marketing and public relations impediment to either of these companies. 

BCBS&HMO’s 2008 capital and surplus per member month was $70.86, a decrease from $80.73 in the prior year. Its 
capital and surplus represented 2.66 months of claims in 2008, a decrease from 3.19 months in the prior year. The 
averages for all companies combined were $75 per member month and 2.6 months of claims. 

BCBS&HMO’s reported loss ratio in 2008 was 89.5%, which is the highest of the ten year period in this study. Its 
average loss ratio has ranged between 85% and 89% over the ten year period. Its loss ratio for Medicare Supplement 
business, which is a regulated line of business, was 90.9% in 2008, and has averaged 90.6% over the ten year period.  
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Table 7.  Loss Ratio by Line of Business 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 85.1% 83.4% 84.0% 85.1% 82.6% 84.8% 87.0% 87.9% 88.9% 89.5% 

Medicare Suppl 90.4% 89.9% 89.6% 91.8% 89.7% 92.3% 90.8% 91.5% 89.2% 90.9% 

Dental Only 77.4% 78.3% 74.9% 80.0% 74.3% 74.3% 74.9% 82.5% 82.8% 84.7% 

FEHBP - 0.0% - - 92.8% 93.2% 93.9% 94.1% 94.5% 95.2% 

Medicare 0.0% 101.5% 99.5% 95.4% 91.1% 93.2% 87.2% 87.1% 88.3% 0.0% 

Stop Loss - - - 89.4% 51.9% 74.3% 63.9% 63.2% - - 

Other Health - - 0.0% 0.0% 72.9% 69.4% 77.5% 82.8% 72.6% 75.6% 

Total 85.2% 84.9% 85.2% 86.1% 84.1% 86.2% 87.4% 88.2% 88.7% 89.5% 

 
BCBS&HMO reported 18.6 million member months in 2008, and average 2008 revenue per member month of $358. 
Reported member months have been relatively flat for the past three years, but are substantially less than the level 
reported in 2005 and prior due to the inclusion of ASC members prior to 2006. Consequently, membership and PMPM 
revenue in the 2006-2008 period is not directly comparable to that of prior years. The average revenue per member 
month in 2008 for all companies was $394. Differences in benefit design and product mix will impact the average 
amount of revenue on a PMPM basis. For example, the relatively low premiums for Medicare Supplement tend to 
reduce the average PMPM revenue for BCBS&HMO. 

Table 8.  Member Months  

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Member 
Months ('000) 

- 24,967 28,373 28,909 29,591 31,246 33,392 19,619 19,651 18,644 

Growth over 
Prior Year 

- - 13.6% 1.9% 2.4% 5.6% 6.9% -41.2% 0.2% -5.1% 

PMPM 
Revenue 

- $109.25 $125.13 $132.98 $145.25 $157.70 $168.26 $322.07 $342.45 $357.79 

Growth in 
PMPM 
Revenue 

- - 14.5% 6.3% 9.2% 8.6% 6.7% 91.4% 6.3% 4.5% 

 
BCBS&HMO has reported administrative expenses equal to 10.5% of revenue in 2008, comparable to its ten year 
average of 10.9%. This is comparable to the average for all companies, which was 10.3% in the most recent year and 
10.4% over the ten year period. BCBS&HMO’s administrative expenses on a per member per month basis are 
approximately $37 for 2008. It is difficult to evaluate the trend in BCBS administrative expenses per member month 
because of anomalies in the reported member months over time. It appears that BCBS ASC member months were 
reported as part of total member months through 2005. 
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Table 9.  Administrative Expenses 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Admin. 
Expenses 
('000,000) 

$268.5 $332.5 $436.6 $406.1 $467.3 $479.6 $564.1 $675.9 $705.4 $699.5 

Growth over 
Prior Year 

- 23.8% 31.3% -7.0% 15.1% 2.6% 17.6% 19.8% 4.4% -0.8% 

Admin. Expense 
as % of 
Revenue 

13.9% 12.2% 12.3% 10.6% 10.9% 9.7% 10.0% 10.7% 10.5% 10.5% 

PMPM Admin. 
Expense 

- $13.32 $15.39 $14.05 $15.79 $15.35 $16.89 $34.45 $35.89 $37.52 

Growth in 
PMPM Admin. 
Expense 

- - 15.6% -8.7% 12.4% -2.8% 10.1% 103.9% 4.2% 4.5% 

 
BCBS&HMO’s reconciled 2007 claim liability reflected in the 2008 statutory statement showed a margin in the reported 
2007 liability of 4.3% of the liability or $22.3 million. That amounts to approximately 1.7% of 2007 surplus. Over the ten 
year period, the margin in the claim liability has averaged 12%. This year (i.e. the reconciliation for the 2007 liability) was 
the lowest margin reported. The margin has declined over the study period. 

Table 10.  Claim Reserve Reconciliation ($1,000,000 or %) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Reported Prior 
Yr Reserve  

250.2 302.8 427.0 504.8 552.5 531.7 419.1 443.8 500.4 518.6 

Reconciled 
Reserve 

233.8 266.6 383.4 441.1 467.0 498.0 370.6 387.5 458.6 496.4 

Margin in 
Reserve  

16.4 36.2 43.7 63.7 85.5 33.7 48.5 56.3 41.7 22.3 

Margin as %  
of Reconciled 
Reserve 

7.0% 13.6% 11.4% 14.5% 18.3% 6.8% 13.1% 14.5% 9.1% 4.5% 

Margin as %  
of Surplus 

4.5% 8.2% 8.3% 10.3% 9.6% 3.1% 3.9% 3.8% 2.6% 1.7% 

 
At year end 2008 approximately 36% of invested assets was invested in long-term bonds, 16% was invested in common 
stocks, and 31% was invested in investment partnerships (reported in Schedule BA). Over the ten year period, the 
company’s holdings of long-term bonds have decreased as investments in partnerships have increased. Investments in 
common stocks peaked at 47% of invested assets in 2004. At that time common stocks represented 90% of surplus. The 
“Cash” category includes short-term investments. Company owned and occupied real estate comprises approximately 
9.8% of invested assets at year end 2008, which is an increase from the relatively minimal amount in 1999. Equity type 
assets (common stocks and Schedule BA assets) total 46.6% of invested assets and 83.5% of surplus at year end 2008. 
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Table 11.  Invested Assets by Type ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 516.5 739.9 891.3 918.9 925.8 769.1 894.4 949.0 907.5 862.6 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

3.4 3.3 0.1 - - - 3.0 5.8 23.2 5.3 

Stocks — 
Comon 

112.3 297.5 406.6 514.8 880.9 985.5 397.3 354.7 387.1 380.5 

Mortgage 
Loans — First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage 
Loans — 
Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — 
Occupied 

4.8 4.0 6.6 - 31.3 59.3 114.0 245.1 236.4 231.9 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other - - - 1.9 - - - - - - 

Cash 226.0 119.7 136.2 112.8 99.1 269.8 70.5 124.9 59.7 166.4 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

0.0 0.1 46.5 1.3 26.1 11.3 781.0 852.3 948.2 722.3 

Total Invested 
Assets 

863.0 1,164.4 1,487.4 1,549.6 1,963.1 2,095.1 2,260.3 2,531.7 2,562.1 2,369.0 
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Table 12.  Invested Assets by Type (% of total) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 59.8% 63.5% 59.9% 59.3% 47.2% 36.7% 39.6% 37.5% 35.4% 36.4% 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

0.4% 0.3% 0.0% - - - 0.1% 0.2% 0.9% 0.2% 

Stocks — 
Comon 

13.0% 25.6% 27.3% 33.2% 44.9% 47.0% 17.6% 14.0% 15.1% 16.1% 

Mortgage 
Loans — First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage 
Loans — 
Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — 
Occupied 

0.6% 0.3% 0.4%  1.6% 2.8% 5.0% 9.7% 9.2% 9.8% 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other - - - 0.1% - - - - - - 

Cash 26.2% 10.3% 9.2% 7.3% 5.0% 12.9% 3.1% 4.9% 2.3% 7.0% 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

0.0% 0.0% 3.1% 0.1% 1.3% 0.5% 34.6% 33.7% 37.0% 30.5% 

Total Invested 
Assets 

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 
The company’s long-term bond and preferred stock portfolio is generally valued at amortized value. At year end 2008 
the market value of bond investments was $3.4 million less than the statement value. Common stocks and investment 
partnerships that are reported in schedule BA are valued at market and changes in unrealized capital gains are reported as 
a direct charge to surplus (with adjustment for any FIT effect).  

BCBS&HMO reported $7.1 million in realized capital gains at year end 2008, a decrease from $60.1 million of realized 
capital gains reported for the prior year. Unrealized capital gains for common stocks and investment partnerships are 
reflected as a direct charge to the surplus account. 

Statutory accounting requires that mutual fund investments are reported as common stocks. It should be noted at year 
end 2008 the company had investments in certain mutual funds with holdings of long-term bonds. As result of statutory 
accounting practices, a direct investment by BCBS in long-term bonds rather than through a mutual fund that invests in 
long-term bonds would produce a lower allocation to equity type investments and a likely increase in the RBC ratio. It is 
noted in the section of this report related to the mechanics of the RBC calculation that the company’s common stock 
component has a 15% factor and the partnership component has a 20% factor. These factors are substantially higher 
than the 0.3% factor applicable to high quality bonds. 
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There have been significant year-to-year swings in unrealized capital gains, ranging from an unrealized capital gain $100 
million in 2003 to an unrealized capital loss of $329.4 million in 2008. Unrealized gains and losses have significantly 
affected the company’s year-to-year change in surplus.  

Table 13.  Capital Gains ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Realized Cap 
Gains 

6.9 (5.8) (24.2) (59.9) 13.9 18.1 64.1 22.1 60.1 7.1 

Unrealized 
Cap Gains* 

(2.2) (34.2) (3.1) 43.7 99.5 43.1 (44.5) 66.3 10.7 (329.4) 

* Amount charged directly to surplus 

 
BCBS&HMO reported approximately $272 million of ASC105 fees in 2008. According to the Notes to Financial 
Statements included in the 2008 annual statement, the fees generated a margin of only $74,000 to BCBS&HMO’s 
reported underwriting gain.106   

BCBS&HMO does not use reinsurance to mitigate the risk of large individual claims or catastrophic multi life claims. 
Other reinsurance arrangements include: 

• Effective January 1, 2008, BCBS&HMO reinsured 51% of its dental risk to USAble Life, Inc., a subsidiary of LSV, 
in which BCBS&HMO has a 27% ownership position. 

• In 2007 BCBS&HMO entered into a 100% reinsurance arrangement in connection with the Federal Employee 
Vision Program with HM Life Insurance Company. 

• In 2006 BCBS&HMO entered into a reinsurance arrangement with Ace American Insurance Company covering 
BCBS & HMO’s individual stop loss business. 

                                                      

105 Administrative Service Contracts – see glossary. 
106 2008 BCBS Statutory Statement, Notes to Financial Statements, Note 18.B. 
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Appendix 4.4: Fallon Community Health Plan, Inc. 

• Fallon is based in Worcester, MA. Fallon is a non-profit entity and does not have any outstanding common stock. 
Fallon is licensed only in Massachusetts and all premiums are reported as Massachusetts premiums. Fallon has two 
100% owned subsidiaries and one 50% owned joint venture: 

• Fallon Health & Life Assurance Co. (FHLAC) is a for-profit stock life insurance company. Fallon provides all 
administrative services for FHLAC. FHLAC in turn has one subsidiary, Ultra Benefits, Inc., which is a third party 
administrator of medical, dental and disability benefits plans. 

• Summit Living, Inc. is organized for the primary purpose of developing, supporting and operating a residential 
living facility for elderly persons. Summit Living obtained tax exempt status in 2008. 

• During 2008 Fallon partnered with VNA Care Network & Hospice to jointly acquire Home Staff, LLC. Home Staff 
specializes in providing in-home services. 

Fallon reported that it borrowed $15 million in March 2008 from the Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities 
Authority, backed by a letter of credit from TD Banknorth, to assist in financing the acquisition and installation of a 
healthcare payer software system. The Letter of Credit required Fallon to maintain minimum a RBC ratio of 400%. 
Because Fallon’s RBC ratio fell below 400% at year end 2008, this requirement was modified in February 2009 to a 
requirement that the company maintain a minimum RBC ratio of 300%. 

Fallon reported $987 million of premium revenue in 2008. $534 million was comprehensive medical insurance (an 
increase of 22% over the prior year), while $366 million was Medicare business. Fallon also reported $55 million of 
Medicaid revenue and $32 million of FEHBP revenue. They have not reported any Medicare Supplement business 
during the past ten years.  

Over the ten year period ending with 2008 they reported a 6.7% compound annual revenue growth for all lines of 
business combined. Medicaid, has grown at a 8.5% compound rate for the nine year period ending with 2008, while the 
growth has varied significantly from year to year, reaching 18% in 2004 and 2006 and -12% in 2001. Fallon is one of only 
two Medicaid carriers among the carriers in this study. The other carrier, Neighborhood, writes 90% of the Medicaid 
managed care premium of the carriers in this study.107   

Table 1.  Revenue by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive - 291.9 285.7 292.3 335.5 363.8 377.6 404.4 438.0 533.7 

FEHBP - 22.4 25.3 35.8 42.0 42.0 40.6 43.7 36.8 32.2 

Medicare - 243.1 249.7 255.3 269.3 291.7 310.3 341.9 364.8 366.4 

Medicaid - 28.6 25.3 27.9 28.2 33.2 38.3 45.3 50.1 55.1 

Total 551.5 586.0 585.9 611.2 674..9 730.6 766.8 835.3 889.8 987.4 

 

                                                      

107 The two largest Massachusetts Medicaid managed care organizations, Boston Medical Center HealthNet Plan and Network Health, were not included in this study 
because they were not licensed HMOs during the timeframe of this study.   
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Fallon’s underwriting gain or loss has ranged from a low of (2.9%) of revenue in 1999 to a high of 3.3% of revenue in 
2001, with a ten year average of 1.0%. Through 2006, comprehensive business was Fallon’s largest source of 
underwriting gain, but Fallon’s comprehensive business had a loss of 1% of revenue in 2007 and a profit of .3% of 
revenue in 2008. Medicare business has been the largest contributor to Underwriting Gain in each of the last two years. 
This may represent a particular risk for Fallon, as the federal government is likely to put pressure on Medicare margins 
over the coming years.  

Table 2.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive - 1.3 19.7 3.2 4.8 9.5 15.9 5.6 (4.2) 1.4 

FEHBP - 0.2 (1.0) (1.3) 0.7 0.8 (0.1) 0.5 (1.4) (0.2) 

Medicare - 0.4 0.4 0.8 1.9 8.9 4.1 4.7 12.9 4.3 

Medicaid - 0.3 0.2 0.1 (1.8) 0.7 (0.3) (0.4) (0.4) 0.6 

Total (16.2) 2.2 19.3 2.8 5.6 20.0 19.6 10.4 6.8 6.1 

 

Table 3.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) as a Percentage of Revenue 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive - 0.4% 6.9% 1.1% 1.4% 2.6% 4.2% 1.4% -1.0% 0.3% 

FEHBP - 1.0% -3.9% -3.7% 1.6% 1.9% -0.3% 1.2% -3.9% -0.7% 

Medicare - 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 0.7% 3.1% 1.3% 1.4% 3.5% 1.2% 

Medicaid - 1.0% 0.8% 0.3% -6.3% 2.2% -0.7% -0.8% -0.9% 1.1% 

Total -2.9% 0.4% 3.3% 0.5% 0.8% 2.7% 2.6% 1.2% 0.8% 0.6% 

 
Average net investment income has been 0.8% of revenue, and realized capital gains have averaged (0.1%) over the ten 
year period ending with 2008. Fallon experienced realized capital losses in 2008 equivalent to 0.8% of revenue, offsetting 
in part 2008’s investment earnings. However, Fallon had higher than average net investment income in each of the last 
four years, ranging from 1.0% to 1.3% of revenue  

Fallon’s total average net income over the ten year period ending in 2008 has been 1.8% of revenue, significantly higher 
than the 1.2% experienced in 2008. 2008 earnings were depressed by realized capital losses in that year. Fallon 
experienced a loss of 2.3 % of revenue in 1999. Fallon has been profitable in each year since then, although with a good 
degree of variability. Fallon is not subject to state or federal income tax due to its non-profit status.  
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Table 4.  Net Income ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Und. Gain (16.2) 2.2 19.3 2.8 5.6 20.0 19.6 10.4 6.8 6.1 

Net Inv. Income 3.2 4.4 4.1 3.1 2.4 4.1 7.3 9.2 11.2 13.3 

Cap Gains 0.2 0.1 (0.2) 0.2 0.0 (0.5) (1.3) 2.3 (0.4) (7.8) 

Other  - - 3.5 0.8 0.6 (0.6) (1.0) 0.0 0.1 0.0 

Net Income  (12.8) 6.7 26.7 6.8 8.6 23.0 24.6 22.0 17.7 11.6 

Note: Fallon is not subject to FIT 

 
Fallon reported capital and surplus in 2008 of $123 million, a decline of $49 million as compared to 2007. In 2008 Fallon 
reported unrealized capital losses of $40.1 million, which was charged to its capital and surplus account. Capital and 
surplus had shown a steady increase from $ 32 million in 1999 to $171 million in 2007. Over the ten year period ending 
with 2008 they reported a compound annual surplus growth of 16%, but the rate of growth has been lower since 2006, 
declining to -29% in 2008. As the surplus has grown, the annual rate of growth becomes more difficult to sustain. 

SAPOR has increased from 5.9% in 1999 to 12.4% in 2008. The highest SAPOR level reached by Fallon during the ten-
year period was 19.3% in 2007. The weighted average 2008 SAPOR ratio for all plans in this study was 19.2%. . 

Table 5.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000 or %) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 32.3 38.5 64.4 60.2 78.1 105.9 134.3 153.6 171.5 122.5 

Growth in 
Surplus 

- 6.2 25.9 (4.2) 17.9 27.8 28.4 19.3 17.8 (49.0) 

Growth 
Percentage 

- 19.1% 67.2% -6.5% 29.7% 35.7% 26.9% 14.4% 11.6% -28.6% 

Surplus as 
Percent of 
Revenue 

5.9% 6.6% 11.0% 9.9% 11.6% 14.5% 17.5% 18.4% 19.3% 12.4% 

 
Fallon’s reported RBC ratio in 2008 was 372%. This represents an increase from the ratio of 261% reported in 1999, but 
a significant decline from the levels reported in each of the last three years, in which RBC ratios in excess of 500% were 
reported. In 2007 Fallon had an RBC ratio of 566%. Fallon’s 2008 RBC ratio of 372% is below the weighted average of 
515% for all the health plans in this study. The average for all plans has also shown an increase as compared to 1999, but 
is now at its lowest level since 2004. 

Estimates of Fallon’s RBC development for H-1 through H-4 segments of risk were developed based on publicly 
available information from the filed statutory financial statement. Asset risk contributes about 38% of Fallon’s final total 
RBC requirement, underwriting risk about 86%, and H-3 and H-4 risk combined are 12%. Fallon’s co-variance 
calculation reduces the total RBC requirement by 41% of the final requirement. While it was not possible to estimate the 
affiliate risk from public information, this leaves approximately 5% which may be roughly equivalent to the H-0 portion 
of the RBC requirement. 
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Table 6.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 32.3 38.5 64.4 60.2 78.1 105.9 134.3 153.6 171.5 122.5 

Authorized 
Control Level 

12.38 14.22 12.65 13.04 19.28 21.89 24.28 27.89 30.31 32.97 

RBC Ratio 261% 271% 509% 462% 405% 484% 553% 551% 566% 372% 

 
Fallon’s 2008 capital and surplus per member month was $59. Its capital and surplus represented 1.6 months of claims in 
2008. The averages for all companies combined were $75 per member month and 2.6 months of claims. 

Fallon reported a minimum net worth requirement as of year end 2008, as specified in MGL Chapter 176G, Section 25, 
of $ 31.6 million. As required, this is reported at 70% of the ultimate level. If this were reported at the 100% level, it 
would be approximately $ 45.2 million. The company’s surplus exceeds this requirement by a significant amount. 

Fallon’s reported loss ratio in 2008 was 90.8%. Its loss ratio was 94% and 93% in 1999 and 2000 respectively, but has 
been between 89% and 91% in each year subsequent. The average loss ratio for comprehensive and Medicare business 
have both been around 90%, while the averages for FEHBP and Medicaid business have been approximately 92%. 

 

Table 7.  Loss Ratio by Line of Business 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive - 94% 88% 90% 89% 90% 87% 90% 92% 91% 

FEHBP - 90% 96% 95% 89% 91% 92% 90% 96% 92% 

Medicare - 93% 90% 91% 90% 89% 90% 90% 88% 91% 

Medicaid - 90% 91% 91% 97% 90% 92% 92% 92% 90% 

Total 94% 93% 89% 91% 90% 90% 89% 90% 91% 91% 

 
Fallon reported 2.1 million member months in 2008, and average 2008 revenue per member month of $478. 2008 
member months increased by 9% compared to 2007, but that is the first year member months have increased. Member 
months had declined in each previous year. In 1999 Fallon had 2.7 million member months. The average revenue per 
member month in 2008 for all companies was $394. Fallon may have higher average revenue because of its relatively 
high proportion of Medicare business. Fallon’s average annual PMPM revenue growth over the ten year period was 
9.7%. 
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Table 8.  Member Months  

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Member 
Months 
('000) 

2,650 2,558 2,285 2,236 2,193 2,083 1,950 1,922 1,894 2,067 

Growth 
over Prior 
Year 

- -3.5% -10.7% -2.1% -1.9% -5.0% -6.4% -1.5% -1.4% 9.1% 

PMPM 
Revenue 

$208.12 $229.06 $256.44 $273.35 $307.84 $350.78 $393.16 $434.72 $469.72 $477.70 

Growth in 
PMPM 
Revenue 

- 10.1% 12.0% 6.6% 12.6% 14.0% 12.1% 10.6% 8.1% 1.7% 

 
Fallon has reported administrative expenses equal to 8.6% of revenue in 2008, slightly higher than its ten year average of 
8.3%. This is substantially lower than the average for all companies, which was 10.3% in the most recent year and 10.4% 
over the ten year period. Of the other companies in the study, only Neighborhood Health Plan had a similar expense 
level. Fallon’s administrative expenses as a percent of revenue reached their lowest level in 2000 at 6.5%, and have been 
increasing since then. Administrative expenses on a PMPM basis have grown from $18.12 in 1999 to $41.18 in 2008, a 
9.5% compound growth rate. 

Table 9.  Administrative Expenses 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Admin. 
Expenses 
('000,000) 

$48.0 $38.0 $44.7 $54.3 $63.0 $55.1 $65.3 $69.6 $75.7 $85.1 

Growth over 
Prior Year 

- -20.8% 17.7% 21.5% 16.0% -12.6% 18.5% 6.7% 8.7% 12.4% 

Admin. Expense  
as % of 
Revenue 

8.7% 6.5% 7.6% 8.9% 9.3% 7.5% 8.5% 8.3% 8.5% 8.6% 

PMPM Admin. 
Expense 

$18.12 $14.86 $19.58 $24.30 $28.75 $26.46 $33.47 $36.24 $39.97 $41.18 

Growth in 
PMPM 
Admin. Expense 

- -18.0% 31.8% 24.1% 18.3% -8.0% 26.5% 8.3% 10.3% 3.0% 
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Fallon’s reconciled 2007 claim liability reflected in the 2008 statutory statement showed a margin in the reported 2007 
liability of 6% of the liability or $3.9 million. That amounts to approximately 2.3% of 2007 surplus and 3.2% of 2008 
surplus.  

Table 10.  Claim Reserve Reconciliation ($1,000,000 or %) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Reported Prior 
Yr Reserve  

23.2 28.5 24.0 15.1 19.7 55.3 54.8 49.1 54.5 66.1 

Reconciled 
Reserve 

17.4 23.2 19.5 13.5 17.4 53.1 54.3 46.5 49.1 62.2 

Margin in 
Reserve  

5.8 5.3 4.5 1.6 2.3 2.1 0.5 2.6 5.4 3.9 

Margin as % of 
Rec Reserve 

33.3% 23.0% 22.8% 11.9% 13.5% 4.0% 0.9% 5.6% 10.9% 6.3% 

Margin as % of 
Surplus 

17.9% 13.8% 6.9% 2.7% 3.0% 2.0% 0.4% 1.7% 3.1% 3.2% 

 
At year end 2008, Fallon’s invested assets totaled $257.5 million. 48% was invested in long-term bonds, 36% was 
invested in common stocks, 9.7% was invested in investment partnerships reported in Schedule BA and the balance was 
invested in cash, including short-term investments. Over the ten year period included in the analysis, the portion 
allocated to long-term bonds has increased from approximately the 35% level to the 48% level, that allocated to 
common stocks has increased from the 18% level to 35-40% in the most recent three years. At year end 2008 the 
amount invested in common stocks constituted 75% of surplus. The decrease of the portion allocated to common stocks 
at year end 2008 from year end 2007 is most likely attributable to realized and unrealized losses in common stocks, 
which totaled $40.7 million, including $5.0 million related to affiliates. Equity type assets (common stocks and Schedule 
BA assets) total 45.4% of invested assets and 96% of surplus at year end 2008. 
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Table 11.  Invested Assets by Type ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 28.7 34.4 53.8 50.1 70.8 86.2 103.5 123.2 128.5 123.9 

Stocks — Preferred - - - 0.0 0.0 - - - - - 

Stocks — Common 15.5 15.2 14.0 18.2 25.9 66.0 81.8 102.6 109.3 92.2 

Mortgage Loans — 
First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage Loans — 
Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Occupied - - - - - - - - - - 

RE — For Income - - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other - - - - - - - - - - 

Cash 39.8 44.7 44.1 62.6 80.9 49.8 4.4 1.8 5.5 16.5 

Other Inv. Assets - - - - - - 20.7 26.2 32.9 24.9 

Total Invested Assets 83.9 94.3 111.9 130.9 177.7 201.9 210.5 253.8 276.2 257.5 

 

Table 12.  Invested Assets by Type (% of total) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 34.2% 36.5% 48.1% 38.3% 39.9% 42.7% 49.2% 48.5% 46.5% 48.1% 

Stocks — Preferred - - - 0.0% 0.0% - - - - - 

Stocks — Common 18.5% 16.1% 12.5% 13.9% 14.6% 32.7% 38.9% 40.4% 39.6% 35.8% 

Mortgage Loans — First - - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage Loans — Other - - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Occupied - - - - - - - - - - 

RE — For Income - - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other - - - - - - - - - - 

Cash 47.4% 47.4% 39.4% 47.8% 45.6% 24.6% 2.1% 0.7% 2.0% 6.4% 

Other Inv. Assets - - - - - - 9.8% 10.3% 11.9% 9.7% 

Total Invested Assets 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
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Realized capital gains are reflected in the income statement. Unrealized capital gains and losses related to changes in 
market value of common stocks and Schedule BA assets are reflected as a direct adjustment to surplus. In 2008 Fallon 
reported realized and unrealized capital losses of $7.8 million and $40.1 million respectively. The total amount of realized 
and unrealized losses on common stocks and Schedule BA assets was $48.6 million. This reported loss represents 28% 
of 2007 reported surplus.  

Long-term bonds and preferred stocks are generally valued at amortized value. At year end 2008 valuing at market those 
investments that are shown in the statement at amortized cost would have decreased capital and surplus by about 2.4%. 
Fallon’s surplus has significant exposure to changes in market value.  

Common stocks and investment partnership are carried at market value. At year end 2008 the value of common stocks 
and investment partnerships totaled 96% of surplus. Statutory accounting requires that mutual fund investments are 
reported as common stocks. It should be noted at year end 2008 the company had an investment of $42.9 million in the 
PIMPCO Total Return Fund, a mutual fund with a diversified portfolio of long-term bonds. As result of statutory 
accounting practices, a direct investment by Fallon in high quality long-term bonds rather than through a mutual fund 
would produce a lower allocation to equity type investments and a likely increase in the RBC ratio.  

 

Table 13.  Capital Gains ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Realized Cap 
Gains 

0.2 0.1 (0.2) 0.2 0.0 (0.5) (1.3) 2.3 (0.4) (7.8) 

Unrealized Cap 
Gains* 

- - - - - - - - 1.8 (40.1) 

* Amount charged directly to surplus 

 
Fallon uses a reinsurance arrangement to limit its risk on any one life. Fallon stated that during 2008 it reinsured a 90% 
quota share in excess of a $800,000 deductible (increased from $700,000 during 2007).  

Fallon does not report any ASO or ASC business in its Annual Statement.  
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Appendix 4.5: Harvard Pilgrim Health Care, Inc. 
Harvard is based in Wellesley, Massachusetts. Harvard is a non-profit entity and does not have any shares of stock 
outstanding. Harvard is licensed in Massachusetts and Maine. Based on Harvard’s 2008 annual statement, Harvard 
derives 4% of its premiums from Maine. Harvard has various subsidiaries: 

• Harvard Pilgrim Physicians Association, Inc.  

• Harvard Pilgrim Health Care of New England, Inc. 

• HPHC Holding Corporation 

• Harvard Pilgrim Health Care Foundation, Inc. 

• Health Plans, Inc., which in turn has two subsidiaries, PlanMarketing Insurance Agency, Inc. and Care Management 
Services, Inc. 

• HPHC Insurance Agency, Inc.  

• HPHC Insurance Company, Inc. 

Harvard Pilgrim Health Care of New England, Inc. (HPNE) is an HMO that is licensed in both Massachusetts and New 
Hampshire. HPNE derived all its premium revenue in 2008 from New Hampshire and for this reason was not included 
in the analysis. 

Pilgrim Health Care, Inc was merged into Harvard effective January 1, 2002. The amounts shown for years prior to 2002 
do not include the financial results for Pilgrim Health Care, Inc. 

Harvard provides all administrative and operational services to HPNE and HPHC Insurance Company, Inc. The 
subsidiaries reimburse Harvard for the cost of the services provided. During 2008 Harvard’s Board of Directors 
approved a capital contribution of $10 million to HPNE to ensure compliance with New Hampshire’s minimum net 
worth requirements.  

Harvard reported $2,049 million of premium revenue in 2008. $1,798 million of it was comprehensive medical insurance 
(a 4% decline from the prior year), while $252 million was Medicare revenue. Medicare revenue was up by 31% 
compared to 2007, but 2007 had seen a 50% decline in Medicare revenue. Medicare had represented approximately 17% 
of Harvard’s revenue through 2006, but was 12% in 2008. This is largely the result of a major provider group signing an 
exclusive contract with a competitor as well as a change in the product from HMO based to fee-for-service based. 
Harvard has had no other kinds of premium revenue besides comprehensive and Medicare since 2000, when it had a 
modest amount of FEHBP revenue (approximately 1% of total revenue at that time). 
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Table 1.  Revenue by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 1,598.7 1,558.2 1,361.6 1,380.6 1,650.2 1,772.0 1,688.3 1,817.2 1,877.5 1,797.7 

FEHBP 32.2 29.3 - - - - - - - - 

Medicare 416.0 364.6 284.2 305.2 311.1 329.7 347.4 381.0 192.0 251.8 

Medicaid 77.0 - - - - - - - - - 

Other Health 243.5 29.5 - 0.3 - - - - - - 

Total 2,367.4 1,981.7 1,645.8 1,686.1 1,961.3 2,101.7 2,035.6 2,198.2 2,069.6 2,049.4 

 
Harvard had significant underwriting losses in 1999 in all lines of business, but has averaged approximately 1.6% of 
revenue as an underwriting gain in years 2001 and later. The gain in 2008 was 1.5% of revenue in total, although they 
reported a loss of 2.8% on Medicare business in 2008 and a loss on Medicare of 6.0% in 2007.  

Table 2.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive (203.0) (0.1) 45.6 31.2 30.5 21.9 39.4 28.3 27.0 36.9 

FEHBP (7.0) (2.1) - - - - - - - - 

Medicare (17.5) (21.1) (9.5) 1.7 0.1 (0.2) 5.5 12.9 (11.4) (7.1) 

Medicaid 0.6 - - - - - - - - - 

Other Health - - - (0.2) - - - - - - 

Total (226.8) (23.3) 36.1 32.7 30.5 21.7 44.9 41.1 15.6 29.8 

 

Table 3.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) as a Percentage of Revenue 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive -12.7% 0.0% 3.4% 2.3% 1.8% 1.2% 2.3% 1.6% 1.4% 2.1% 

FEHBP -21.7% -7.0% - - - - - - - - 

Medicare -4.2% -5.8% -3.3% 0.6% 0.0% -0.1% 1.6% 3.4% -6.0% -2.8% 

Medicaid 0.8% - - - - - - - - - 

Other Health 0.0% 0.0% - -78.4% - - - - - - 

Total -9.6% -1.2% 2.2% 1.9% 1.6% 1.0% 2.2% 1.9% 0.8% 1.5% 
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Table 4.  Net Income ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Und. Gain (226.8) (23.3) 36.1 32.7 30.5 21.7 44.9 41.1 15.6 29.8 

Net Inv. Income 18.9 10.0 5.4 9.1 8.9 13.7 20.5 27.7 22.6 22.3 

Cap Gains (0.9) - 0.3 3.6 4.7 0.8 (0.6) (1.2) 1.3 (2.5) 

Other  - - (18.1) (0.4) (1.9) (2.0) 0.1 0.8 (1.5) 2.7 

Net Income  (208.7) (13.3) 23.7 44.9 42.2 34.2 65.0 68.4 38.1 52.3 

Note: Harvard is not subject to FIT 

 
Average net investment income has been 0.8% as compared to revenue, and realized capital gains have averaged 0.0%. 
However, Harvard had higher than average net investment income in each of the last three years, ranging from 1.1% to 
1.3% as compared to revenue. Harvard experienced a realized capital loss in 2008 equivalent to (0.1%) of revenue. Net 
income in 2008 before FIT was 2.6% of revenue, fairly consistent with recent experience, but the ten year average is only 
0.9% because of the large losses in 1999 and smaller losses in 2000. Harvard, as a result of its non-profit status, is not 
subject to state or federal income tax.  

Harvard reported capital and surplus in 2008 of $387 million, an increase of $13 million as compared to 2007. Capital 
and Surplus has shown a steady increase from $ 112 million in 2001, after declines in the two prior years. Capital and 
surplus showed an increase of 59.1 million to $129.4 million due to the implementation of two practices permitted by the 
DOI which allowed Harvard to increase the value of certain real estate to market value. In particular, this permitted 
Harvard to treat its long-term debt as surplus notes because the payment of principal and interest became subject to 
approval of the Insurance Commissioner. Over the ten year period ending with 2008 they reported a compound annual 
surplus growth of 13%. As the surplus has grown, the annual rate of growth becomes more difficult to sustain.  

Harvard had surplus notes with an admitted value of $97.3 million as of year end. The outstanding surplus notes 
constitute a significant component of Harvard’s capital and surplus.  

Harvard values its insurance subsidiaries at their statutory net worth. Non-insurance subsidiaries are valued at their 
GAAP equity.  
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Table 5.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000 or %) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 129.4 117.9 111.7 169.8 210.6 243.4 289.9 321.9 373.5 386.7 

Growth in 
Surplus 

- (11.5) (6.2) 58.1 40.8 32.8 46.5 32.0 51.5 13.3 

Growth 
Percentage 

- -8.9% -5.3% 52.0% 24.0% 15.6% 19.1% 11.0% 16.0% 3.6% 

Surplus as 
Percent of 
Revenue 

5.5% 5.9% 6.8% 10.1% 10.7% 11.6% 14.2% 14.6% 18.0% 18.9% 

 
SAPOR has increased from 5.5% in 1999 to 18.9% in 2008, which is the highest level in the ten year period. The 
weighted average 2008 SAPOR ratio for all plans in this study was 19.2%. Only one other carrier in this study 
experienced a SAPOR ratio that increased in 2008 as compared to the prior year.  

Harvard’s reported RBC ratio, including the surplus notes, in 2008 was 517%. This represents an increase from the ratio 
of 193% reported in 1999, but a modest drop as compared to 2007. The weighted average for all the plans in this study 
for 2008 was 515%. The average for all plans has also shown an increase as compared to 1999, but is now at its lowest 
level since 2004.  

An estimate of Harvard’s RBC development for H-1 through H-4 segments of risk was based on publicly available 
information from the filed statutory financial statement. Asset risk contributes about 6% of Harvard’s final total RBC 
requirement, underwriting risk about 86%, and H-3 and H-4 risk combined are 13%. Harvard’s co-variance calculation 
reduces the total RBC requirement by 18% of the final requirement. While it was not possible to estimate the affiliate 
risk from public information, this leaves approximately 13% which may be roughly equivalent to the H-0 portion of the 
RBC requirement, including RBC associated with the HPHC Insurance Company, which by itself should make up most 
of that difference. 

Table 6.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 129.4 117.9 111.7 169.8 210.6 243.4 289.9 321.9 373.5 386.7 

Authorized 
Control Level 

67.11 62.92 50.49 46.68 54.98 59.76 56.54 63.08 69.35 74.76 

RBC Ratio 193% 187% 221% 364% 383% 407% 513% 510% 539% 517% 

 
Harvard’s 2008 capital and surplus per member month was $79. Its capital and surplus represented 2.6 months of claims 
in 2008, similar to the averages for all companies combined of $75 per member month and 2.6 months of claims. 

Harvard reported a minimum net worth requirement as of year end 2008, as required by MGL Chapter 176G, Section 
25, of $78 million. As required, this is reported at 70% of the ultimate level. If this were reported at the 100% level, it 
would be approximately $111 million. The company’s surplus exceeds this requirement by a significant amount. 
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Harvard’s reported loss ratio in 2008 was 88.4%. Its average loss ratio was 99.4% in 1999, the year of its large 
underwriting losses, but the average loss ratio has been between 84.4% and 89.6% in subsequent years. Harvard’s loss 
ratio for comprehensive business was 87.4% in 2008, while its Medicare loss ratio was 95.6%. The other Massachusetts 
HMOs have been profitable in their Medicare line of business in recent years. Harvard may face larger losses in Medicare 
if government payments for Medicare Advantage business come under pressure. 

Table 7.  Loss Ratio by Line of Business 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 102.5% 90.2% 87.6% 86.9% 88.2% 86.6% 82.8% 84.3% 86.4% 87.4% 

FEHBP 108.8% 95.3% - - - - - - - - 

Medicare 94.3% 94.1% 92.6% 92.5% 92.2% 93.0% 92.1% 89.9% 98.1% 95.6% 

Medicaid 89.3% - - - - - - - - - 

Other Health 90.2% 0.0% - 168.2% - - - - - - 

Total 99.4% 89.6% 88.5% 87.9% 88.8% 87.6% 84.3% 85.3% 87.5% 88.4% 

 
Harvard reported 4.9 million member months in 2008, the lowest level in the ten year period, and average 2008 revenue 
per member month of $417, which is higher than the average of $394 for all the companies in the study. Member 
months have declined over the ten year period at an approximate 10.5% compound rate.  

Table 8.  Member Months  

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Member Months 
('000) 

13,329 9,395 7,048 6,577 6,979 6,696 5,767 5,682 5,316 4,911 

Growth over Prior 
Year 

- -29.5% -25.0% -6.7% 6.1% -4.1% -13.9% -1.5% -6.4% -7.6% 

PMPM Revenue $177.60 $210.93 $233.50 $256.37 $281.02 $313.88 $353.00 $386.90 $389.32 $417.30 

Growth in PMPM 
Revenue 

- 18.8% 10.7% 9.8% 9.6% 11.7% 12.5% 9.6% 0.6% 7.2% 

 
Harvard reported administrative expenses equal to 10.1% of revenue in 2008, lower than its ten year average of 11.0%. 
Harvard was slightly lower than the 10.3% average for all companies in 2008, and slightly higher than the 10.4% all 
company average over the ten year period.  
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Table 9.  Administrative Expenses 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Admin. 
Expenses 
('000,000) 

$238.9 $229.3 $153.9 $171.4 $188.7 $238.4 $273.8 $283.0 $243.4 $207.0 

Growth over 
Prior Year 

- -4.0% -32.9% 11.4% 10.1% 26.4% 14.8% 3.4% -14.0% -15.0% 

Admin. Expense 
as % of 
Revenue 

10.1% 11.6% 9.4% 10.2% 9.6% 11.3% 13.4% 12.9% 11.8% 10.1% 

PMPM Admin. 
Expense 

$17.92 $24.41 $21.84 $26.06 $27.03 $35.61 $47.47 $49.82 $45.79 $42.15 

Growth in 
PMPM 
Admin. Expense 

- 36.2% -10.5% 19.3% 3.7% 31.7% 33.3% 4.9% -8.1% -7.9% 

 
Harvard’s reconciled 2007 claim liability reflected in the 2008 statutory statement showed a margin in the reconciled 
2007 liability of 42% or $63.5 million. That amounts to approximately 17% of 2007 surplus. Harvard has maintained 
very conservative claim liability reserves in each of the last seven years. 

Table 10.  Claim Reserve Reconciliation ($1,000,000 or %) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Reported Prior 
Yr Reserve  

313.8 347.4 217.8 170.5 106.0 146.8 154.6 153.6 164.7 214.5 

Reconciled 
Reserve 

304.0 331.0 217.1 120.7 88.0 123.6 106.6 99.8 108.5 151.1 

Margin in 
Reserve  

9.8 16.4 0.7 49.7 18.1 23.3 48.0 53.8 56.1 63.5 

Margin as %  
of Rec Reserve 

3.2% 5.0% 0.3% 41.2% 20.6% 18.8% 45.1% 53.9% 51.7% 42.0% 

Margin as %  
of Surplus 

7.6% 13.9% 0.7% 29.3% 8.6% 9.6% 16.6% 16.7% 15.0% 16.4% 

 
Harvard reported $6 million of unfunded post-retirement benefits in 2008, consistent with the amounts reported in prior 
years. This is roughly equal to 1.6% of capital and surplus 

Bonds are generally valued at amortized cost. At year end 2008 Harvard reported that the fair market value of its bond 
portfolio was $44.6 million less than the amortized values reported in its annual statement. The $44.6 million amount 
corresponds to approximately 11.5% of Harvard’s capital and surplus. 
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At year end 2008, Harvard’s invested assets totaled $653.5 million, of which 83% was invested in long-term bonds, 9.2% 
was invested in common stocks, 6.5% was invested in cash and short-term investments and less than 2% in other 
investment categories. The portion of invested assets allocated to long-term bonds has increased from approximately 
52% in 2002 to 83% in 2008. The portion allocated to common stocks has increased from the low single digit level to 
almost 10% at year end 2008, with most of the increase occurring during 2008. At year end 2008 the amount invested in 
common stocks constituted 16% of surplus.  

Table 11.  Invested Assets by Type ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 185.8 88.8 51.9 187.8 304.3 415.6 460.1 511.6 526.7 541.8 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

- - - - - - - - 4.6 0.4 

Stocks — 
Common 

0.6 5.5 8.2 8.6 8.4 9.7 17.1 29.9 41.8 60.0 

Mortgage Loans 
— First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage Loans 
— Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Occupied - 150.1 81.8 29.1 26.3 23.6 22.0 9.8 8.4 0.0 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - 5.5 

RE — Other - - - - - - - - - - 

Cash 22.8 (15.9) 67.8 116.8 102.0 60.4 47.4 63.6 86.6 42.2 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

2.9 2.5 27.1 16.8 14.5 5.9 8.1 19.7 6.4 3.5 

Total Invested 
Assets 

212.2 231.0 236.8 359.1 455.5 515.2 554.8 634.6 674.5 653.5 
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Table 12.  Invested Assets by Type (% of total) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 87.6% 38.4% 21.9% 52.3% 66.8% 80.7% 82.9% 80.6% 78.1% 82.9% 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

- - - - - - - - 0.7% 0.1% 

Stocks — 
Common 

0.3% 2.4% 3.5% 2.4% 1.8% 1.9% 3.1% 4.7% 6.2% 9.2% 

Mortgage Loans 
— First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage Loans 
— Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Occupied - 65.0% 34.5% 8.1% 5.8% 4.6% 4.0% 1.5% 1.2% 0.0% 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - 0.8% 

RE — Other - - - - - - - - - - 

Cash 10.7% -6.9% 28.7% 32.5% 22.4% 11.7% 8.5% 10.0% 12.8% 6.5% 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

1.4% 1.1% 11.4% 4.7% 3.2% 1.1% 1.5% 3.1% 1.0% 0.5% 

Total Invested 
Assets 

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 
At year end 2008 Harvard reported realized capital losses of $2.5 million and unrealized capital losses of $13.5 million. 
Realized capital gains and losses are reflected in the income statement and unrealized capital gains and losses are 
reflected as a direct charge to the company’s surplus.  

Table 13.  Capital Gains ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Realized Cap 
Gains 

(0.9) - 0.3 3.6 4.7 0.8 (0.6) (1.2) 1.3 (2.5) 

Unrealized 
Cap Gains* 

- - - - - - 1.6 .6 2.0 (13.5) 

* Amount charged directly to surplus 
 
Harvard has been reporting an increasing share of ASO and/or ASC business. ASO fees of $78.3 million in 2008 represented 
almost 38% of administrative expenses, up substantially from 29% in 2007 and 18 to 24% during the previous five years. It 
should be noted that the member/month data reported in the annual statement does not include ASO or ASC business.  

Harvard carries reinsurance to mitigate the effect of catastrophic claim cost associated with individual members. Harvard 
is reimbursed for 80% of certain costs in excess of a deductible that ranges from $500,000 to $1 million, with a 
maximum lifetime reinsurance recovery of $2 million. 
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Health New England, Inc. 
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Appendix 4.6: Health New England, Inc. 
HNE is based in Springfield. HNE is controlled by Baystate Health, Inc., which owns 96.8% of HNE’s outstanding 
shares. The balance of HNE’s shares is owned by local physicians. HNE is licensed only in Massachusetts. It has a 
subsidiary, Health New England of CT, Inc. that is licensed in Connecticut and which is currently inactive. HNE has 
two other subsidiaries- Health Advisory Services, Inc. and HNE Insurance Services Corporation. Health Advisory 
Services provides administration and claim processing services for self-insured plans and HNE Insurance Services 
Corporation collects commissions for the placement of stop loss coverage sold in conjunction with self-insured plans.108   

HNE had $288 million of premium revenue in 2008, virtually all of it comprehensive medical insurance. They had 
previously insured FEHBP business, which represented 12% of revenue in 1999 and 2000, but it declined in volume 
over the next two years and was gone after 2002. They report a minimal amount of “other health” business amounting 
to less than 0.1% of total business. They have not reported any Medicare, Medicaid or Medicare Supplement business 
during the past ten years.109 Over the ten year period ending with 2008 they reported a compound annual revenue 
growth of 11.0% on comprehensive business and 9.4% total (taking into consideration the loss of FEHBP revenue). 

Table 1.  Revenue by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 112.7 143.6 155.3 182.2 201.8 223.7 228.0 247.6 274.0 288.2 

FEHBP 15.3 19.6 13.1 2.3 - - - - - - 

Other Health - - - 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 

Total 127.9 163.2 168.4 184.7 201.9 223.9 228.1 247.7 274.0 288.3 

 
The underwriting gain or loss has ranged from a low of (2.8%) of revenue in 1999 to a high of 4.7% of revenue in 2005, 
with a ten year average of 1.1%.  

Table 2.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive (3.6) (0.2) 3.4 (1.5) 3.0 4.6 10.7 7.8 4.2 4.9 

FEHBP (0.1) 0.3 (4.7) 1.9 - - - - - - 

Other Health - - - 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total (3.6) 0.1 (1.3) 0.5 3.0 4.7 10.8 7.8 4.2 4.9 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                      

108 This represents a very minor source of income – 2008 commissions totaled $5,670. 
109 HNE indicated that it began offering a Medicare Advantage product in January 2009. 



 
Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 

 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

191 

Table 3.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) as a Percentage of Revenue 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive -3.2% -0.1% 2.2% -0.8% 1.5% 2.1% 4.7% 3.1% 1.5% 1.7% 

FEHBP -0.5% 1.4% -36.2% 84.4% - - - - - - 

Other Health - - - 27.3% 18.2% 36.4% 39.5% 4.9% 40.9% 12.2% 

Total -2.8% 0.1% -0.8% 0.3% 1.5% 2.1% 4.7% 3.1% 1.5% 1.7% 

 
Average net investment income has been 0.7% of revenue. The average net income before FIT has been 1.9% of 
revenue over the ten year period. Unlike other Massachusetts based HMO’s, HNE is subject to state and federal 
income tax.  

Table 4.  Net Income Before FIT ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Und. Gain (3.6) 0.1 (1.3) 0.5 3.0 4.7 10.8 7.8 4.2 4.9 

Net Inv. Income 0.7 1.7 1.5 0.8 1.0 0.9 1.7 0.5 2.9 4.0 

Cap Gains (0.0) (0.0) 0.0 (0.0) 0.0 (0.3) (0.1) 0.0 (0.1) (2.6) 

Other  - - 2.1 (0.1) (0.1) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) 

Net Income  (3.0) 1.8 2.3 1.2 3.9 5.2 12.3 8.3 7.0 6.3 

 
HNE reported capital and surplus in 2008 of $38.4 million. Capital and surplus has shown a steady increase since 1999, 
when it was only $2.8 million. On April 19, 1999 HNE issued a surplus note in the amount of $4 million to Baystate 
Systems, Inc. in order to meet net worth requirements specified by the Commissioner of Insurance. This note was 
outstanding at year end 2007. Over the ten year period ending with 2008 they reported a compound annual surplus 
growth of 34%. Growth in capital and surplus was 17% in 2007 and 6.7% in 2008. In 2008 surplus growth was affected 
by realized capital losses that are reflected in the net gain and unrealized capital losses that are directly charged to surplus. 
As the surplus has grown, the annual rate of growth becomes more difficult to sustain. 

SAPOR has increased from 2.2% in 1999 to 13.3% in 2008. HNE has the second lowest SAPOR ratio among the 
Massachusetts health plans reviewed in this study. The weighted average 2008 SAPOR ratio for all plans in this study 
was 19.2%. However, HNE has had modest growth in capital and surplus in 2008 while the average of all plans was a 
decrease in capital and surplus of 12.9%. 
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Table 5.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000 or %) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 2.8 5.7 7.9 10.4 12.2 17.1 24.7 30.8 36.0 38.4 

Growth in 
Surplus 

- 2.9 2.2 2.5 1.7 4.9 7.6 6.1 5.2 2.4 

Growth 
Percentage 

- 102.1% 38.2% 32.1% 16.8% 40.3% 44.6% 24.5% 17.0% 6.7% 

Surplus as 
Percent of 
Revenue 

2.2% 3.5% 4.7% 5.6% 6.0% 7.6% 10.8% 12.4% 13.1% 13.3% 

 
HNE’s RBC ratio in 2008 was 369%, which is below the weighted average for all plans of 515%. HNE’s 2008 RBC 
ratio represents a steady increase from the ratio of 67% reported in 1999. The average for all plans has also increased 
over time, starting from a ratio of 426% in 1999, but this ratio has declined in 2008 and is currently at its lowest level 
since 2004. 

H-1 or asset risk contributes about 4% of HNE’s final total RBC requirement, H-2 or underwriting risk about 100%, 
and H-3 and H-4 risk combined are 7%. HNE’s co-variance calculation reduces the total RBC requirement by 11% of 
the final requirement. While it was not possible to estimate the affiliate risk from public information, this leaves 
approximately 0%, which may indicate that there is no H-0 risk associated with HNE’s business.  

Table 6.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 2.8 5.7 7.9 10.4 12.2 17.1 24.7 30.8 36.0 38.4 

Authorized 
Control Level 

4.24 5.54 5.99 6.89 7.33 8.14 8.09 8.84 9.91 10.39 

RBC Ratio 67% 103% 132% 151% 166% 210% 305% 348% 363% 369% 

 
HNE’s 2008 capital and surplus per member month was $45. Its capital and surplus represented 1.8 months of claims in 
2008. The averages for all companies combined were $75 per member month and 2.6 months of claims. 

HNE’s required minimum net worth requirement as of year end 2008, as stated in MGL Chapter 176G, Section 25 is 
$11.5 million. As required, this is reported at 70% of the ultimate level. If this were reported at the 100% level, it would 
be approximately $16.5 million. The company’s surplus exceeds this level by a significant amount. 

HNE’s reported loss ratio in 2008 was 87.1%. Over the period since 1999, the loss ratio has ranged from 83.5% to 
89.1%, with an average of 86.7%. This is slightly lower but generally comparable to the average for all years for all 
companies of 87.1%. 
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Table 7.  Loss Ratio by Line of Business 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 89.4% 86.5% 85.7% 87.9% 86.5% 86.2% 83.5% 85.2% 87.3% 87.1% 

FEHBP 87.1% 86.5% 119.7% 13.8% - - - - - - 

Other Health - - - 65.4% 73.0% 54.1% 50.0% 85.0% 48.0% 76.1% 

Total 89.1% 86.5% 88.4% 87.0% 86.5% 86.2% 83.5% 85.2% 87.3% 87.1% 

 
HNE reported 846,000 member months in 2008, and average revenue per member month of $341. Member months 
have shown a net decline of approximately 5% over the ten year period. The average revenue per member month for all 
companies was $394 for 2008.  

HNE’s average revenue per member month has increased by 10.1% annually over the period since 1999, but by only 
6.1% in 2008.  

Table 8.  Member Months  

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Member 
Months ('000) 

892 991 901 876 854 848 805 816 854 846 

Growth over 
Prior Year 

- 11.1% -9.1% -2.8% -2.6% -0.7% -5.1% 1.4% 4.6% -0.8% 

PMPM 
Revenue 

$143.42 $164.66 $186.84 $210.76 $236.50 $263.89 $283.39 $303.51 $321.05 $340.55 

Growth in 
PMPM 
Revenue 

- 14.8% 13.5% 12.8% 12.2% 11.6% 7.4% 7.1% 5.8% 6.1% 

 
HNE’s administrative expenses were reported at 11.2% of revenue in 2008, lower than the ten year average of 12.2%. 
This is higher than the average for all companies, which was 10.3% in the most recent year and 10.4% over the ten year 
period. The higher administrative expense rate may be the result of HNE’s smaller enrollment compared to that of the 
other insurers included in the study. 
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Table 9.  Administrative Expenses 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Admin. 
Expenses 
('000,000) 

$17.6 $21.9 $20.9 $23.6 $24.3 $26.2 $27.0 $29.0 $30.5 $32.3 

Growth over 
Prior Year 

- 24.4% -4.4% 12.7% 3.4% 7.5% 3.0% 7.5% 5.4% 5.9% 

Admin. Expense 
as % of 
Revenue 

13.7% 13.4% 12.4% 12.8% 12.1% 11.7% 11.8% 11.7% 11.1% 11.2% 

PMPM Admin. 
Expense 

$143.42 $164.66 $186.84 $210.76 $236.50 $263.89 $283.39 $303.51 $321.05 $340.55 

Growth in 
PMPM 
Admin. Expense 

- 11.9% 5.1% 16.0% 6.1% 8.2% 8.5% 6.0% 0.8% 6.8% 

 
HNE’s reconciled 2007 claim liability reflected in the 2008 statutory statement showed a margin 20.7% of the reconciled 
reserve or $4.8 million. That amounts to approximately 12.6% of 2008 surplus.  

Table 10.  Claim Reserve Reconciliation ($1,000,000 or %) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Reported Prior 
Yr Reserve  

16.6 16.1 22.9 22.9 23.1 24.5 29.2 27.1 24.5 28.2 

Reconciled 
Reserve 

16.5 15.6 22.7 21.9 21.6 22.1 21.6 19.5 20.8 23.4 

Margin in 
Reserve  

0.1 0.5 0.2 1.0 1.5 2.4 7.6 7.7 3.7 4.8 

Margin as %  
of Rec Reserve 

0.5% 3.3% 1.0% 4.5% 6.9% 10.7% 35.3% 39.4% 17.7% 20.7% 

Margin as %  
of Surplus 

3.0% 9.1% 2.9% 9.5% 12.2% 13.9% 30.8% 24.9% 10.2% 12.6% 

 
HNE does not provide a defined benefit retirement plan and does not provide post employment benefits. Consequently, 
HNE does not have any unfunded employee benefit obligations.  

HNE does not report any ASO or ASC business. As indicated above, HNE’s subsidiary Health Advisory Services, 
Inc. (HAS) provides administrative and claims processing services for self insured health plans. HAS’s ASO claim 
payment volume was $94.4 million for 2007. HNE provides administrative services to HAS for which it bills HAS on 
a monthly basis in accordance with a management agreement. Total administrative service billings for 2008 amounted 
to $7.2 million.  
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At year end 2008 HNE reported $77.1 million in invested assets, of which 77.8% was invested in long-term bonds and 
2.3% in common stocks (including subsidiaries). The company’s cash and short-term investments constitute the balance 
of its invested assets. In the 1999-2001 time period the company experienced a low level of surplus and its cash and 
short-term investments constituted between 51% and 85% of its invested assets.  

Table 11.  Invested Assets by Type ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 7.6 5.0 9.0 27.5 35.7 50.1 56.5 56.1 58.7 59.9 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

- - - - - - - - 1.0 0.0 

Stocks — 
Common 

0.5 0.4 0.2 (0.0) 0.4 (0.5) (0.2) 3.6 4.5 2.3 

Mortgage 
Loans — First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage 
Loans — Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — 
Occupied 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other - - - - - - - - - - 

Cash 8.7 30.5 26.3 10.8 10.3 2.4 5.7 5.2 10.3 14.8 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Total Invested 
Assets 

16.7 35.9 35.5 38.3 46.4 52.0 62.0 64.9 74.5 77.1 
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Table 12.  Invested Assets by Type (% of total) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 45.3% 13.9% 25.5% 72.0% 77.0% 96.4% 91.1% 86.4% 78.7% 77.8% 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

- - - - - - - - 1.4% - 

Stocks — 
Common 

2.9% 1.1% 0.5% -0.1% 0.8% -0.9% -0.4% 5.5% 6.0% 2.9% 

Mortgage 
Loans — First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage 
Loans — Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — 
Occupied 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other - - - - - - - - - - 

Cash 51.8% 85.1% 74.0% 28.1% 22.2% 4.5% 9.2% 8.1% 13.9% 19.2% 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Total Invested 
Assets 

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 
Long-term bonds and preferred stocks are generally valued at amortized cost. At year end 2008 the statement value of 
bonds was $3.0 million higher than the fair market value, or equal to approximately 8% of surplus. 

HNE reported a realized capital loss of $2.6 million and an unrealized capital loss of $1.2 million for 2008. HNE has 
reported during each of the years prior to 2008 a small amount of realized capital gains and a small amount of unrealized 
capital gains. Realized capital gains are reflected in the income statement and unrealized capital gains are a direct charge 
to the surplus account.  

Table 13.  Capital Gains ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Realized Cap 
Gains 

(0.0) (0.0) 0.0 (0.0) 0.0 (0.3) (0.1) 0.0 (0.1) (2.6) 

Unrealized 
Cap Gains* 

(0.1) (0.1) - - - - - 0.2 0.2 (1.2) 

* Amount charged directly to surplus 

 
The Company limits its risk exposure by reinsuring all claim cost in excess of $250,000 per insured member. 
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Appendix 4.7: Neighborhood Health Plan, Inc. 
Neighborhood is based in Boston, Massachusetts. Neighborhood is a non-profit entity and does not have any shares of 
stock outstanding. Neighborhood is licensed only in Massachusetts and all premiums are allocated to Massachusetts. 
Community Medical Alliance (CMA) is a wholly owned subsidiary of Neighborhood. CMA provides medical services to 
Neighborhood and is paid by Neighborhood on a capitated basis. Two other corporate entities that appear to be inactive 
are identified on the corporate organization chart as affiliated companies.110   

Neighborhood reported $838 million of premium revenue in 2008. $258 million of it was comprehensive medical 
insurance (an increase of 52% over the prior year, and triple the volume of just three years earlier), while $580 million 
was Medicaid revenue.111 Medicaid revenue has also grown rapidly in the last several years, to almost double the 2004 
level. Neighborhood writes over 90%112 of the Massachusetts Medicaid business reported by the carriers in this study, 
and Fallon is the only other Massachusetts HMO to report Medicaid revenue. Neighborhood does not insure any 
Medicare business. Commonwealth Care is included in the “Comprehensive” line of business.  

Table 1.  Revenue by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 23.3 29.6 39.1 51.7 68.1 80.7 82.9 94.2 169.9 258.1 

Medicaid 170.3 260.2 301.6 342.6 297.9 306.9 356.9 432.5 498.1 580.2 

ASO 1.0 - - - - - - - - - 

Total 194.5 289.8 340.7 394.3 366.0 387.6 439.9 526.7 668.0 838.3 

 
Neighborhood’s underwriting gain or loss has ranged from a low of (4.3%) of revenue in 2002 to a high of 5.3% of 
revenue in 2004, with a ten year average of 1.4%. 2004 was an unusually profitable underwriting year for Neighborhood 
in both comprehensive and Medicaid business, while a 2008 underwriting gain of 1.7% reflected results that were below 
Neighborhood’s results of the prior five year period.  

Table 2.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive (1.4) 0.8 5.7 0.8 4.4 4.6 0.4 (2.6) (8.6) 6.4 

Medicaid 1.8 0.8 (11.9) (17.6) 5.1 15.9 8.5 20.9 35.4 7.8 

ASO 0.4 - - - - - - - - - 

Total 0.7 1.6 (6.1) (16.8) 9.5 20.5 8.9 18.3 26.8 14.2 

 

                                                      

110 Medvia, LLC and MHSPY, LLC. 
111 Neighborhood attributes much of this revenue growth to its entry into the Commonwealth Care and Commonwealth Choice markets. 
112 The two largest carriers in the Massachusetts Medicaid managed care market were not licensed HMOs in the study timeframe and are not reflected in the 
computation of the 90% estimate. 
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Table 3.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) as a Percentage of Revenue 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive -6.2% 2.8% 14.7% 1.5% 6.5% 5.7% 0.5% -2.7% -5.0% 2.5% 

Medicaid 1.0% 0.3% -3.9% -5.1% 1.7% 5.2% 2.4% 4.8% 7.1% 1.3% 

ASO 36.5% - - - - - - - - - 

Total 0.4% 0.6% -1.8% -4.3% 2.6% 5.3% 2.0% 3.5% 4.0% 1.7% 

 
Average net investment income over the ten year period is 0.9% as compared to revenue, and realized capital gains have 
averaged 0.1%. However, Neighborhood had higher than average net investment income in each of the last three years, 
ranging from 1.1% to 1.4% as compared to revenue. Neighborhood experienced realized capital gains in 2008 equivalent 
to 0.2% of revenue. Total average net income for the ten year period ending with 2008 has been 2.4% of revenue, 
somewhat lower than the 2.9% experienced in 2008. Neighborhood, as a result of its non-profit status, is not subject to 
state or federal income tax.  

Table 4.  Net Income ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Und. Gain 0.7 1.6 (6.1) (16.8) 9.5 20.5 8.9 18.3 26.8 14.2 

Net Inv. Income 2.7 4.3 3.6 1.7 1.2 1.6 3.4 5.9 9.2 9.2 

Cap Gains - - 1.1 0.4 0.4 (0.2) (0.3) 0.2 0.2 1.3 

Other  - - 0.1 0.6 0.6 0.3 0.3 0.0 - - 

Net Income  3.4 5.9 (1.3) (14.1) 11.7 22.1 12.2 24.4 36.2 24.7 

Note: Neighborhood is not subject to FIT 

 
Neighborhood reported capital and surplus in 2008 of $153 million, an increase of $20.4 million as compared to 2007. 
Capital and Surplus has increased from $ 19.8 million in 1999. The company experienced underwriting losses in 2003 
and 2004 which resulted in surplus decreasing to $15.9 million at year end 2002. Over the ten year period ending with 
2008 they reported a compound annual surplus growth of 26%. As the surplus has grown, the annual rate of growth 
becomes more difficult to sustain. In November 2003 Neighborhood, at the direction of the DOI issued a $10,000,000 
surplus note to Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts for the purpose of increasing its surplus. Interest on the surplus 
note is payable twice each year and payments of principal will commence in 2014. The note is subordinate to all other 
Neighborhood liabilities. 

SAPOR has increased from 10.2% in 1999 to 18.3% in 2008. The highest SAPOR level reached by Neighborhood 
during the most recent nine years was 19.9% in 2007. The weighted average 2008 SAPOR ratio for all health plans in this 
study was 19.2%. While Neighborhood’s capital and surplus increased significantly in 2008, its revenue growth was even 
higher due to its growth in all lines of business and its entry into the Commonwealth Care and Commonwealth Choice 
markets.  
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Table 5.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000 or %) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 19.8 27.1 27.8 15.9 37.5 58.5 69.8 97.8 132.8 153.2 

Growth in 
Surplus 

- 7.2 0.8 (12.0) 21.7 21.0 11.3 27.9 35.1 20.4 

Growth 
Percentage 

- 36.6% 2.9% -43.0% 136.6% 56.0% 19.3% 40.0% 35.9% 15.4% 

Surplus as 
Percent of 
Revenue 

10.2% 9.3% 8.2% 4.0% 10.3% 15.1% 15.9% 18.6% 19.9% 18.3% 

Note: Reported surplus includes the amount of the outstanding surplus note 

 
Neighborhood’s reported RBC ratio in 2008 was 540%. This represents an increase from the ratio of 309% reported in 
1999. In 2007 Neighborhood had an RBC ratio of 617%. The decrease in RBC ratio from 2007 to 2008 reflects the 
significant year over year revenue growth and somewhat lower earnings. The weighted average for all the health plans in 
this study for 2008 was 515%. The average for all plans has also shown an increase as compared to 1999, but is now at 
its lowest level since 2004. Due to losses reported in 2001 and 2002, Neighborhood’s RBC ratio dropped to 112% at 
year end 2002. This level of RBC would have resulted in the preparation of a company action plan.  

Health insurer RBC levels are dependent on five categories of risk. H-0 is risk associated with affiliate operations. H-1 is 
asset risk, which varies depending on the type and quality of assets held. H-2 is underwriting risk, dependent on the type 
of business and the volume of anticipated claims. H-3 is credit risk, and H-4 is administrative risk, associated with the 
expenses of running a business. For most health insurers, H-2 risk is the most important component, although H-1 risk 
can be important depending on the type of assets held. H-3 and H-4 are not usually significant sources of RBC risk. 
There is a co-variance calculation that recognizes that the different kinds of risks are diversified, and the RBC 
requirement is therefore decreased from the arithmetic sum of the components.  

An estimate of Neighborhood’s RBC development for H-1 through H-4 segments of risk was based on publicly available 
information from the filed statutory financial statement. Asset risk contributes about 2% of Neighborhood’s final total 
RBC requirement, underwriting risk about 100%, and H-3 and H-4 risk combined are 11%. Neighborhood’s co-variance 
calculation reduces the total RBC requirement by 12% of the final requirement. While it was not possible to estimate the 
affiliate risk from public information, this leaves approximately 0% which may indicate that Neighborhood has no 
affiliate risk component. 
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Table 6.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 19.8 27.1 27.8 15.9 37.5 58.5 69.8 97.8 132.8 153.2 

Authorized 
Control Level 

6.4 10.2 12.7 14.2 12.0 11.5 16.7 20.0 21.5 28.4 

RBC Ratio 309% 266% 219% 112% 314% 510% 418% 490% 617% 540% 

 
Neighborhood’s 2008 capital and surplus per member month was $70. Its capital and surplus represented 2.4 months of 
claims in 2008. Both of these are slightly lower than the averages for all companies combined of $75 per member month 
and 2.6 months of claims. 

Neighborhood reported a minimum net worth requirement as of year end 2008, as required by MGL Chapter 176G, 
Section 25, of $35.9 million. As required, this is reported at 70% of the ultimate level. If this were reported at the 100% 
level, it would be approximately $ 51.2 million. The company’s surplus exceeds this requirement by a significant amount. 

Neighborhood’s reported loss ratio in 2008 was 90%. Its average loss ratio was as high as 97% in 2002 and as low as 
85% in 2004. The average loss ratio for comprehensive business has been about 88.7% over the most recent ten years, 
while the average for Medicaid business has been approximately 89.3%. However, comprehensive loss ratios have been 
higher than the Medicaid loss ratios in three of the last four years. 

Table 7.  Loss Ratio by Line of Business 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 94% 86% 76% 91% 85% 85% 91% 94% 96% 89% 

Medicaid 86% 91% 94% 97% 90% 86% 89% 87% 84% 90% 

Total 87% 90% 92% 97% 89% 85% 89% 88% 87% 90% 

 
Neighborhood reported 2.2 million member months in 2008, and average 2008 revenue per member month of $384. 
Member months have increased over the nine year period at an approximate 10% compound growth rate. The average 
revenue per member month in 2008 for all companies was $394.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Study of the Reserves and Surpluses of Health Insurers in Massachusetts 

 

Massachusetts Division of Health Care Finance and Policy 

202 

Table 8.  Member Months  

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Member Months 
('000) 

925 1,350 1,481 1,600 1,435 1,400 1,486 1,599 1,832 2,182 

Growth over Prior 
Year 

- 46.0% 9.7% 8.0% -10.3% -2.5% 6.2% 7.6% 14.6% 19.7% 

PMPM Revenue $210.24 $214.63 $230.02 $246.39 $255.05 $276.95 $295.93 $329.43 $364.61 $384.18 

Growth in PMPM 
Revenue 

- 2.1% 7.2% 7.1% 3.5% 8.6% 6.9% 11.3% 10.7% 4.8% 

 
Neighborhood has reported administrative expenses equal to 8.5% of revenue in 2008, slightly lower than its ten year 
average of 9.2%. This is substantially lower than the average for all companies, which was 10.3% in the most recent year 
and 10.4% over the ten year period. Neighborhood’s lower administrative cost may reflect the large volume of Medicaid 
business. Of the other companies in the study, only Fallon Community Health Plan had a similar expense level. 
Neighborhood’s administrative expenses as a percent of revenue reached their lowest level in 2002 at 7.7%, and have 
been moderately stable since then in the range of 8.5% to 9.2%. 

Table 9.  Administrative Expenses 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Admin. 
Expenses 
('000,000) 

$24.7 $27.0 $32.5 $30.5 $29.7 $35.8 $37.8 $45.1 $60.5 $71.6 

Growth over 
Prior Year 

- 9.3% 20.5% -6.3% -2.4% 20.6% 5.6% 19.1% 34.1% 18.4% 

Admin. Expense 
as % of 
Revenue 

12.7% 9.3% 9.5% 7.7% 8.1% 9.2% 8.6% 8.6% 9.1% 8.5% 

PMPM Admin. 
Expense 

$26.69 $19.98 $21.96 $19.03 $20.71 $25.60 $25.46 $28.20 $33.01 $32.81 

Growth in 
PMPM 
Admin. Expense 

- -25.1% 9.9% -13.3% 8.8% 23.6% -0.5% 10.7% 17.1% -1.1% 

 
Neighborhood’s reconciled 2007 claim liability reflected in the 2008 statutory statement showed a margin in the reported 
2007 liability of 32.1% of the reconciled 2007 liability or $23.8 million. That amounts to approximately 18% of 2007 
surplus and 15.6% of 2008 surplus.  
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Table 10.  Claim Reserve Reconciliation ($1,000,000 or %) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Reported Prior 
Yr Reserve  

- - 39.0 33.0 40.3 42.1 52.1 67.2 78.4 98.1 

Reconciled 
Reserve 

- - 28.9 19.6 34.3 33.5 44.9 51.8 53.7 74.3 

Margin in 
Reserve  

- - 10.1 13.3 6.0 8.6 7.2 15.4 24.7 23.8 

Margin as %  
of Reconciled 
Reserve 

- - 34.9% 68.0% 17.5% 25.6% 16.1% 29.7% 45.9% 32.1% 

Margin as %  
of Surplus 

- - 36.2% 84.2% 16.0% 14.7% 10.4% 15.7% 18.6% 15.6% 

 
At year end 2008 Neighborhood reported total invested assets of $262.1 million, of which $240.7 million was invested in 
long-term bonds and the balance of $21.4 is cash (including short-term assets).  

Table 11.  Invested Assets by Type ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 35.4 39.8 46.1 39.8 56.9 79.0 101.7 164.9 197.4 240.7 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

0.2 - - - - - - - - - 

Stocks — 
Common 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage Loans 
— First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage Loans 
— Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Occupied - - - - - - - - - - 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other - - - - - - - - - - 

Cash 12.2 23.0 15.4 15.1 23.6 37.5 41.6 18.4 29.2 21.4 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

0.6 1.4 - - - - - - - - 

Total Invested 
Assets 

48.3 64.1 61.5 54.9 80.5 116.5 143.2 183.3 226.6 262.1 
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Table 12.  Invested Assets by Type (% of total) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 73.2% 62.0% 75.0% 72.5% 70.6% 67.8% 71.0% 90.0% 87.1% 91.8% 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

0.3% - - - - - - - - - 

Stocks — 
Common 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage Loans 
— First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage Loans 
— Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Occupied - - - - - - - - - - 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other - - - - - - - - - - 

Cash 25.3% 35.8% 25.0% 27.5% 29.4% 32.2% 29.0% 10.0% 12.9% 8.2% 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

1.2% 2.2%         

Total Invested 
Assets 

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

Neighborhoods portfolio of long-term bonds is reported on an amortized basis in its statutory statement. Because the 
company’s primary investment is long-term bonds, it has reported minimal amounts in capital gains. For 2008 
Neighborhood reported a realized capital gain of $1.3 million. At year end 2008 Neighborhood reported that the fair 
market value of its bond portfolio was $6.1 million greater than the amortized values reported in its annual statement. 
The $6.1 million amount corresponds to approximately 4% of Neighborhoods capital and surplus. 

Table 13.  Capital Gains ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Realized Cap 
Gains 

- - 1.1 0.4 0.4 (0.2) (0.3) 0.2 0.2 1.3 

Unrealized 
Cap Gains* 

- - - - - - - - - - 

* Amount charged directly to surplus 

Neighborhood does not provide any defined benefit post-retirement plan and therefore has no liability for unfunded 
post-retirement benefits.  

Neighborhood has reduced its risk by obtaining reinsurance which reimburses Neighborhood for 90% of its liability on 
any one life in excess of $525,000 up to a reimbursement limit of $1.5 million. 

Neighborhood does not report any ASO or ASC business.  
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Appendix 4.8: Tufts Associated Health Maintenance Organization, Inc. 
Tufts is based in Watertown, MA. Tufts is organized as a non-profit HMO. Tufts is licensed only in Massachusetts. 
However, Tufts has filed rates and commenced writing business in Rhode Island in January, 2009. 

On September 1, 2008 Tufts acquired Tufts Associated Health Plans, Inc. (TAHP), a for-profit corporation organized to 
perform certain management, administrative and marketing services for Tufts and other affiliates. TAHP in turn has four 
“for-profit” subsidiaries: 

• Total Health Plan, Inc. — provides third party administrative services to group members enrolled in point of 
service plans. 

• Tufts Benefit Administrators, Inc. — provides third party administrative services to group members enrolled in 
preferred provider arrangements. 

• TAHP Brokerage Corporation — markets non-affiliated insurance products 

• Tufts Insurance Company — is a Massachusetts domiciled company that provides accident and health insurance to 
Massachusetts individuals and groups. 

Additionally, Tufts controls the Tufts Health Plan Charitable Foundation.  

Tufts relinquished control of Tufts Health Plan of New England in 1999, at which time it was put into liquidation by the 
New Hampshire Department of Insurance. Tufts has guaranteed this company’s liabilities to all claimants. Tufts states it 
believes that it is adequately reserved for this liability.113   

Tufts reported $2,242 million of premium revenue in 2008. $1,244 million of it was comprehensive medical insurance, 
while $973 million was Medicare business. The balance of about $25 million of revenue is reported as other health 
insurance. They have not reported any Medicaid or Medicare Supplement business during the past ten years. Over the 
ten year period ending with 2008 they reported a flat compound annual revenue growth for comprehensive business, 
although it has increased and decreased over that time, and has grown by about 20% in the last two years. Tufts reported 
Medicare premium has grown by a compound 5.7% over the ten year period, with most of that growth (about 50%) 
occurring during the past two years. A major contributor to the recent growth in Medicare revenue is an exclusive 
contract with a major provider group. Total revenue growth is a compound average of 2.3% over the ten-year period. 

Table 1.  Revenue by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive - 1,235.0 1,333.9 1,561.9 1,657.2 1,525.6 1,264.3 1,036.8 1,099.8 1,243.6 

Medicare - 625.3 709.7 735.2 537.8 516.1 529.5 641.7 883.7 973.3 

Other Health - 10.0 8.5 9.7 13.6 16.4 19.1 20.7 23.7 25.2 

Total 1,750.5 1,870.4 2,052.1 2,306.7 2,208.5 2,058.0 1,812.9 1,699.3 2,007.1 2,242.1 

 

                                                      

113 2008 Annual statement, Notes to Financial Statements 10F. 
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The underwriting gain or loss has ranged from a low of (0.1%) of revenue in 2004 to a high of 3.1% of revenue in 2006, 
with a ten year average of 1.4%. Tufts lost 1.6% and 1.8% of revenue on comprehensive business in 2007 and 2008 
respectively, with a ten year average earnings of only 0.2% of revenue. Tufts primary underwriting gain has come from 
its Medicare business, which has had gains of 3.5% on average over ten years, and over 5% on average over the last three 
years. This may represent a particular risk for Tufts, as the federal government is likely to put pressure on Medicare 
margins over the coming years.  

Table 2.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive - 21.0 13.1 4.4 23.6 (18.7) 24.2 5.9 (17.6) (22.9) 

Medicare - 18.1 19.0 17.6 9.5 13.5 16.8 43.0 41.6 44.0 

Other Health - (6.1) 1.0 2.3 3.1 2.9 1.9 3.4 3.3 2.2 

Total 1.5 33.1 33.1 24.2 36.2 (2.2) 43.0 52.3 27.4 23.3 

 

Table 3.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) as a Percentage of Revenue 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive - 1.7% 1.0% 0.3% 1.4% -1.2% 1.9% 0.6% -1.6% -1.8% 

Medicare - 2.9% 2.7% 2.4% 1.8% 2.6% 3.2% 6.7% 4.7% 4.5% 

Other Health - -60.4% 11.6% 23.5% 22.9% 17.9% 10.1% 16.6% 14.1% 8.7% 

Total 0.1% 1.8% 1.6% 1.1% 1.6% -0.1% 2.4% 3.1% 1.4% 1.0% 
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Average net investment income has been 1.1% as compared to revenue, and realized capital gains have averaged 0.1%. 
However, Tufts had higher than average net investment income in each of the last four years, ranging from 1.2% to 
1.6% compared to revenue. Tufts experienced realized capital losses in 2008 of $48.9 million114, equivalent to 2.2% of 
revenue, more than offsetting 2008’s investment earnings. Total average net income before FIT has been 2.6% of 
revenue on average, although it was only 0.3% in 2008 largely due to the effect of realized capital losses. Because of its 
non-profit status, Tufts is not subject to state or federal income tax. 

Table 4.  Net Income ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Und. Gain 1.5 33.1 33.1 24.2 36.2 (2.2) 43.0 52.3 27.4 23.3 

Net Inv. 
Income 

15.6 15.1 19.7 22.6 12.1 14.6 21.4 27.1 32.6 31.0 

Cap Gains 7.3 12.6 (3.4) (10.8) 8.8 5.7 10.0 3.4 30.7 (48.9) 

Other  - - 7.0 - - - - - 0.3 0.7 

Net Income  24.4 60.8 56.3 36.1 57.1 18.1 74.4 82.8 91.0 6.2 

Note: Tufts is not subject to FIT 

 
Tufts reported capital and surplus in 2008 of $436 million, a decline of $111 million as compared to 2007. Unrealized 
capital losses totaled $77.8 million and are charged directly to Capital and Surplus. Capital and Surplus had shown a 
steady increase from $68 million in 1999 to $547 million in 2007. Over the ten year period ending with 2008 Tufts 
reported a compound annual surplus growth of 23%, but the rate of growth has been lower since 2003, before declining 
to -20% in 2008. As the surplus has grown, the annual rate of growth becomes more difficult to sustain. 

Tufts does not have any individual stop loss reinsurance arrangement in effect to mitigate risk. 

SAPOR has increased from 3.9% in 1999 to 19.4% in 2008. The highest SAPOR level reached by Tufts during the ten-
year period was 28.3% in 2006. The weighted average 2008 SAPOR ratio for all health plans in this study was 19.2%.  

Table 5.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000 or %) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 68 106 158 189 293 337 404 481 547 436 

Growth in 
Surplus 

- 38 52 31 104 45 67 77 66 (112) 

Growth 
Percentage 

- 55.1% 49.1% 19.4% 55.1% 15.2% 20.0% 19.0% 13.8% -20.4% 

Surplus as 
Percent of 
Revenue 

3.9% 5.7% 7.7% 8.2% 13.2% 16.4% 22.3% 28.3% 27.3% 19.4% 

 

                                                      

114 Realized capital gains and losses include gains and losses on sale of assets and adjustments to book value, including a $40.3 million permanent impairment loss. 
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Tufts reported RBC ratio in 2008 was 535%. This represents an increase from the ratio of 162% reported in 1999, but a 
decline from the levels reported in each of the last three years. In 2006 Tufts had an RBC ratio of 811%. The weighted 
average for all the health plans in this study for 2008 was 515%. The average for all plans has also shown an increase as 
compared to 1999, but it declined in 2008 and is now at its lowest level since 2004. 

Health insurer RBC levels are dependent on five categories of risk. H-0 is risk associated with affiliate operations. H-1 is 
asset risk, which varies depending on the type and quality of assets held. H-2 is underwriting risk, dependent on the type 
of business and the volume of anticipated claims. H-3 is credit risk, and H-4 is administrative risk, associated with the 
expenses of running a business. For most health insurers, H-2 risk is the most important component, although H-1 risk 
can be important depending on the type of assets held. H-3 and H-4 are not usually significant sources of RBC risk. 
There is a co-variance calculation that recognizes that the different kinds of risks are diversified, and the RBC 
requirement is therefore decreased from the arithmetic sum of the components. Estimates of RBC development for H-1 
through H-4 segments of risk were based on publicly available information from the filed statutory financial statement.  

Asset risk contributes about 48% of Tufts’s final total RBC requirement, underwriting risk about 85%, and H-3 and H-4 
risk combined are 15%. Tufts’s co-variance calculation reduces the total RBC requirement by 49% of the final 
requirement. While it was not possible to estimate the affiliate risk from public information, this leaves approximately 
1% which suggests that Tufts has a very low H-0 portion of the RBC requirement or none at all. 

Table 6.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 68.3 105.9 158.0 188.5 292.5 337.1 404.4 481.2 547.5 435.8 

Authorized 
Control Level 

42.1 50.4 62.5 72.7 73.5 71.5 61.9 59.3 69.3 81.5 

RBC Ratio 162% 210% 253% 259% 398% 472% 654% 811% 790% 535% 

 
Tufts’s 2008 capital and surplus per member month was $100. Its capital and surplus represented 2.6 months of claims 
in 2008. The averages for all companies combined were $75 per member month and 2.6 months of claims. 

Tufts reported required minimum net worth requirement as of year end 2008, as required by MGL Chapter 176G, 
Section 25, of $94.3 million. As required, this is reported at 70% of the ultimate (100%) level. If this were reported at the 
100% level, it would be approximately $134.7 million. The company’s surplus exceeds this requirement by a significant 
amount. 
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Tufts reported loss ratio in 2008 was 88.4%. Over the period since 1999, the loss ratio has ranged from 85% to 90%, 
with an average of 88.1%. Their loss ratio on comprehensive business has been approximately 1% lower, while they have 
reported an average 89.8 % loss ratio on Medicare business. 

Table 7.  Loss Ratio by Line of Business 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive - 87.5% 88.1% 89.7% 88.3% 89.8% 85.7% 84.7% 84.4% 87.1% 

Medicare - 90.7% 90.4% 90.5% 91.8% 90.4% 89.1% 85.8% 89.6% 90.0% 

Other Health - 55.0% 84.0% 72.7% 73.4% 77.0% 84.0% 75.9% 80.2% 86.1% 

Total 90.1% 88.4% 88.8% 89.8% 89.1% 89.9% 86.6% 85.0% 86.6% 88.4% 

 
Tufts reported 4.4 million member months in 2008, and average 2008 revenue per member month of $513. Member 
months have increased about 7% in each of the last two years, but are only about half the level reported in years prior to 
2004. The average revenue per member month in 2008 for all companies was $394. Tufts may have higher average 
revenue because of its relatively high proportion of Medicare business. 

Table 8.  Member Months  

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Member Months 
('000) 

8,592 8,233 8,130 8,484 7,582 6,092 4,715 3,823 4,068 4,374 

Growth over Prior 
Year 

- -4.2% -1.2% 4.3% -10.6% -19.7% -22.6% -18.9% 6.4% 7.5% 

PMPM Revenue $203.74 $227.19 $252.39 $271.90 $291.27 $337.84 $384.51 $444.46 $493.39 $512.54 

Growth in PMPM 
Revenue 

- 11.5% 11.1% 7.7% 7.1% 16.0% 13.8% 15.6% 11.0% 3.9% 
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Tufts has reported administrative expenses equal to 10.6% of revenue in 2008, roughly equal to the ten year average of 
10.4%. This is in line with the average for all companies, which was 10.3% in the most recent year and 10.4% over the 
ten year period. Administrative expenses as a percent of revenue had increased in each year from 2004 to 2007, but this 
trend has been reversed in 2008. Tufts administrative expenses averaged $54 on a per member per month (PMPM) basis 
in 2008. This was the highest PMPM administrative expense of any of the health plans included in this study. 

Table 9.  Administrative Expenses 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Admin. Expenses 
('000,000) 

$171.9 $183.5 $195.8 $210.3 $205.1 $210.3 $199.0 $201.9 $241.7 $237.2 

Growth over Prior 
Year 

- 6.7% 6.7% 7.4% -2.4% 2.6% -5.4% 1.4% 19.7% -1.8% 

Admin. Expense 
as % of Revenue 

9.8% 9.8% 9.5% 9.1% 9.3% 10.2% 11.0% 11.9% 12.0% 10.6% 

PMPM Admin. 
Expense 

$20.01 $22.29 $24.09 $24.78 $27.05 $34.53 $42.22 $52.82 $59.40 $54.23 

Growth in PMPM 
Admin. Expense 

- 11.4% 8.1% 2.9% 9.2% 27.6% 22.3% 25.1% 12.5% -8.7% 

 
Tufts’s reconciled 2007 claim liability reflected in the 2008 statutory statement showed a margin in the reported 2007 
liability of 14.1% of the reconciled liability or $26 million. That amounts to approximately 4.8% of 2007 surplus and 6% 
of 2008 surplus.  

Table 10.  Claim Reserve Reconciliation ($1,000,000 or %) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Reported Prior 
Yr Reserve  

118.8 137.1 134.9 146.8 143.2 250.6 263.4 244.4 202.6 212.9 

Reconciled 
Reserve 

104.6 123.4 125.2 129.3 139.0 243.9 209.5 185.1 166.5 186.7 

Margin in 
Reserve  

14.2 13.7 9.8 17.5 4.1 6.6 53.9 59.3 36.1 26.2 

Margin as % of 
Rec Reserve 

13.6% 11.1% 7.8% 13.5% 3.0% 2.7% 25.7% 32.0% 21.7% 14.1% 

Margin as % of 
Surplus 

20.8% 12.9% 6.2% 9.3% 1.4% 2.0% 13.3% 12.3% 6.6% 6.0% 
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At year end 2008, Tuft’s invested assets totaled $678.9 million, 38% was invested in long-term bonds, 39% was invested 
in common stocks, 13.5% was invested company occupied real estate, and the balance was invested in cash, including 
short-term investments. Over the ten year period included in the analysis, the portion allocated to long-term bonds has 
increased from approximately the 27% level to the 35-37% level, that allocated to common stocks has generally been in 
the range of 45%. At year end 2008 the amount invested in common stocks constituted 61% of surplus. The decrease of 
the portion allocated to common stocks at year end 2008 from year end 2007 is most likely attributable to realized and 
unrealized losses in common stocks, which totaled $99.3 million.  

Long-term bonds and preferred stocks are generally valued at amortized cost. Common stocks are carried at market 
value. At year end 2008 valuing at market those investments that are shown in the statement at amortized cost would 
have decreased capital and surplus by about 1%. 

Table 11.  Invested Assets by Type ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 95.1 114.7 121.2 134.3 199.6 212.2 235.9 271.4 273.1 256.3 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

- - - 3.9 3.9 5.6 3.5 1.5 - - 

Stocks — 
Common 

161.0 164.9 195.8 241.7 312.3 334.2 342.7 379.0 375.1 265.7 

Mortgage Loans 
— First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage Loans 
— Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Occupied - - - - - - - - 93.6 91.9 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other - - - - - - - - - - 

Cash 96.9 139.2 172.4 154.0 94.5 135.6 95.3 165.7 103.7 65.1 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

(1.0) 3.1 6.7 - - - 0.2 0.1 - - 

Total Invested 
Assets 

352.1 421.9 496.1 533.9 610.3 687.6 677.7 817.6 845.5 678.9 
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Table 12.  Invested Assets by Type (% of total) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 27.0% 27.2% 24.4% 25.2% 32.7% 30.9% 34.8% 33.2% 32.3% 37.7% 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

- - - 0.7% 0.6% 0.8% 0.5% 0.2% - - 

Stocks — 
Common 

45.7% 39.1% 39.5% 45.3% 51.2% 48.6% 50.6% 46.4% 44.4% 39.1% 

Mortgage Loans 
— First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage Loans 
— Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Occupied - - - - - - - - 11.1% 13.5% 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other           

Cash 27.5% 33.0% 34.7% 28.8% 15.5% 19.7% 14.1% 20.3% 12.3% 9.6% 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

-0.3% 0.7% 1.3% - - - 0.0% 0.0% - - 

Total Invested 
Assets 

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 
At year end 2008 Tufts reported realized capital losses of $48.9 million (including impairment charges) and unrealized 
capital losses of $77.9 million. Realized capital gains and losses are reflected in the income statement and unrealized 
capital gains and losses are reflected as a direct charge to the company’s surplus. Tufts reported $99.3 million in realized 
and unrealized losses in its common stock portfolio at year end 2008, which is 18.3% of its 2007 year end surplus. 
Because of its relatively large investment in common stocks, Tufts surplus is subject to year to year swings due to 
changes in the value of its common stocks. 

Statutory accounting requires that mutual fund investments are reported as common stocks. It should be noted at year 
end 2008 the company had an investments in mutual funds with a diversified portfolios of long-term bonds. As result of 
statutory accounting practices, a direct investment by Tufts in long-term bonds rather than through a mutual fund would 
produce a lower allocation to equity type investments and a likely increase in the RBC ratio.115  

 
 
 
 
 

                                                      

115 Tufts has stated that, as of year end 2008 its statutory statement reflected $126 million of investments in mutual funds focused on fixed income securities. 
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Table 13.  Capital Gains ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Realized Cap 
Gains 

7.3 12.6 (3.4) (10.8) 8.9 5.6 10.0 3.4 30.7 (48.9) 

Unrealized 
Cap Gains* 

5.4 (12.6) (4.2) (6.7) 35.0 20.9 (8.0) 11.2 (28.2) (77.9) 

* Amount charged directly to surplus 

 
Tufts does not provide a defined benefit retirement plan and does not provide postemployment benefits to its 
employees. Consequently, Tufts does not have any unfunded employee benefit obligations.  

Tufts does not report any ASO or ASC business in the statutory statement. Tufts subsidiaries provide administrative 
services to self-insured plans. 

Tufts does not use reinsurance to mitigate the risk of large individual claims. 
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UnitedHealthcare of New England, Inc. 
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Appendix 4.9: UnitedHealthcare of New England, Inc. 
UHNE is based in Warwick, RI. UHNE is a wholly owned subsidiary of UnitedHealthcare Services, Inc. (UHS), which is 
in turn a wholly owned subsidiary of UnitedHealth Group, Inc. (UHG). UHNE is a for-profit, fully taxable entity, unlike 
most of the other companies in this study. UHNE operates in Rhode Island and Massachusetts. In 2008 UHNE derived 
8% of its premiums from Massachusetts and 92% from Rhode Island.  

In 2008, 52% of UHNE’s revenue came from Medicare business, while 29% came from Medicaid and 19% from 
comprehensive medical insurance. All of UHNE’s Medicare and Medicaid business is in Rhode Island. UHNE’s 
comprehensive medical revenue has declined over the past ten years, and is less than one-quarter as high as it was in 
2003. UHNE’s Medicare business is at about the same level it was in 1999, but it declined by about half over the years 
2000 to 2003 and then gradually increased back to the current level. Medicaid business has grown gradually over the ten 
year period by a compound average of 5.7%. It should be noted that other kinds of business, including PPO-style plans, 
dental insurance and ASO business are written through an affiliated company, UnitedHealthcare Insurance Company, 
Inc.(UHIC) Over the last several years, a great deal of revenue in the comprehensive market that had previously gone 
through UHNE has migrated to UHIC. 

UHNE reported $381 million of premium revenue in 2008. $72 million was comprehensive medical insurance, while 
$198 million was Medicare business, and $111 million was Medicaid. Over the ten year period ending with 2008 HMO 
UHNE has experienced a net decline in revenue at a 3% compound rate.  

Effective March 30, 2004 UHNE cedes 60% of earned commercial premium, medical expenses, and operating expenses 
to UHIC. The premium amount stated in the prior paragraph was the net premium, after reinsurance.  

Table 1.  Revenue by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 240.6 311.7 278.1 257.3 286.6 105.7 113.7 97.6 86.8 72.0 

FEHBP 7.1 - - - - - - - - - 

Medicare 192.9 179.5 108.0 106.2 105.0 120.2 144.1 175.6 204.4 198.4 

Medicaid 67.0 59.5 62.3 72.4 73.4 76.8 87.2 89.4 84.6 110.9 

Total 507.5 550.7 448.5 435.9 465.0 302.7 345.0 362.5 375.8 381.3 

 
UHNE has reported underwriting gains in all years 2000 through 2008, after $12 million of underwriting losses on 
Medicare business resulted in a total underwriting loss in 1999. In 2008 UHNE had $18 million in underwriting gain, $16 
million of which was from Medicare business. In 2008, UHNE’s underwriting gain was equivalent to 4.8% of revenue, 
close to its ten year average of 4.5% and higher than any of the other companies in this study. Its 2008 underwriting gain 
for comprehensive business was 3.2%, while it made 8.2% on Medicare and a slight loss on Medicaid. Medicare business 
may represent a particular risk for UHNE, as the federal government is likely to put pressure on Medicare margins over 
the coming years. 
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Table 2.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) by Line of Business ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 3.1 16.2 14.0 15.9 7.5 5.3 5.0 4.6 1.2 2.3 

FEHBP (0.2) - - - - - - - - - 

Medicare (12.0) 1.9 13.1 14.1 14.4 10.7 7.8 9.2 23.9 16.3 

Medicaid 1.4 (0.9) (2.8) (1.1) (4.4) 2.4 5.2 2.6 2.4 (0.4) 

Total (7.7) 17.2 24.3 28.9 17.6 18.4 18.0 16.4 27.5 18.2 

 

Table 3.  Underwriting Gain or (Loss) as a Percentage of Revenue 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 1.3% 5.2% 5.0% 6.2% 2.6% 5.1% 4.4% 4.7% 1.4% 3.2% 

FEHBP -2.6% - - - - - - - - - 

Medicare -6.2% 1.0% 12.1% 13.3% 13.8% 8.9% 5.4% 5.2% 11.7% 8.2% 

Medicaid 2.1% -1.5% -4.5% -1.5% -5.9% 3.1% 5.9% 2.9% 2.8% -0.4% 

Total -1.5% 3.1% 5.4% 6.6% 3.8% 6.1% 5.2% 4.5% 7.3% 4.8% 

 
UHNE reported net income before taxes of 6.7% in 2008, including net investment income equivalent to 2.0% of 
revenue and capital losses equivalent to 0.1%. This is consistent with the averages over the last nine years, ignoring the 
loss year in 1999. It should be noted that UHNE pays income taxes, unlike most of the other Massachusetts companies 
that are included in this study, which results in a lower income after taxes.  

Table 4.  Net Income Before FIT ($1,000,000) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Und. Gain (7.7) 17.2 24.3 28.9 17.6 18.4 18.0 16.4 27.5 18.2 

Net Inv. Income 4.9 6.4 6.7 6.5 6.1 1.6 6.1 8.0 8.9 7.7 

Cap Gains (0.0) (0.3) 0.2 (0.0) 1.7 0.1 (0.2) (0.1) 0.0 (0.3) 

Other  - - - (0.4) - - 0.4 - (0.0) (0.0) 

Net Income  (2.8) 23.3 31.2 35.0 25.3 20.2 24.3 24.3 36.4 25.6 

 
UHNE reported capital and surplus in 2008 of $125 million, an increase of $6 million as compared to 2007. UHNE’s 
pre-tax income includes the benefit of $0.3 million in realized capital gains. UHNE experienced an insignificant 
adjustment to surplus for unrealized capital gains. Capital and surplus has generally increased in a steady fashion from 
$12 million in 1999. Over the ten year period ending with 2008 they reported a compound annual surplus growth of 
29% and 17% over the most recent 9 year period. As the surplus has grown, the annual rate of growth may become 
more difficult to sustain. 
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Beginning March 30, 2004 and retroactive to January 1, 2004 UHNE reinsured 60% of its commercial business with 
UHIC. Additionally, UHNE has a reinsurance arrangement with UHIC to provide for insolvency protection, member 
out-of-area conversion privileges, and to cover certain hospital expenses in excess of defined limits and small group out-
of-network coverage 

SAPOR has also increased, from 2.4% in 1999 to 32.9% in 2008, the highest level of any of the companies in this study. 
The weighted average 2008 SAPOR ratio for all health plans in this study was 19.2%.  

Table 5.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000 or %) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 12.4 35.5 60.9 83.3 99.8 87.9 91.2 90.2 119.3 125.5 

Growth in 
Surplus 

- 23.1 25.4 22.5 16.5 (11.9) 3.3 (1.0) 29.1 6.2 

Growth 
Percentage 

- 187.1% 71.5% 36.9% 19.7% -11.9% 3.7% -1.1% 32.2% 5.2% 

Surplus as 
Percent of 
Revenue 

2.4% 6.4% 13.6% 19.1% 21.5% 29.0% 26.4% 24.9% 31.7% 32.9% 

 
UHNE’s reported RBC ratio in 2008 was 1013%, approximately the same as in 2007, but significantly higher than the 
766% in 2006, which had been the highest level to that point. UHNE’s 2008 RBC ratio of 1013% is significantly higher 
than the weighted average of 515% for the companies included in this study. 

For UHNE, H-1 or asset risk contributes only about 8% of the final total RBC requirement, underwriting risk about 
101%, and the other types of risk combined are 12%. UHNE’s co-variance calculation reduces the total RBC 
requirement by 19% of the final requirement. It does not appear that UHNE reports any RBC requirement related to H-
0 or affiliate risk.  

Table 6.  Capital and Surplus Analysis ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Surplus 12.4 35.5 60.9 83.3 99.8 87.9 91.2 90.2 119.3 125.5 

Authorized 
Control 
Level 

15.7 18.4 14.3 13.8 16.5 12.4 12.3 11.8 11.8 12.4 

RBC Ratio 78.9% 192.6% 426.8% 603.5% 605.2% 709.6% 739.2% 766.2% 1014.7% 1013.2% 

 
UHNE’s 2008 capital and surplus per member month was $112, the highest of the companies in this study. Its capital 
and surplus represented 4.8 months of claims in 2008, also the highest. The averages for all companies combined were 
$75 per member month and 2.6 months of claims. 

UHNE reported a required minimum net worth as of year end 2008 of $34 million, based on the minimum net worth 
requirement of Rhode Island, its domiciliary state, which is equivalent to an RBC ratio of 275%. The company’s surplus 
exceeds this requirement by a significant amount. 
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UHNE’s reported loss ratio in 2008 was 81.6%. Its average over the ten years was 82.1%. This is lower than the loss 
ratios reported by any of the other companies in this study. UHNE’s 2008 loss ratio on comprehensive business at 
77.9% and on Medicare business at 79.3% were both lower than the overall loss ratio, but reasonably consistent with the 
long-term trend at the company. The Medicaid loss ratio was 88%.  

Table 7.  Loss Ratio by Line of Business 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Comprehensive 87.0% 82.5% 82.6% 79.4% 82.2% 74.9% 77.9% 76.9% 79.1% 77.9% 

FEHBP 91.0% - - - - - - - - - 

Medicare 95.1% 88.9% 75.8% 76.5% 75.0% 78.6% 82.1% 82.3% 76.1% 79.3% 

Medicaid 86.2% 90.6% 85.2% 89.4% 93.7% 84.4% 81.8% 84.3% 85.0% 88.0% 

Total 90.0% 85.5% 81.3% 80.4% 82.4% 78.8% 80.6% 81.3% 78.8% 81.6% 

 
UHNE reported 1.1 million member months in 2008, and average 2008 revenue per member month of $341. 2008 
member months are the lowest during the ten year study period, and less than half the level reported in 1999 and 2000. 
The average revenue per member month in 2008 for all companies was $394. UHNE’s average annual per member 
month revenue growth over the ten year period was 6.7% 

Table 8.  Member Months  

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Member Months 
('000) 

2,667 2,676 2,083 1,846 1,853 1,817 1,631 1,428 1,264 1,117 

Growth over Prior 
Year 

- 0.4% -22.2% -11.4% 0.4% -1.9% -10.2% -12.5% -11.5% -11.6% 

PMPM Revenue $190.32 $205.78 $215.32 $236.14 $250.99 $166.56 $211.53 $253.89 $297.38 $341.25 

Growth in PMPM 
Revenue 

- 8.1% 4.6% 9.7% 6.3% -33.6% 27.0% 20.0% 17.1% 14.8% 

 
UHNE reported administrative expenses equal to 13.9% of revenue in 2008, consistent with the 13.4% ten year average, 
and higher than any of the other companies in the study. The average for all companies was 10.3% in the most recent 
year and 10.4% over the ten year period. Administrative expenses on a per member month basis have grown from $22 in 
1999 to $47 in 2008, a 9.0% compound growth rate. However, in each of the last four years per member month 
administrative expenses have increased at a 17% compound annual rate. UHNE is charged a fee by UnitedHealthcare 
Services, Inc. (UHS) for all administrative, selling, general and financial advisory services performed on its behalf. Since 
all employee benefits are provided by UHS, any post retirement benefits are funded by the UHS.  
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Table 9.  Administrative Expenses 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Admin. 
Expenses 
('000,000) 

$58.4 $63.9 $59.4 $56.7 $63.9 $45.9 $48.9 $51.0 $51.7 $52.9 

Growth over 
Prior Year 

- 9.4% -7.0% -4.5% 12.6% -28.2% 6.6% 4.3% 1.4% 2.3% 

Admin. Expense 
as % of 
Revenue 

11.5% 11.6% 13.2% 13.0% 13.7% 15.2% 14.2% 14.1% 13.8% 13.9% 

PMPM Admin. 
Expense 

$21.90 $23.88 $28.53 $30.74 $34.49 $25.26 $30.00 $35.74 $40.95 $47.38 

Growth in 
PMPM 
Admin. Expense 

- 9.0% 19.4% 7.8% 12.2% -26.8% 18.8% 19.1% 14.6% 15.7% 

 
UHNE’s reconciled 2007 claim liability reflected in the 2008 statutory statement showed a margin in the reported 2007 
liability of 19% of the reconciled liability or $6.6 million. That amounts to approximately 5.5% of 2007 surplus and 5.3% 
of 2008 surplus.  

Table 10.  Claim Reserve Reconciliation ($1,000,000 or %) 

  1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Reported Prior 
Yr Reserve 

92.2 16.1 77.3 56.0 46.7 52.2 39.4 44.2 41.3 41.0 

Reconciled 
Reserve 

83.2 15.6 69.8 43.3 39.0 40.3 29.9 39.7 36.6 34.4 

Margin in 
Reserve 

8.9 0.5 7.5 12.7 7.7 11.9 9.5 4.6 4.7 6.6 

Margin as %  
of Rec Reserve 

10.7% 3.3% 10.8% 29.4% 19.7% 29.6% 31.6% 11.5% 12.9% 19.1% 

Margin as %  
of Surplus 

72.1% 1.5% 12.4% 15.3% 7.7% 13.6% 10.4% 5.1% 4.0% 5.3% 

 
At year end 2008, UHNE’s invested assets totaled $176.7 million, 89% was invested in long-term bonds, 8% was 
invested in common stocks, and the balance was invested in cash, including short-term investments. Over the ten year 
period included in the analysis, the portion allocated to long-term bonds has varied from a low of approximately 45% to 
a high of approximately 90%. The company’s investment in cash, including short-term investments, has ranged from 
(5.6%) in 2003 to 32.9% in 1999.  
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Long-term bonds and preferred stocks are generally valued at amortized value. Common stocks are carried at market 
value. At year end 2008 valuing at market those investments that are shown in the statement at amortized cost would 
have decreased capital and surplus by about 1%. 

Table 11.  Invested Assets by Type ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 72.9 105.6 113.4 118.6 84.9 76.4 83.6 87.7 150.0 156.6 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

- 2.2 - - - - - - - - 

Stocks — 
Common 

- - 22.3 35.5 96.3 70.6 67.9 23.4 9.7 13.8 

Mortgage Loans 
— First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage Loans 
— Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Occupied - - - - - - - - - - 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other - - - - - - - - - - 

Cash 35.8 23.9 (4.9) (5.7) (9.6) 2.2 (3.8) 41.7 7.4 6.3 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

- - 0.0 0.0 0.0 - - - - - 

Total Invested 
Assets 

108.7 131.7 130.9 148.4 171.7 149.1 147.7 152.9 167.0 176.7 
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Table 12.  Invested Assets by Type (% of total) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Bonds 67.1% 80.2% 86.6% 79.9% 49.5% 51.2% 56.6% 57.4% 89.8% 88.6% 

Stocks — 
Preferred 

- 1.6% - - - - - - - - 

Stocks — 
Common 

- - 17.1% 23.9% 56.1% 47.3% 46.0% 15.3% 5.8% 7.8% 

Mortgage Loans 
— First 

- - - - - - - - - - 

Mortgage Loans 
— Other 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Occupied - - - - - - - - - - 

RE — For 
Income 

- - - - - - - - - - 

RE — Other - - - - - - - - - - 

Cash 32.9% 18.2% -3.7% -3.8% -5.6% 1.5% -2.6% 27.3% 4.4% 3.6% 

Other Inv. 
Assets 

- - 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% - - - - - 

Total Invested 
Assets 

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 
UHNE has generally reported small amounts in realized and unrealized capital gains and losses over the ten year period 
included in this study.  

Table 13.  Capital Gains ($1,000,000) 

 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 

Realized Cap Gains (0.0) (0.3) 0.2 (0.0) 1.7 0.1 (0.2) (0.1) - (0.3) 

Unrealized Cap Gains* - - - - - - - - - (0.0) 

* Amount charged directly to surplus 

 
UHNE does not report any ASO or ASC business. Any such business is written through its affiliated company, UHIC.  
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